Long-term effects of early-life gut microbiota perturbations on pancreatic islet development

by

Carla Sosa Alvarado

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Nutrition and Metabolism

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

University of Alberta

© Carla Sosa Alvarado, 2021

Abstract

Impaired secretion of insulin from pancreatic β -cells, along with loss of cell mass, is one of the hallmarks of the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes, a metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia. In humans, β -cells' ability to secrete insulin in response to glucose is acquired in the first year of life and is considered as a critical window for β -cell mass expansion and maturation. However, early exposure to environmental and metabolic stressors could impair the acquisition of β -cell functional maturation and increase the susceptibility to develop diabetes. Along with genetic factors, lifestyle and diet, the gut microbiota has been considered as an environmental factor that plays an important role in the etiology of diabetes. Children treated with more than one course of antibiotic during the first 2 years of life have a higher risk of childhood overweight, which is a risk for developing diabetes. Moreover, previous work by our laboratory found that antibiotic-induced gut microbiota perturbations altered pancreatic islet function and morphology in weaning piglets after antibiotic withdrawal, with impaired glucose tolerance later in life.

Therefore, the first aim of this thesis is to examine earlier, neonatal pancreatic islet functional maturation during antibiotic administration in the piglet model with the hypothesis that antibiotic administration will change the composition of the gut microbiota, leading to alterations in microbial metabolites that will be associated with impaired β -cell functional maturation.

We examined the gut microbiota composition and pancreatic islet function and growth from neonatal piglets exposed to antibiotics. Compared with controls (CON), antibiotic-treated (ANTI) postnatal day (PND)7 pigs had elevated transcripts of proteins involved in GLP-1 synthesis or signaling in islets (p<0.05) coinciding with a pattern of higher plasma GLP-1 (p=0.11), which were not detected by PND14. mRNA levels of *Tnf* (p<0.05) a pro-inflammatory cytokine, and *Npg1*

(p<0.05), a cathelicidin, were also transiently increased in pancreas of PND7 ANTI pigs' concomitant with 10-fold higher culturable intestinal coliforms (p<0.05). Antibiotic-induced changes in ileal microbial composition at PND7 included relative increases in genera *Escherichia, Coprococcus, Ruminococcus, Dehalobacterium,* and *Oscillospira,* which were normalized after antibiotic withdrawal. In ANTI islets at PND14, the expression of key regulators *Pdx1, Igf2* and *Tcf7l2* was down-regulated, preceding a 40% reduction of β -cell area (p<0.01) and insulin content/islet at PND49 (p<0.05). At PND49, a 2-fold elevated non-fasted plasma insulin concentration (p=0.07) was observed in ANTI compared with CON.

In conclusion, antibiotic treatment of neonatal piglets elicits gut microbial changes accompanied by phasic alterations in key regulatory genes in pancreatic islets at PND7 and 14. By PND49, reduced beta-cell area and islet insulin content were accompanied by elevated non-fasted insulin despite normoglycemia, indicative of islet stress.

The second aim was to study whether elevated gut *Escherichia coli* in combination with antibiotics contributed to altered glucose tolerance in adulthood. We used C57BL/6 black mice exposed to oral doses of amoxicillin during the first 14 days of life in the absence or presence of *Escherichia coli* in the gut, and then weaned onto a high-fat diet. We observed an increase in body weight in *Escherichia coli* mice at PND14. Combined exposure to *Escherichia coli* and early-life antibiotic treatment caused worsened glucose tolerance at age 7 weeks, consistent with insulin secretion dysfunction and/or insulin resistance.

Together, this work confirms that gut microbiota perturbations elicit long-term effects on β -cell function and glucose homeostasis. Possible mechanistic explanations are likely related to alterations in the temporal programming of transcription factors important for controlling β -cell mass and function.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Carla Sosa Alvarado. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received ethics approval form the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Defined microbial communities", AUP 00000671. I was funded by CONACyT Graduate Students Award for International Studies from Mexico's Government, and Women and Children's Health Research Institute (WCHRI).

A version of Chapter Two has been submitted for publication to American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory, Integrative, Comparative. Author contributions: conception and design of experiments: Catherine J. Field, Benjamin P. Willing and Catherine B. Chan. Performance of the experiments: Carla Sosa Alvarado, Kaiyuan Yang, Hongbo Qiu, Janelle Fouhse, Tingting Ju. Contribution to reagents/analysis tools: Carla Sosa Alvarado, Benjamin P. Willing, Catherine B. Chan, and Jean Buteau.

Chapter Three authors contribution: conception and design of experiments: Catherine B. Chan and Benjamin P. Willing. Performance of the experiments: Carla Sosa Alvarado, Nicole Coursen, Tinting Ju, and Andrew Forgie. Analysis of the data: Carla Sosa Alvarado. Contribution of reagents/materials/analysis tools: Carla Sosa Alvarado, Benjamin P. Willing and Catherine B. Chan.

Acknowledgments

I would sincerely like to express my gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Catherine B. Chan and Dr. Benjamin P. Willing for the opportunity to work in this incredible field of research. Thank to both of you for providing me the opportunity to improve my research skills, knowledge, and experience. I would also like to thank Dr. Jean Buteau for his great insights, valuable advice, and great support during my supervisory committee, for the thoughtful insight into the project, and for giving me the opportunity to develop my skills and experience in teaching. To Dr. Kaiyuan Yang for introducing me to islet isolation and gut microbiota and the opportunity to know her work closely.

I will always be deeply grateful with my lab mates from Willing and Chan's lab. Thanks, in particular to my lab mentors, Tingting, Carolina, Camila, Hannah, Stepheny, and Andrew, for teaching me all about gut microbiota, and statistical analysis, for generous sample collection support, and for your patience during lab experiments. Importantly, thank you for being incredible kind and supportive, for your guidance, encouragement, and most important to give me hope during challenging times. Also, I want to thank Salma, Tausha, Pravina, Natalie, Janelle, Edward, Ben, Rajibur, Deanna, Hui, and Zohre, for your support. To Hongbo Qiu, my first student mentee: thank you for bringing your contagious enthusiasm for science, and your strong ability to solve problems and contribute to the project. I learned a lot from you. I am full of gratitude to Nicole Coursen and Stephany Tollenar for the extensive and great support and patience in my mouse trial.

Last but not the least, I am as always grateful to have the help and love of my friends. To my mom, my sisters, and my nephews, thanks for being my constant source of joy, and love. Thanks for being the core of my courage.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Literature Review	1
1.1. Diabetes mellitus	1
1.1.1. Type of diabetes 2 pathophysiology	1
1.1.2. Causes of type 2 diabetes	2
1.1.3. Monogenic forms of diabetes	3
1.1.4. The role of environmental factors in type 2 diabetes aetiology	3
1.2. Islets of Langerhans	4
1.2.1. Insulin	5
1.2.2. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion	6
1.2.3 Amplifiers of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion	6
1.2.4. Insulin signaling	7
1.3. β-cells mechanism of adaptation during the onset of type 2 diabetes	7
1.3.1. β-cells mass and type 2 diabetes	8
1.3.2. β-cells dysfunction during type 2 diabetes	9
1.4. Neonatal pancreatic β-cells functional maturation and development	11
1.4.1. Role of nutrients in neonatal β-cells	11
1.4.2. Role of transcription factors in neonatal β-cells	12
1.4.3. Role of incretins and growth factors in neonatal β -cells	13
1.5. Islets cytoarchitecture and function across different species	14
1.5.1. Islets cytoarchitecture	14
1.5.2. Islets composition and proliferation	15

1.5.3. Differences in "β-cell maturity markers"				
1.6 Gut microbiota and type 2 diabetes	17			
1.6.1. Gut microbiota composition and microbial products				
1.6.2. Gut microbiota composition in type 2 diabetes				
1.6.3. Endotoxemia during the onset of type 2 diabetes	22			
1.6.4. Antibiotic-induced perturbations in neonate's gut microbiota				
Chapter 2. Transient antibiotic-induced changes in the neonatal swine intestinal	30			
microbiota impact pancreatic islet expression profiles reducing subsequent function				
2.1 Rationale	28			
2.2 Material and Methods	32			
2.2.1. Study design, animal husbandry and procedures	32			
2.2.2. Primary and secondary	33			
2.2.3. Materials	33			
2.2.4. Fecal swabs, blood, and tissue collection	33			
2.2.5. Pancreatic islet isolation and insulin secretion assay	33			
2.2.6. Immunofluorescence studies	34			
2.2.7. Quantitative real-time PCR	35			
2.2.8. Western blot	35			
2.2.9. Serum LPS and hormone assays	36			
2.2.10. SCFA measurement	36			
2.2.11. Ileal DNA extraction and 16S r RNA gene amplicon sequencing	36			
2.2.12. Statistical analysis	37			
2.3. Results	39			

2.3.1. Metabolic phenotype of piglets	39
2.3.2. Immunohistochemical studies of pancreatic islets at PND 7 and 49	41
2.3.3. Pancreatic islets morphology of PND7 and PND49	43
2.3.4. Glucagon-like peptide-1-related genes in PND7 in islets	45
2.3.5 Peptides associated with inflammation in PND7 ANTI piglets	47
2.3.6. Short-chain fatty acids receptors and concentration in PND7 ANTI piglets	49
2.3.7. Neonatal antibiotics transiently alter tight junction protein abundance	50
2.3.8. Ileal microbial composition is transiently altered in ANTI piglets at PND7	51
2.4. Discussion	53
Chapter 3. Early-life antibiotic exposure and <i>Escherichia coli</i> colonization in	58
combination induce negative long-term effects on glucose metabolism	
3.1. Rationale	58
3.2. Material and Methods	61
3.2.1. Ethics Statement	61
3.2.2.1 Animal and Experimental Design	62
3.2.2.2. Commensal <i>E. coli</i> colonization in mice and quantification in fecal samples	62
3.2.2.3. Antibiotic treatment	62
3.2.2.4. Exposure of weaned mice high-fat diet	63
3.2.3. In vivo assays	63
3.2.3.1. Body weight measurement	63
3.2.3.2. Glucose tolerance test	63
3.2.3.3. Insulin tolerance test	64
3.2.3.4. Animal termination and tissue collection	64

3.2.4. Analysis of mouse tissues	64
3.2.4.1. Plasma insulin measurement	64
3.2.4.2. DNA extraction, library preparation and intestinal microbiota composition	64
3.2.4.3. 16S rRNA gene sequencing analysis	65
3.2.5. Statistical analysis	65
3.3. Results	66
3.3.1. Experimental study design	66
3.3.2. Phenotypic characterization of mice with early-life <i>E. coli</i> colonization and antibiotic exposure at neonatal and young adult stage	67
3.3.3. Commensal <i>E. coli</i> in combination with antibiotic induce glucose metabolism changes	68
3.3.4. Effect of early-life antibiotic exposure on <i>E. coli</i> colonization microbiota	71
3.3.5. Effect of <i>E. coli</i> and early-life antibiotic exposure on intestinal microbiota	72
3.4. Discussion	76
Chapter 4. General Discussion	81
4.1. Summary and Conclusions	81
4.1.1. New information about the effects of antibiotics on the interaction between the gut microbiota and host metabolism	82
4.1.2. New information about the effects of early-life antibiotics in combination with E. coli colonization on glucose homeostasis	86
4.2. Limitations and Caveats	89
4.3. Future Perspectives	91
4.3.1. Pancreatic islet epigenetic markers induced by antibiotic exposure at neonatal stage	91

4.3.2. LPS/TLR-4/GLP-1 signaling pathway in neonatal pancreatic islets	92
References	93

List of Figures

1.1. Gut barrier alteration during metabolic endotoxemia	38
2.3.1. Metabolic phenotype of piglets	40
2.3.2. Immunohistochemical studies of pancreatic islets at PND 7 and 49	42
2.3.3. Pancreatic islets morphology of PND7 and PND49	44
2.3.4. Glucagon-like peptide-1-related genes in PND7 in islets	46
2.3.5 Peptides associated with inflammation in PND7 ANTI piglets	48
2.3.6. Short-chain fatty acids receptors and concentration in PND7 ANTI piglets	49
2.3.7. Neonatal antibiotics transiently alter tight junction protein abundance	50
2.3.8. Ileal microbial composition is transiently altered in ANTI piglets at PND7	52
3.3.1. Experimental study design	67
3.3.2. Phenotypic characterization of mice with early-life <i>E. coli</i> colonization and antibiotic exposure at neonatal and young adult stage	68
3.3.3. Commensal <i>E. coli</i> in combination with antibiotic induce glucose metabolism changes	70
3.3.4. Effect of early-life antibiotic exposure on <i>E. coli</i> colonization microbiota	71
3.3.5. Effect of <i>E. coli</i> and early-life antibiotic exposure on intestinal microbiota	73

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Comparison of pancreatic islets function and cytoarchitectures across mouse,		
pig and human	17	
Table 2.1. Primer sequences used in the qPCR for swine mRNA pig	38	

List of Abbreviations

ANTI: Antibiotic

βIGF2KO: Beta-cell specific IGF-2 knockout mice

FFAR: Free fatty acid receptor

GAP: GTPase-activating protein

GCG: Glucagon

GLP-1: Glucagon-like peptide 1

GLP-1R: GLP-1 receptor

GLUT: Glucose transporter

GPCR: G-protein couple receptor

GSIS: Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion

GWAS: Genome-wide association studies

HOMA-IR: Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance

IFP: impaired fasting plasma glucose

IGF-2: Insulin growth factor 2

IGT: impaired glucose tolerance

IL: Interleukin

INS: Insulin gene

IRS: Insulin receptor substrates

ISL-1: Insulin gene enhancer protein

K_{ATP}: ATP-sensitive potassium channels

MAFA: V-maf musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma

MCT-1: Monocarboxylate transport 1

MODY: Maturity-onset diabetes of the young

NEUROD1: Neurogenic differentiation 1

NKX6.1: Homeobox protein Nkx-6.1

NOD: Non-obese diabetic

OGTT: oral glucose tolerance test

PDX-1: Pancreas/duodenum homeobox protein-1

PI3K: Phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase

PIP-2: Phosphatidylinositol (PIP)-2

PKB: Protein kinase B

PND: Postnatal day

PSCK: Prohormone convertase

SCFA: Short-chain fatty acids

SMCT-1: Sodium dependent monocarboxylate transporter-1

SNP: Single nucleotide polymorphisms

TCA: tricarboxylic acid

TCF7L2: Transcription factor 7 like 2

TNF: Tumor necrosis factor

TLR: Toll-like receptors

UCN3: Urocortin

Chapter 1. Literature Review

1.1. Diabetes mellitus

Diabetes is a chronic metabolic disorder characterized by an altered metabolism of nutrients that results in insulin resistance, impaired insulin secretion or a combination of both (DeFronzo et al., 2015). Diabetes is a leading cause of kidney failure, neuropathy, cardiovascular disease, and retinopathy, all of which are major causes of premature death and early disability (Diabetes Federation International, 2019; Zheng et al., 2018) Currently, diabetes affects 415 million adults (type 2 diabetes represents 90% of the cases) and will increase to 642 million by 2045 (Diabetes Federation International 2019). 8.4% of all deaths are attributed to type 2 diabetes-associated complications and impact significantly health-services and resources (Nanayakkara et al., 2021). In Canada, the rates of diabetes are predicted to increase to 12.1% of its population by 2025 (Houlden, R.L, FRCPC, 2018). One in 10 deaths of Canadian adults was attributed to diabetes-related complications in 2008/09, suggesting that diabetes and its complications are a serious chronic condition (Houlden, R.L., FRCPC, 2018).

To mitigate the negative impacts of diabetes, the implementation of lifestyle interventions, medications, and behaviour changes are effective therapeutic strategies to reduce hyperglycemia and delay the onset of diabetes (Taylor & Barnes, 2018). However, the mechanisms underlying the initial stages of diabetes remain incompletely understood. In the past 10 years, studies have recognized that significant changes in pancreatic β -cell function may be the central cause of diabetes, however observations in the interaction of the pancreas with other organs must be considered.

1.1.1. Type 2 diabetes pathophysiology. Type 2 diabetes is characterized by the dysregulation of nutrient metabolism due to an inadequate response by insulin-dependent tissues

to circulating insulin at physiological levels (insulin resistance) and/or a progressive and gradual loss of pancreatic β -cell function (impaired insulin secretion) (Esser et al., 2020; Pearson, 2019; Zhong & Jiang, 2019a). Prediabetes is a period characterized by mild elevation of glucose concentration in the fasting state (5.6 to 6.9 mmol/l) and 2-hours (7.8-11.0 mmol/l) during an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), and or elevated HbA1c (39 to 46 mmol/mol). Clinical biomarkers have been used to diagnose diabetes in a wide spectrum of ages, based on blood glucose criteria, either impaired fasting plasma glucose (IFP) concentration that is greater than 7 mmol/L, and HbA1c (39-46 mmol/mol) and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) according to American Diabetes Association (American Diabetes Association, 2020).

1.1.2. Causes of type 2 diabetes. However, type 2 diabetes etiology is multifactorial as it depends on genetic and environmental component interactions. Type 2 diabetes risk attributed to genetic inheritance is about 30%-70% (Adams & Vella, 2018; Merino et al., 2017) with a higher rate in identical twins (60-90%) in contrast to non-identical twins and siblings (Kleinberger et al., 2018). The first genetic studies in type 2 diabetes were performed using candidate genes and linkage analysis that confirmed the association of genetic markers with type 2 diabetes susceptibility (Barroso et al., 2003) in various populations, however, the replication and consistency of the results were limited (Witka et al., 2019). After human genome was sequenced, the genome-wide association studies (GWAS) were developed, and a large number of gene variants, also called single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), associated with type 2 diabetes were identified in case-control populations from different regions and ethnic groups (Hu et al., 2020; Merino et al., 2017; Szabo et al., 2018).

To explore the physiological relevance of genetic variants, GWAS analysis was correlated with metabolic traits manifested in type 2 diabetes. The results of multiple studies revealed that most of the genetic variants were associated with abnormal function of transcription factors. These transcription factors are more involved in β -cell function than insulin action (Nayak et al., 2021; Salunkhe et al., 2018). In the last decade, more than 144 genetic variants have been discovered, however, they confer small (~10%) but significant effect of diabetes heritability, implying that other factors contribute to the nature of diabetes (Doliba, 2018; Szabo et al., 2018; Xue et al., 2018).

1.1.3. Monogenic forms of diabetes. The functional relevance of these genetic variants can be observed in the main two monogenic forms of diabetes: neonatal diabetes and maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY) (Ganesh et al., 2017; Greeley et al., 2011). Both types of monogenic diabetes account for 1-5% of individuals with diabetes and are characterized by early-onset of diabetes (>6 mo for neonatal diabetes and before the age of 40 years for MODY) (Ganesh et al., 2017; Kleinberger et al., 2018; Weinreich et al., 2015). In contrast to type 2 diabetes, monogenic diabetes arises from a mutation in an heterogenous group of genes that leads to a severe disruption of the β -cell function and development (Jennings et al., 2020; Kleinberger et al., 2018). For instance, mutations of pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (*PDX-1*) (MODY4) and neurogenic differentiation-1 (*NEUROD1*) (MODY6) are described in MODY (Hattersley & Patel, 2017). Both Pdx-1 and NeuroD1 are essential transcription factors for the development of the pancreas at early stages, differentiation of endocrine-cell lines from pancreatic precursor cells, and insulin gene expression (McKinnon & Docherty, 2001; Fujimoto & Polonsky, 2010; Rickels et al., 2020).

1.1.4. The role of environmental factors in type 2 diabetes etiology. Besides genetic factors, environmental factors play an important role in the etiology of type 2 diabetes (Lascar et al., 2018). A diet with high-calorie content and sedentary lifestyles are overwhelmingly associated

with obesity and insulin resistance (Esser et al., 2020). Obesity is defined as the excess body fat weight with a body-mass index greater than 30 Kg/m2 and is commonly known as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes (Diabetes Federation International 2019). During the emergence of obesity, fat accumulation in liver, pancreas, and skeletal muscle impairs glucose uptake leading to the appearance of insulin resistance (Eckel et al., 2011; White et al., 2016). The abnormal lipid metabolism seen in obesity leads to an elevated production and release of free fatty acids in circulation that, in combination with hyperglycemia, trigger inflammatory signaling in β -cells (Ortega-Camarillo, 2019). For instance, the accumulation of saturated fatty acids, such as Palmitate, induces the production of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which are proinflammatory cytokines that downregulate key β -cell genes involved in insulin synthesis and identity (Nordmann et al., 2017). Elevated circulatory free fatty acids together with hyperglycemia exacerbate the loss of β -cell function by inducing endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondria dysfunction, important intracellular organelles for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) (Eckel et al., 2011; Prentki et al., 2020).

1.2. Islets of Langerhans. The islets of Langerhans are specialized endocrine cells that play an important role in glucose homeostasis (Cohrs et al., 2020; Weir & Bonner-Weir, 2013). In healthy adults, the islets of Langerhans constitute between 1-2% of the total volume of the pancreas and contain (Paniccia & Schulick, 2016) the major hormone-producing endocrine cells, which are β , α , δ , ε and PP cells that are responsible for the production of insulin, glucagon, somatostatin, ghrelin and pancreatic polypeptide (Ruchelli & Bhatti, 2019). In humans, pancreatic β -cells (30%), δ -cells (10%) and pancreatic polypeptide and ghrelin producing cells (1%) (DeFronzo et

al., 2015). Pancreatic β -cells are major regulators in the maintenance of proper glucose concentration after a meal and during fasting state by their ability to produce insulin.

1.2.1. Insulin. Insulin is an anabolic hormone that stimulates metabolic fuels storage and maintains glucose homeostasis (Campbell & Newgard, 2021). The biosynthesis of human insulin begins with the transcription of preproinsulin mRNA from the insulin gene (*INS*) in humans, or *INS1* and *INS2* genes in mice (Tokarz et al., 2018). Preproinsulin is translocated to the endoplasmic reticulum where its signal sequence is cleaved by signal peptidase to generate proinsulin. Proinsulin consists of a single chain of 86 amino acids and three disulfide bonds that stabilize the folded conformation (Ilie, 2020). The transit of proinsulin to the Golgi network is followed by prohormone convertase 1 and 2-mediated cleavage of the central fragment of the proinsulin (C-peptide). The removal of C-peptide leads to the formation of mature insulin, which is constituted by two insulin peptides (chain A and B) linked by two disulfide bonds (Zhou et al., 2013). The newly formed mature insulin is stored as a hexamer in secretory vesicles inside the β -cells. In response to stimuli, insulin hexamer is secreted and dissociates in the blood stream as monomers, which binds to insulin receptors present in different tissues and initiates insulin-associated physiological effects (Haeusler et al., 2018; Tokarz et al., 2018).

In response to a prolonged glucose exposure, β -cells sustain insulin secretion in two phases. The first phase is the rapid response stimulated by glucose and consists of the release of insulin vesicles pre-docked at the cell membrane. The second phase is stimulated by nutrients, hormones, and incretins, and induces the mobilization of insulin-containing granules from the intracellular pool to the cell membrane (Tokarz et al., 2018). The mechanisms characterized in each insulin secretion phase will be explained in the following paragraph.

5

1.2.2. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Glucose is the main metabolic signal that stimulates insulin secretion. Changes in glucose concentration in blood are tightly linked to β -cell glucose metabolism and insulin output (Campbell & Newgard, 2021). Glucose enters the intracellular space of the β -cells through glucose transports GLUT1 (humans) or GLUT 2 (mouse) that is expressed in the cell membrane. Intracellular glucose is phosphorylated by glucokinase, also known as hexokinase IV, to produce glucose-6-phosphate (Boucher et al., 2014). The low affinity of glucokinase for glucose ensures intracellular glucose concentration matches the extracellular concentration (Campbell & Newgard 2021). Glucose-6-phosphate enters glycolysis to produce pyruvate, which is incorporated in the mitochondrial tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle in the mitochondria. The metabolism of glucose in the mitochondria leads to a chain of events: an increase in the ATP/ADP ratio that promotes the closure of ATP-sensitive potassium channels (K_{ATP}) that leads to cell membrane depolarization. Voltage-gated L-type and calcium (Ca²⁺¹) channels open in response to the cell membrane depolarization and the increase in intracellular calcium concentration that triggers insulin exocytosis (Campbell & Newgard, 2021)

1.2.3. Amplifiers of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Metabolites in blood circulation have an additional effect on glucose-stimulated insulin secretion which is independent of K_{ATP} channels (Rutter et al., 2020). It is estimated that K_{ATP} channel-independent/ amplifying pathway contributes between 60-70% of the total insulin secreted in response to glucose (Campbell & Newgard 2021). In addition to glucose, other dietary nutrients such as free fatty acids, bile acids and amino acids induce the secretion of incretins, such as glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) (Müller et al., 2019). GLP-1 increases insulin secretion in a glucose-dependent manner and suppresses glucagon release from the pancreatic α -cells, assisting with the balance of the anabolic effects of insulin (Stephen & Ramracheya, 2018). Circulating GLP-1 accounts for about 40% of insulin

secretion despite its short half-life (1-2 minutes), which is due to rapid degradation by dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP-4) (Müller et al., 2019).

1.2.4. Insulin signaling. Insulin performs its metabolic effects on tissues such as skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and liver through the activation of insulin receptors. The insulin signaling pathway activates a cascade of multiple proteins via phosphorylation.

The circulating insulin binds to its cell membrane receptor, a tetrameric protein from the family of tyrosine kinase receptors. The insulin receptor consists of two extracellular α subunits, which is the ligand-binding site, and two transmembrane β -subunits which contain tyrosine kinase domains (Petersen & Shulman 2018). Insulin binds to the α -subunits of the insulin receptor and induces a conformational change that activates the tyrosine kinase activity of β subunits. The kinase activity of the insulin receptor auto-phosphorylates tyrosine residues in the β subunits. The phosphorylated tyrosine residues are binding sites for the insulin receptor substrates (IRS), a family of scaffold proteins (Boucher et al., 2014). Once IRS is activated by phosphorylation, IRS proteins that bind to src-homology-2 domain proteins (SH2), such as the enzyme phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), or other proteins without enzymatic activity like adaptor protein Grb2. PI3K promotes the activation of the protein kinase B (PKB or AKT), which then phosphorylates GTPase-activating protein (GAP) AKT substrate of 160 kDa (AS160), that is bound to GLUT-4 vesicles. The role of AS160 is the translocation of GLUT-4 from the intracellular vesicles to the cell for glucose uptake (Petersen & Shulman, 2018; Tokarz et al., 2018).

1.3. β -cell mechanisms of adaptation during the onset of type 2 diabetes.

The proper activation of β -cell mechanisms allows the preservation of glucose homeostasis that can be sustained for decades and delay diabetes appearance (Cohrs et al., 2020; Eckel et al.,

2011; Prentki et al., 2020). During obesity, hyperinsulinemia is a β -cell adaptation response to nutrient-induced metabolic stress and positive energy balance (Esser et al., 2020; Ottosson-Laakso et al., 2017; Prentki et al., 2020; Weir, 2020). This long-term adaptive response requires changes in genes implicated in β -cell mass expansion, β -cell function and identity.

1.3.1. β -cell mass and type 2 diabetes. During the transition from the neonatal period to adulthood, β -cell proliferation is suppressed as the β -cells mature (Qiu et al., 2017). However, histological studies in the human pancreas identified that β -cell mass was increased approximately 20%-50% in subjects with obesity (Inaishi et al., 2016) while in subjects with type 2 diabetes, β -cell mass was significantly reduced (24% to 65%) (Cohrs et al., 2020).

In the last decade, it has been considered that β -cell mass expansion is an adaptation response to increased insulin secretion and overcome the metabolic demands induced by insulin resistance and hyperglycemia (Mosser et al., 2015; Weir et al., 2020; Wortham & Sander, 2016).

In obesity and prediabetes, chronic hyperglycemia and elevated free fatty acids trigger β cell mass expansion, suggesting that environments rich in nutrients and stressors can induce β -cell proliferation later in life (Chen et al., 2017; Weir et al., 2020). While in type 2 diabetes, β -cell mass declines due to an enhanced rate of apoptosis but also due to a dedifferentiation process. Single-cell RNA sequencing analysis performed in islets of type 2 diabetic donors identified the upregulation of genes sets frequently expressed in toddlers or juvenile islets, suggesting that type 2 diabetes undergo a degree of dematuration (Arda et al., 2016; Avrahami et al., 2020). It remains unclear whether the loss of β -cell mass or β -cell identity contributes more to insulin deficiency during the first stages of type 2 diabetes pathophysiology (Cohrs et al., 2020; Taylor et al., 2019; Weir et al., 2020). **1.3.2.** β -cell dysfunction during type 2 diabetes. Metabolic stress downregulates the expression of β -cell key transcription factors involved in β -cell differentiation and functional maturation (Marselli et al., 2020).

Pdx1 is one of the main transcription factors that is expressed in islet development during the fetal stage, and later is selectively expressed in adult mature β -cells (Rickels et al., 2020; Scharfmann, 2007). Heterozygous individuals that carry point mutations in the *PDX1* transactivation domain have an impaired GSIS. The contribution of *PDX1* mutations to β -cell dysfunction was found to be due to a low expression of downstream targets of Pdx1: *INS, MAFA, UCN3, ISL-1, and NKX6.1*, which are required for β -cell functional maturation (Wang et al., 2019). Taken together, these findings suggest that *PDX1* loss leads to impaired β -cell maturation and consequently increases the predisposition to diabetes (Rickels et al., 2020). After *PDX1* deletion in islets from adult mice, the expression of key regulators of glucose metabolism, *GLUT2, GCK* and *INS-I* and *INS-II* were depleted, while the expression of α -cell markers, *MAFB* and *GCG*, were increased. The long-term effect of *PDX1* loss led to constant hyperglycemia and diabetes development. Altogether, these experiments suggest that *PDX1* plays a significant role in the activation of genes sets related to β -cell function, and the loss of *PDX1* contribute to diabetes onset (Ahlgren et al., 1998; Gao et al., 2014).

Studies in population cohorts reported that *TCF7L2* variants were frequently identified in type 2 diabetes subjects, suggesting that *TCF7L2* loss confers risk for type 2 diabetes (Adams & Vella, 2018). The *TCF7L2* gene encodes for the transcription factor like-7 2 (*TCF7L2*), a transcription factor that regulates cell growth through the signaling Wnt pathway (Mitchell et al., 2015). *TCF7L2* upregulates proglucagon and GLP-1 receptor transcription, in both human and rodent islets (Adams & Vella 2018). Individuals with type 2 diabetes or those who carry *TCF7L2*

SNPs have impaired insulin secretion induced by GLP-1 (Pilgaard et al., 2009; Schäfer et al., 2007; Shu et al., 2009) and islets from type 2 diabetic donors have significantly reduced TCF7L2 protein level (about 50% low) and a blunted response to GLP-1-induced insulin secretion due to a downregulation of GLP-1 receptor (da Silva Xavier et al., 2017; Lyssenko et al., 2007; Shu et al., 2009). The use of rodent models has contributed to understanding the mechanisms underlying impaired GLP-1-mediated insulin secretion cause by TCF7L2 SNPs. Rodent models of type 2 diabetes (diet-induced obesity (DIO), leptin receptor deficient db/db mice, and Zucker rat) had a reduced expression of TCF7L2 (Shu et al., 2009). Moreover, isolated islets from TCF7L2-null mice had impaired insulin secretion in response to high glucose concentration and GLP-1, impaired β -cell proliferation, and downregulation of *INS* and *MAFA* genes (Takamoto et al., 2014). Since most of the studies focused on understanding the unique role of TCF7L2 gene expression and function, it is not known whether other tissues that express TCF7L2 gene trigger compensatory mechanisms that regulate the TCF7L2 gene expression and/or protein content to mitigate glucose intolerance and delay the appearance of diabetes. However, metabolic stressors, such as high-fat diet, can enhance the negative effects of TCF7L2 variant on β -cell function, highlighting the important contribution of environmental factors to gene variants effect (da Silva Xavier et al. 2017; Shu et al. 2009).

Besides the effect of incretin on β -cells, IGF-2 is considered as a key regulator of β -cell mass expansion in response to metabolic stress (Zhong & Jiang, 2019a). IGF-2 knockout mice (β IGF2KO) under high-fat diet displayed lower insulin secretion and reduced β -cell mass suggesting that abnormal function of IGF-2 can increase the risk of β -cell dysfunction, which may progress to diabetes (Modi et al., 2015).

 β -cells' mechanisms of adaptation to insulin resistance can be sustained for decades as it is observed that only 1/3 of the subjects with obesity progress to type 2 diabetes (Doliba, 2018; Gregg et al., 2012; Wortham & Sander, 2016)

Dietary interventions with calorie restriction showed that only 40% of the participants with type 2 diabetes recovered β -cell function as evidenced by sustained normoglycemia (Steven et al., 2016) suggesting that in addition to genetic and/or environmental factors, some individuals have a higher susceptibility to type 2 diabetes due to inadequate β -cell compensation upon nutrient-metabolic demands later in life (Swisa et al., 2017; Wortham & Sander, 2016).

1.4. Neonatal pancreatic β-cells functional maturation and development

Researchers in islet development have focused on understanding the steps and mechanisms that give rise to a fully functional mature β -cell, and potentially explain the causality of β -cell dysfunction and mass loss during different stages of diabetes pathophysiology (Ackermann & Gannon, 2007; Aguayo-Mazzucato et al., 2011; Avrahami et al., 2020). Also, perturbations during early life contribute to impaired β -cell growth and functional maturation acquisition that increase the susceptibility to diabetes at later life (Tixi-Verdugo et al., 2018). The steps of pancreatic β -cells development are described in the next paragraph.

1.4.1. Role of nutrients in neonatal β -cell. The development and differentiation of specialized endocrine cells initiates at the fetal stage, but β -cells become functionally mature during the first year of life in humans (Bonner-Weir et al., 2016; Martens et al., 2013; Stolovich-Rain et al., 2015). During the transition from birth to weaning, β -cells gradually become sensitive to fluctuations of glucose and secrete the proper amount of insulin to maintain glucose homeostasis, acquiring adult-like mature β -cells. Immature β -cells display a high insulin secretion in response to basal (2.7-5 mM) and small fold-increase in high (>10 mM) glucose concentration

exposure, which is adjusted to an adult-like response in an age-dependent manner (Aguayo-Mazzucato et al., 2006; Arda et al., 2016; Blum et al., 2012; Gregg et al., 2012; Helman et al., 2020; Qiu et al., 2017).

In addition to age effects, the nutrient environment is a key factor that contributes to the onset of β -cell glucose responsiveness and insulin secretion dynamics (Helman et al., 2020; Henquin & Nenquin, 2016; Qiu et al., 2017; Zeng et al., 2017). Newborn islets secrete insulin in response to glucose and amino acids, while in fetal islets insulin secretion is stimulated by amino acids, not glucose (Helman et al., 2020; Henquin & Nenquin, 2016; Zeng et al., 2017). This observation highlights that a shift in the nutrient environment promotes β -cell sensitivity to glucose concentrations which is a critical signature of mature β -cells.

The switch from fat-rich maternal milk to a diet rich in carbohydrates occurs at weaning and triggers β -cell mechanisms of adaptation and pathways that accelerate functional maturation (Jaafar et al., 2019; Stolovich-Rain et al., 2015). Mice that were under a prolonged suckling period had blunted β -cell replication in response to high glucose, high insulin response to basal glucose concentration, and downregulation of *INS1*, *INS2* and *MAFA* genes that are related to β -cell maturation (Jaafar et al. 2019; Stolovich-Rain et al. 2015). These findings suggest that weaning is a critical step for enhancing β -cell glucose-response that is sustained in adulthood.

1.4.2. Role of transcription factors in neonatal β -cells. Islet development and growth is highly regulated by a hierarchy of transcription factors identified in fetal and/or neonatal stages. The expression of transcription factors occurs in a unique pattern and time that is conserved across species. The transcription factors FoxA 1 and 2, Pdx-1, Neurogenin3, NeuroD1, Nkx2.2, Nkx6.1, Hnf4a and Pax4 are involved in β -cell differentiation (Conrad et al., 2014; Jennings et al., 2020; Tritschler et al., 2017).

MAFA is considered as a transcription factor that is expressed specifically in mature neonatal β -cells in different species (Aguayo-Mazzucato et al., 2011; Arda et al., 2016; Avrahami et al., 2020; Qiu et al., 2017; Tritschler et al., 2017; Zeng et al., 2017). *MAFA* is one of the major regulators of insulin gene expression and the glucose transporter GLUT2 (Jennings et al., 2020; Aguayo-Mazzucato et al., 2011). The low expression of *MAFA* has been identified in islets of embryonic humans and type 2 diabetes subjects, suggesting that *MAFA* expression is crucial for the maintenance of differentiated and functional β -cells (Peddinti et al., 2017; Rutter et al., 2020). The expression of *MAFB* is gradually lost in mature β -cells and is negatively correlated with *UCN3* expression, which is a marker identified only in mature β -cells (Avrahami et al., 2020; Qiu et al. 2017; Tritschler et al. 2017; Blum et al. 2012).

1.4.3. Role of incretins and growth factors in neonatal β -cells. The effects of GLP-1 on neonatal β -cell functional maturation and proliferation have been extensively studied with the aim to identify the mechanisms that ameliorate or prevent the development of diabetes. GLP-1 receptor, GLP-1 bioactive form and prohormone convertase have been detected in neonatal islets of human, pigs, and mice (Kim et al. 2020; Arda et al. 2016). Pcsk1/3 colocalize with GLP-1 bioactive form in α -cells of neonatal mice, suggesting that α -cells regulate β -cell proliferation at early age through the production of GLP-1 (Kilimnik et al., 2011).

Mouse or rat models of type 2 diabetes treated with GLP-1 or exendin-4 via intraperitoneal injections after birth showed an improvement in insulin secretion and β -cell mass, suggesting a protective effect of GLP-1 in β -cell function at early stages, even before the onset of diabetes (Tourrel et al., 2001; Portha et al., 2011). Furthermore, in seven-day-old neonatal Wistar rats treated with streptozotocin, GLP-1 exhibited protective effects on β -cell function and β -cell mass expansion (about approximately 50%-70%) due to β -cell hyperplasia. After two months, the

effects of GLP-1 and exendin-4 treatment persisted as low blood glucose concentration values were similar to the control group (Tourrel et al. 2001). Using the same approach as the previous study, the authors treated neonatal Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rat (obese, spontaneous-genetic diabetes model) with GLP-1 and exendin-4. At postnatal day 7, GK rats treated with either GLP-1 or its agonist had β -cell mass expansion due to an increase proliferation and neogenesis. Lastly, twomonth-old GK rats-maintained glucose tolerance and improved β -cell mass in comparison to untreated GK mice (Tourrel et al. 2001).

1.5. Islet cytoarchitecture and function across different species.

Despite extensive research in islet morphology and β -cell function, additional studies are required to understand islet development during early life and the mechanisms that dictate β -cell maturation. Differences in the pattern expression of transcription factors among species exist, yet transgenic mouse models have provided numerous insights into the molecular mechanisms that regulate pancreas development (Jennings et al., 2020). Moreover, rodent models allow an easy accessibility to pancreas tissue at any age and offer approaches to study the effect deleted genes at early life.

The use of pig models has been included in islet development experiments due to similarities to humans in islet physiology and development, especially during the neonatal period (Renner et al., 2020). The following paragraphs will compare neonatal islet development, with specific focus on cytoarchitecture and function among humans, rodent and pigs.

1.5.1. Islet cytoarchitecture. Studies in human islets suggest that development of adultlike islet architecture begins after birth and is fully acquired at 2 years of age (Bakhti et al., 2019; Skelin Klemen et al., 2017). During the transition of early to late infancy, human β -cells can be detected in scattered single cells or organized in small clusters (Gregg et al., 2012). Human pancreatic β -cells are centered in the core of the islet surrounded by α -cells and δ -cells, whereas newborn mice islets are organized in a cord-like structure with β -cells located in the center and α cells in the periphery (Steiner et al., 2011). However, by the third postnatal month, human insulinpositive cells are mixed with other pancreatic endocrine cells, adapting an architecture that is more similar to the adult islet (Henquin & Nenquin, 2016; Stefan et al., 1983).

Similar to humans, the architecture of porcine islets is round or oval with insulin-positive cells arranged in small groups or scattered across the pancreatic islet. Porcine glucagon-positive cells are localized within the cores and peripheries of islet clusters (Nagaya et al., 2019; Steiner et al., 2011).

1.5.2. Islet composition and proliferation. Several studies reported that in the first year of life, the β -cell mass changes due to high proliferation that declines in adulthood (Gregg et al., 2012; Henquin & Nenquin, 2016; Nagaya et al., 2019; Skelin Klemen et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2018). During the period after birth and the first 2 years, human pancreatic β -cells proliferation first increases and then gradually decreases until after the age of 3-5 years (Moin & Butler, 2019).

However, in postnatal rodents, a "second wave" of β -cell proliferation has been described in mice before weaning (Bonner-Weir et al., 2016) while in humans and pigs, this "second wave" has not been observed (Bakhti et al., 2019). An increase in β -cell mass that is characterized only in rodents, might be influenced by the context of the species studied. Rodent islets are primarily constituted by β -cells (approximately 80%) and low number of α -cells (<10 %) (Nair & Hebrok, 2015). While in human pancreatic islets are composed predominately of β -cells (approximately 60%), α -cells (approximately 30%) and the remaining 10% consist of somatostatin, PP and ghrelin producing-cells (Moin & Butler, 2019). In neonatal pigs, islets are constituted mainly by β -cells, and the number of α -cells are similar to δ -cells (Kim et al., 2020). **1.5.3.** Differences in " β -cell maturity markers". In the neonatal period, β -cell maturation is controlled by the activity of specific transcription factors that are referred as " β -cell maturity markers". Recently, *MAFA* and *MAFB* have been extensively used as such markers because they are under the regulation of *PDX1*; and *MAFA* and *MAFB* are expressed differently among species and vary in an age-dependent manner. *MAFA* and *MAFB* are identified in juvenile α - or β -cells and play a significant role in insulin synthesis, secretion and glucose sensing (Arda et al. 2016; Qiu et al. 2017; Aguayo-Mazzucato et al. 2006). *MAFA* expression is found exclusively enriched in β -cells and increases in an age-dependent manner in humans, pigs and mice (Arda et al. 2016; Jennings et al., 2020; Qiu et al. 2017; Blum et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2020). In human islets, *MAFB* is highly expressed during the fetal period and remains expressed in adult α - and β -cells (Arda et al. 2016), comparable to pigs (Kim et al., 2020). While in newborn rodents, *MAFB* expression decreases gradually and remains undetected in adults (Blum et al., 2012; Cyphert et al., 2019).

Thus, comparative studies regarding islet development have revealed distinct mechanisms of islet cytoarchitecture arrangement and endocrine cell maturation. Validation of techniques used to identify changes in the expression level of key markers related to β -cells should consider the physiology of the animal model used.

α- δ-	β-cell cell ε-cell			
Species	Mouse	Pig	Human	References
		Pancreatic islets characteristi	cs	
Endocrine cells proportion	Primarily constituted by β -cells (65-80%), and low number of α -cells (10-20%) Low number of δ -cells (~5%) and ϵ -cells (<1%)	Predominately constituted by β -cells and the number of α -cells is similar to δ - and ϵ -cells.	Predominately constituted by β - cells /50-60%) and α -cells (30- 50%). Low number of δ -(~5%) and ϵ -cells (<1%).	Campbell & Newgard, 2021; Nair & Hebrok, 2015; Moin & Butle, 2019; Kim et al., 2020.
Endocrine cells distribution	α -cells: outer mantle β -cells: inner core	 α-cells: within the cores and outer membrane. β-cells: inner core 	α-cells: within the core and outer membrane β-cells: inner core	Bakhti et al., 2019; Steiner et al., 2011; Henquin & Nenquin, 2016; Nagaya et al., 2019
		Neonatal pancreatic islets		
Proliferation	High –rate of proliferation before weaning "second wave of proliferation"	During the first week after birth	During the first week after birth	Bonner-Weir et al., 2016; Bakhti et al., 2019.
Islets architecture	Islets are organized in a cord-like structure	Scattered single cells or small groups.	Scattered single cells or small clusters, and large islets	Gregg et al. 2012.
Differences in β-cell maturity markers				
Transcription factors	MAFA is enriched in β-cells, MAFB is absent	MAFA is enriched in β -cells, MAFB is enriched in α -cells	MAFA is enriched in β-cells, MAFB is enriched in α-cells	Blum et al., 2012; Cyphert et al., 2019; Arda et al., 2016; Qiu et al., 2017; Aguayo- Mazzucato et al., 2006.

Table 1.1 Comparison of pancreatic islets function and cytoarchitectures across mouse, pig and human.

1.6. Gut microbiota and type 2 diabetes.

1.6.1. Gut microbiota composition and microbial products. The gut harbors trillions of microbes composed of approximately 200 prevalent bacterial species and up to 1000 unknown or less-common species, that have evolved with the host (Greiner & Bäckhed, 2016). Gut bacteria reside in the colon with an estimated concentration of 10¹¹ bacteria per gram of digesta. The bacterial density is much lower in the small intestine, reaching a maximal community of approximately 10⁸ in the ileum; possibly due to higher levels of oxygen, antimicrobial peptides and bile acids (Davenport et al., 2017; Donaldson et al., 2015; Sender et al., 2016). This community of microbes carries a wide number of genes that far surpasses the functional capacity of the human

genome and offers substantial benefits and functions that humans lack without these microbes (Gilbert et al., 2018; Greiner & Bäckhed, 2016).

The gut microbiota generates bioactive nutrients that act as signaling molecules which modulate gene expression in the host, resulting in paracrine and autocrine effects (Priyadarshini et al., 2016). For instance, short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) are bioactive metabolites important for health maintenance. SCFA have a plethora of biological functions in the gastrointestinal tract including the conservation of gut integrity, nutrient absorption, mucus production and the control of inflammation. SCFA also improve energy homeostasis by stimulating insulin secretion, increasing satiety, regulating liver mitochondrial function, and activating brown adipose tissue (He et al., 2020). SCFA are aliphatic compounds that are linear-saturated chains of two to six atoms of carbon. Acetate (C2), propionate (C3), and butyrate (C4) are the major SCFA and are produced largely through the anaerobic fermentation of non-digestible fiber in the cecum and proximal colon; and are found in the large intestine at an approximate molar ratio of 60:20:20 for acetate:propionate:butyrate (Gérard & Vidal, 2019; Venegas et al., 2019). Butyrate is mainly produced by anaerobic gram-positive bacteria like Roseburia spp, Ruminococcaceae, Clostridium leptum, and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii which belong to the Firmicutes phylum. Acetate is produced by Bifidobacteria, Akkermansia muciniphila, Bacteroides, and Prevotella, while propionate can be generated by species belonging to *Bacteroides* and *Roseburia* genera (Feng et al., 2018; Koh et al., 2016).

Butyrate is the main source of energy for colonocytes and is detected at lower concentrations in the gut lumen (20 mM) and blood circulation (1-10 μ M). SCFA are absorbed via sodium dependent monocarboxylate transporter-1 (SMCT-1), and monocarboxylate transport 1 (MCT-1) via active transport. The SCFA not metabolized by enterocytes are delivered to the liver

via the hepatic portal venous system (Dalile et al., 2019; He et al., 2020). Most of the propionate is metabolized in the liver, whereas acetate is found in blood circulation at high concentrations up to 150 μ M, compared to propionate and butyrate blood concentrations (1-10 μ M) (Feng et al., 2018; Gérard & Vidal, 2019).

Acetate, propionate, and butyrate are natural agonists of G-protein couple receptor (GPCR)-43 and GPCR41, also known as free fatty acid receptor (FFAR)-2, and FFAR3 which are expressed in the intestine, pancreas, liver, sympathetic nervous system, adipose and immune tissue, suggesting that SCFA are an important mediator of the crosstalk between gut microbiota and peripherical organs (Gérard & Vidal, 2019; Tolhurst et al., 2012).

SCFA signaling pathways participate in a large number of metabolic functions. Activation of SCFA receptors leads to the production of proglucagon-derive peptides, GLP-1 and GLP-2, which are implicated in glucose and lipid metabolism, insulin secretion, oxidative stress and inflammation (Dalile et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2018). GLP-1 secretion from the pancreas is predominantly known as a modulator of glucose metabolism and its relevant functions have been described earlier in the chapter. GLP-2 is secreted from enteroendocrine L-cells located in the small intestine and colon to promotes nutrient absorption by maintaining gut barrier integrity and morphology (Dalile et al., 2019; Hunt et al., 2021; Tolhurst et al., 2012) . Signaling pathways activated by SCFA, particularly butyrate, influence intestinal epithelial barrier integrity by inducing colonocyte differentiation and proliferation, cell migration and cell membrane assembly, and by stimulating tight-junction proteins, (claudin-1, occludin, and Zonula Occludens-1) gene expression (Feng et al., 2018; Venegas et al., 2019).

The intestinal barrier is a physical barrier constituted by epithelial cells connected through intracellular junctions, elements of the paracellular barrier, that has an important role in nutrient absorption, secretion of hormones, and protection against pathogen translocation (Buckley & Turner, 2018). The intestinal epithelial cells regulate commensal bacteria tolerance and immunity to pathogens by producing antimicrobial peptides that kill bacteria by inducing permeabilization of the cell, and by inhibiting the activation of Toll-like receptors (TLR)-2 and TLR-4 (Coorens et al., 2017). Moreover, goblet cells secrete mucus to form the mucus layer which is a physical-chemical barrier that contains glycoproteins, like antimicrobial peptides that protect the intestinal epithelial cells from pathogens and toxins (Bahar & Ren, 2013; Mukherjee et al., 2008)

SCFA have been found to promote antimicrobial peptide expression in the lungs, pancreatic islets, and gastrointestinal tissue (Sun & Shang, 2015). In non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, a model for type 1 diabetes, butyrate has been shown to promote β -cell survival and function by inducing cathelicidins production in the pancreas (Sun et al., 2015).

1.6.2. Gut microbiota composition in type 2 diabetes. While the bacterial community provides many benefits, imbalances of the gut microbiota, also known as dysbiosis, is frequently observed in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Reduced alpha diversity within an individual (represented by richness and evenness of the community) has been associated with the onset of diabetes while the severity of insulin resistance, adiposity, and inflammation is increasing (Chávez-Carbajal et al., 2020; Ghorbani et al., 2021; Ley et al., 2005; Turnbaugh et al., 2006; Zhu & Goodarzi, 2020).

Large-scale projects in populations with different ethnic backgrounds have correlated gut microbiome composition and functionality with traditional clinical biomarkers of type 2 diabetes (Karlsson et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013).

The relative abundance of the two main bacterial phyla, Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, have been associated with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, although it has been inconsistent between studies. In some studies, the abundance of Bacteroidetes was increased in gut microbiota of individuals with type 2 diabetes (Chávez-Carbajal et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021) while others have found Firmicutes as the dominant phyla (Ahmad et al., 2019; Gaike et al., 2020). Another study found that Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio was significantly higher in patients with type 2 diabetes compared to healthy controls (Karlsson et al., 2013; Larsen et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012), while another found that this ratio did not differ (Zhang et al., 2013b). The lack of consistency between studies may suggest that the relative abundance shifts at the phylum level is not a determining factor in this disease.

Two large metagenome-wide association studies in Chinese and European population, identified common unique signatures in the gut microbiota of subjects with type 2 diabetes. Different studies have observed low abundances of *Roseburia intestinalis* and *F. prausnitzii* compared to healthy subjects and individuals with prediabetes all (Allin et al., 2015; Karlsson et al., 2013; Pinna et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013b). *Roseburia* and *F. prausnitzii* are known as butyrate-producing bacteria, and their low abundance correlates with increased inflammatory markers and insulin resistance, suggesting that both bacteria have an anti-inflammatory role that contributes to maintaining insulin sensitivity which may help prevent the onset of diabetes (Greiner & Bäckhed, 2011; Sircana et al., 2018; Zhu & Goodarzi, 2020).

Individuals with prediabetes have been found to have an elevated abundance of *Shigella*, *Clostridium*, *Prevotella* and *Lactobacillus* (Karlsson et al., 2013; Pinna et al., 2021; Sato et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2012). Also, different authors reported that *Escherichia* is enriched in both subjects with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes (Gaike et al., 2020; Sato et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2012). Notably, *Escherichia* and *Prevotella* were positively correlated with HOMA-IR in Danish populations with type 2 diabetes (Pedersen et al., 2016). However, Japanese participants with

diabetes had a low abundance of *Prevotella* and did not correlate with clinical parameters (Sato et al., 2014). Elevated abundances of *Prevotella* have related to diabetes incidence due to its role in the production of branch chain amino acids. Furthermore, the increased abundance of Enterobacteriaceae in individuals with type 2 diabetes was positively correlated with proinflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and HbA1c (Sato et al., 2014).

Collectively, these findings highlight the fact that diverse bacterial taxa are associated with altered glucose homeostasis during the progression of diabetes, though few have been demonstrated to have a causal relationship.

1.6.3. Endotoxemia during the onset of type 2 diabetes. High-fat and "Western-style" diets are diets rich in energy calorie content, of which 30-45% of the calories stem from fat intake (Rohr et al., 2020). Prolonged consumption of high-fat diets is linked to dysbiosis and chronic lowgrade inflammation observed in type 2 diabetes. This condition is known as endotoxemia which is driven by two mechanisms: the increased production of LPS and intestinal permeability (figure 1.1) (Régnier et al., 2020). The outer cell membrane of Gram-negative bacteria is enriched with LPS, a glycolipid that consist of an O-antigen, core polysaccharide, and lipid A. The structure of lipid A contains branched chain short-fatty acids that are the primary ligands of TLR-4/ LPS-binding protein/CD14 pathway in immune cells (macrophages) and epithelial cells. LPS induce the activation of the cytokines IL-1 and IL-6, which are implicated in metabolic inflammation in peripherical tissues (Cornejo-Pareja et al., 2019). TLR-4 activated by LPS, increases TNF- α gene expression to inhibit the phosphorylation of insulin receptor substate IRS-1, a key component of the insulin signaling pathway (Mandaliya et al., 2021; Matheus et al., 2017). Moreover, TLR-4 and nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptors in macrophages and dendritic cells,
activated by LPS, activates nuclear factor- \varkappa B (NF- \varkappa B) and activator protein 1 (AP-1) gene expression (Boulangé et al., 2016).



Figure 1.1 Gut barrier alteration during metabolic endotoxemia. In healthy subjects, the optimal gut barrier is composed by chemical (mucus) and physical (epithelial cells) barrier, that are maintained together by tight-junctions proteins. Environmental factors impair gut microbiota composition and gut barrier integrity, facilitating the translocation of microbial products like lipopolysaccharides (LPS) to circulatory system. LPS reach peripherical tissues and initiate a cascade of pro-inflammatory cytokines production that trigger low-grade inflammation that exacerbates insulin resistance in subjects with obesity and prediabetes. Figure obtained and modified from Regnier et al., 2020.

Mouse models of obesity are characterized by a high abundance of Gram-negative bacteria; but some Gram-positive bacteria such as *Eubacterium rectale* and *Clostridium coccoides* have been shown to be increased, while Bifidobacteria are present in lower amounts compared to control groups (Cani et al., 2007). Moreover, this animal model displayed an elevated LPS level and impaired expression of tight-junction proteins, which resulted in increased paracellular intestinal permeability (Caesar et al., 2012; Nascimento et al., 2020). Mice treated with LPS and a high-fat diet had increased mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-1, and IL-6, and elevated fasting insulin blood concentration (Cani et al., 2007).

LPS might contribute to early stages of diabetes pathophysiology by inducing changes in proglucagon peptides products, GLP-1 and GLP-2. Nguyen and collaborators (Nguyen et al., 2014) observed that LPS intraperitoneal injection in mice generates a rapid change in glucose homeostasis by a transient but significant hyperglycemia 6 hours after LPS exposure. Moreover, chronic exposure of LPS at low doses enhanced insulin and GLP-1 secretion observed during the OGTT (Nguyen et al., 2014). Lebrun et al (Lebrun et al., 2017) reported that LPS stimulates proglucagon and prohormone convertase 1/3 gene expression in the mouse ileum and induces GLP-1 secretion by the TLR-4 signaling pathway (Lebrun et al., 2017). The selective deletion of the proglucagon gene in the mouse distal gut suggests that major production of LPS-induced GLP-1 originates from the distal gut, and not from other tissues (Panaro et al., 2020).

Maruta et al (Maruta et al., 2020), reported that GLP-2 is released in response to LPS exposure to protect the intestinal paracellular permeability and molecule transport. Mice treated with LPS intraperitoneal injection, exhibited an increase in GLP-2, IL-6, and TNF- α concentration in blood after 6 hrs post exposure. The gut permeability was enhanced compared to the control group, suggesting that GLP-2 maintains gut integrity disrupted by LPS by inducing anti-inflammatory effects (Maruta et al., 2020). Notably, GLP-2 receptor deletion in *ob/ob* mice displayed increased fasting blood glucose and glucagon concentrations, and significantly reduced β -cell mass and islet proliferation, but increased α -cell mass (Bahrami et al., 2010). All together, these findings suggest that GLP-2 prevents metabolic endotoxemia effects by protecting intestinal barrier integrity and regulating mechanisms involved in glucose homeostasis.

Most of the studies showing the implication of LPS in insulin resistance etiology observed that high-fat diet is the major player in the endotoxemia development. Excessive dietary fat consumption increases the synthesis of chylomicrons, which incorporate LPS via lipid A. LPS translocation to the blood can also be facilitated by luminal micellar and lipid-raft mediated endocytosis. These mechanisms are independent of the intestinal permeability status, but mainly enhanced by the consumption of high-fat diets (Rohr et al., 2020).

A study performed by Cani et al (Cani et al., 2008), reported that high-fat diet induced metabolic endotoxemia triggered multiple mechanisms that favored low-grade inflammation. However, the administration of broad-spectrum antibiotics prevented metabolic endotoxemia by inducing changes in gut microbiota composition and functionality which ultimately impacted LPS plasma levels. Mice treated with antibiotics displayed reduced gut permeability, adipose tissue inflammation and glucose tolerance improvement independent of diet (Cani et al., 2008).

Different studies have identified an increase in insulin sensitivity in obese human and mouse models after antibiotic treatment (Hwang et al., 2015; Rajpal et al., 2015; Rodrigues et al., 2017; Vrieze et al., 2014). However, some antibiotics can further stimulate LPS release after bacterial lysis, and enhance immune responses (Sun & Shang, 2015). Jin et al. reported that after penicillin and erythromycin exposure, high levels of circulatory LPS were detected and an increase of genes involved in LPS-induced inflammation were detected in the liver (Jin et al., 2016).

Moreover, an in vitro study reported that LPS released from *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) increased due to bacterial growth. *E. coli* was sensitive to the exposure of gentamicin, amoxicillin, and ciprofloxacin, however an increase in LPS levels was observed after antibiotic exposure (Van Den Berg et al., 1992).

These studies suggest that LPS levels can increase due to high-fat diet-induced Gramnegative bacterial growth and antibiotic-induced lysis and affect the activity of various proinflammatory cytokines and incretins, causing perturbations in host immune function and metabolism.

1.6.4. Antibiotic-induced perturbations in neonate's gut microbiota. During the first 1000 days of human life, the gut microbiota is characterized by low diversity and high instability and is highly influenced by environmental and host factors (Oldenburg et al., 2018). Mode of delivery, gestational age, and feeding mode are the major determinants of microbial ecology in infants (Milani et al., 2017).

The description of the infant gut microbiota has been challenging due to individual variation stemming from different environmental factors; however, the identification of representative bacteria in healthy term infants have been suggested to be transferred during birth and by breastfeeding (Bokulich et al., 2016; Laforest-Lapointe & Arrieta, 2017). The gut microbiota during this period consists mainly of the phyla Firmicutes and Proteobacteria. Members of the family Enterobacteriaceae, especially *E. coli* are prevalent during this time. Changes in oxygen supply by these facultative anaerobes, such as *E. coli*, allow the colonization of strict anaerobes like Bifidobacteria, *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium* (Derrien et al., 2019; Matamoros et al., 2013). Succession of the gut microbiota during postnatal period is a complex process that involves frequent changes in bacterial species abundance until it resembles an adult-like state at approximately three years of age (Robertson et al., 2019; Schulfer & Blaser, 2015).

Patterns in microbial colonization in the neonatal stage are critical for optimal growth and maturation of the immune system and metabolic organs. Pediatric broad-spectrum antibiotics target a wide number of pathogenic bacteria, but also affect members of the bacterial community located in the gut, which may confer profound short and long-term effects on the diversity and composition of the gut microbiota (Vangay et al., 2015; Willing et al., 2011)

Infants are in high exposure to antibiotics. One recent study reported that 82.3% of the participants had at least 1 antibiotic course, 30.8% were dispensed at least 5 courses, and 8.4% received 10 or more antibiotic courses within the first two years of life (Leong et al., 2020). Some population-based cohort studies have associated sustained long-lasting effects of antibiotic exposure on metabolism. It has been found that infants exposed to antibiotics during the first 6 months of life were susceptible to an increased body mass index, weight gain, and childhood overweight and obesity, which was adjusted by potential social, family, and biological confounders (Ajslev et al., 2011; Trasande et al., 2013). Moreover, children exposed to a single course of antibiotics during the first six months of life had higher weight z-scores. Administration of β lactam agents were also highly associated with increased weight z-scores, regardless of the number of antibiotic courses (Mbakwa et al., 2016). Furthermore, Aversa et al reported that antibiotic exposure during the first 2 years of life facilitates a predisposition to obesity with an even higher incidence in girls (Aversa et al., 2021). However, some studies have found no association between childhood obesity and antibiotic exposure after adjustment for family-level confounders (Leong et al., 2020). The limitations of most population-based studies stem from the fact that primary factors contributing to obesity such as maternal body mass index, socioeconomic status, infection itself, host genetics, ethnicity and environmental factors are typically not considered.

A better understanding of the effects of neonatal dysbiosis on metabolism is highlighted in mice models that are exposed to antibiotics in early stages of life. Early-life antibiotic treatment during the weaning period has been associated with negative metabolic outcomes in adulthood (Cho et al., 2012; Mahana et al., 2016; Underwood et al., 2020). Mice treated with antibiotics had

an increased Firmicutes to Bacteria ratio and depleted abundance of *Lactobacillus*. Also, they reported antibiotic induced SCFA elevation associated with changes in liver lipid metabolism that favored increased adiposity (Cho et al., 2012; Nobel et al., 2015)

Similarly, Cox et al (Cox et al., 2014) observed that antibiotic administration pre-weaning combined with a high-fat diet had critical long-term effects that persisted even after antibiotic withdrawal. Moreover, antibiotic administration upregulated hepatic genes involved in lipid metabolism. The incorporation of high-fat diets exacerbated the antibiotic treatment effects, and significantly decreased the expression of glucose metabolism genes in the liver and impaired insulin metabolism. Notably, antibiotic administration during early-life caused the downregulation of antimicrobial peptides β --defensin-1 and regenerating islet-derived protein 3 gamma (RegIII γ) and reduced IL-17 cells in the ileum. Ultimately, antibiotic exposure induced significant changes in gut microbiota composition which were exacerbated by high-fat diets (Cox et al., 2014).

Another study found that prolonged exposure to subtherapeutic doses of antibiotics starting from the prenatal period, in combination with high-fat diets, enhanced the severity and susceptibility of type 2 diabetes. Mahana and collaborators (Mahana et al., 2016) reported that mice exposed to antibiotics during the prenatal period who were switched to high-fat diets during the eleventh week of life had impaired glucose tolerance, regardless of subtherapeutic doses of antibiotic exposure. However, mice from the antibiotic group displayed insulin resistance, and increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-6 in the blood. Mice receiving subtherapeutic doses of antibiotics were found to be enriched with *Bifidobacterium*, S24-7 and *Prevotella* (Mahana et al., 2016).

Other authors have reported that amoxicillin or tylosin exposure during early life increases the susceptibility to severe and prolonged colitis. Antibiotic exposure has been implicated in lower microbial richness and evenness, and changes in microbial community structure highlighted by an increased abundance of *Clostridium* and Enterobacteriaceae. Furthermore, mice exposed to antibiotics displayed low IL-22, Th17 and Treg cells; TNF- α trended higher, and these mice exhibited greater colonic inflammation, epithelial atrophy and dysplasia (Ozkul et al., 2020).

Overall, the first 3 years of life is a critical window for gut microbiota colonization and maturation. Antibiotic exposure causes shifts in the microbiota during the neonatal period which has been suggested to confer long-term effects on host metabolism and immune function.

Chapter 2. Transient antibiotic-induced changes in the neonatal swine intestinal microbiota impact pancreatic islet expression profiles reducing subsequent function

2.1. Rationale

In humans, the period from preconception to up to 3 years of age is a critical window for optimal development and infants are particularly susceptible to environmental influences during this time (Forgie et al., 2020). After birth, the gut microbial communities undergo gradual succession until they acquire an adult-like structure (Bäckhed, 2011; Bokulich et al., 2016; Forgie et al., 2020). A meta-analysis of 12 studies identified that infants exposed to antibiotics had a relative risk of 1.14 for childhood overweight or obesity (Wan et al., 2020). Newborn mice exposed to penicillin had transiently reduced gut microbial diversity, downregulation of antimicrobial peptides in the ileum and increased body fat at 20 weeks of age. Moreover, the metabolic mechanisms favoring the obese phenotype persisted after antibiotic cessation (Nobel et al., 2015). Since obesity is a major risk factor for type 2 diabetes longer-term follow-up may eventually show increased risk of type 2 diabetes as well.

Previously, we demonstrated that gut microbiota perturbations induced by antibiotics alter development of pancreatic islets and produce longer-term metabolic disturbances (Li et al. 2017). Newborn piglets exposed to therapeutic doses of amoxicillin had a transient shift in gut microbiota composition with a higher abundance of the family Enterobacterioceae at PND7. Islets isolated from antibiotic-treated piglets exhibited elevated insulin content and hyper-responsiveness to glucose at PND21 and mild glucose intolerance was detected at PND49 (Li et al. 2017). At PND21, we found reduced *PDX1* mRNA, reduced apoptotic β -cells and increased insulin content in islets,

but these differences were not observed at PND49 (Li et al. 2017).. However, the persistent impairment of glucose tolerance at PND49 suggested that these early phenotypic changes were important and that microbe-host interactions might be of greater magnitude during the period of antibiotic administration, i.e. between PND0-13.

Insulin synthesis and secretion is tightly regulated by β -cells' capability to sense fluctuations in glucose and other nutrients (Campbell & Newgard, 2021). Epidemiological studies find that stressors applied in utero or neonatally impact β -cell metabolic programming by initially inducing an adaptive response (Nielsen et al., 2014). However, this subsequently increases the risk of β -cell failure during increased metabolic demand, which could predispose to development of diabetes in adulthood (Cohrs et al., 2020; Gregg et al., 2012). Thus, carefully regulated evolution of β -cell functional plasticity in the neonatal period is critical for maintaining optimal glucose metabolism later in life (Aguayo-Mazzucato et al., 2011; Jermendy et al., 2011; Leahy, 2008).

Crucial regulators such as *PDX1* (Puri et al., 2015), *TCF7L2* (Migliorini & Lickert, 2015), *IGF-2* as well as *GLP-1* (Stoffers et al., 2003) and *PSCK1/3* (Arda et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2020) are involved in neonatal β -cell differentiation and maturation. How gut microbial perturbations trigger alterations in these during critical windows of development has not been explored.

The piglet, as an animal model, has similarity to humans regarding gut microbiota composition and function (Burrin et al., 2013) and neonates can be administered antibiotics directly. Moreover, piglet islets undergo developmental stages that are comparable to human infants (Arda et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2020) and the progression of metabolic disorders in pigs is similar to humans (Kim et al., 2020). Hence using pigs rather than rodents will likely provide closer parallels to human islet development.

The aim of the present study is to identify whether antibiotic administration from PND0-13 induces changes in 1) key regulators of pancreatic β -cell mass and function in neonatal piglets, 2) morphology and mass of pancreatic islets cells, 3) circulating LPS and proinflammatory cytokines that might mediate microbe-host interactions, and 4) gut bacteria composition and metabolite production, focusing on PND7 and PND14 during amoxicillin administration as well as PND49, when glucose intolerance was previously observed.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Study design, animal husbandry and procedures. The animal study and experimental procedures were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) and were in accordance with the Guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Swine husbandry followed standard operating procedures approved by the Swine Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta and the ACUC. Reporting follows the ARRIVE Essential 10 guidelines 2.0 (du Sert et al., 2020).

We conducted a longitudinal study of n=42 crossbred piglets (Duroc x Large White/Landrace) obtained from 8 Large White/Landrace sows of parity \geq 2. Newborn piglets (PND0) from each litter were assigned to antibiotic (ANTI) or placebo control (CON) groups. Piglets weighing <1 kg were not included. Randomization was blocked by litter and sex and conducted by an animal technician with no connection to the study. Investigators were not blinded to group assignment. Oral amoxicillin (30 mg/kg/day) or placebo were administrated twice daily (0800h, 1600h) from PND0-13. Swine were maintained on a 12-h light-dark cycle at room temperature of 22-25°C with free access to water, food or sow's milk. Body weights were recorded weekly. Piglets at PND7 (n=7) and PND14 (n=7) were euthanized by captive bolt for tissue

collection. The remainder (n=7 per group) were weaned at PND21 and penned by litter in a nursery room with a standard phase-feeding program until euthanized at PND49.

2.2.2. Primary and secondary outcomes. The primary outcomes at PND7, 14 and 49 were non-fasted plasma glucose and insulin, islet insulin content, glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, and β - and β -cell mass. Secondary outcomes included body weight, indices of islet cell proliferation and apoptosis and mRNA expression of genes important to β -cell functional maturation and expansion. Expression of genes or proteins involved in pro- and anti-inflammatory responses was probed. The gut microbiome was characterized at PND7 along with selected metabolites of interest.

2.2.3. Materials. Experimental materials were from Millipore Sigma Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada) unless otherwise indicated.

2.2.4. Fecal swabs, blood, and tissue collection. Blood samples were aseptically collected from the jugular vein for LPS and insulin analysis. These plus the ileum tissue and contents (snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen) were stored at -80°C. Pancreas from adjacent the spleen was sectioned, weighed and retained in ice-cold Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS; supplemented with 0.2% bovine serum albumin (BSA), 25mM HEPES, 100mg/L L-glutamine and 0.35g/L NaHCO3) for 3-4h prior to islet isolation. A second sample was fixed in 10% phosphate-buffered formalin for 24h for immunofluorescence assays.

2.2.5. Pancreatic islet isolation and insulin secretion assay. Islets were obtained from pancreas using a published protocol (J.Li et al. 2017) then overnight cultured in supplemented CMRL1066 medium (0.5% BSA) at 37°C in humidified air containing 5% CO₂ (Li J. et al.2017) Islets were washed with Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Gibco, Burlington, ON, Canada) containing 0.1% BSA. Quadruplicate samples of 3 islets/vial were incubated in 2.8- or

22-mM glucose in DMEM for 90 min at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Supernatant fractions were retained and the remaining insulin in islets was extracted with 3% acetic acid and frozen at -20°C for radioimmunoassay. The amount of insulin secreted into supernatant and the amount of insulin remaining in the islet pellet were added to calculate the total islet insulin content. To normalize for islet size the percentage of total insulin secreted was calculated. The ratio of insulin release in response to high (22 mM) versus low (2.8 mM) glucose concentration was used to calculate the insulin release index.

2.2.6. Immunofluorescence studies. Pancreas sections (5μm) on glass slides were blocked with goat serum (30 min, room temperature) followed by incubation (4°C, overnight) with guinea pig anti-insulin (dilution 1:200) (Dako, Burlington, ON, Canada), mouse anti-glucagon (1:250) and rabbit anti-Ki67 (1:250) (Abcam, Toronto ON, Canada). After washing, slides were incubated (2h, room temperature) with an appropriate secondary antibody (1:500): goat anti-guinea pig (IgG H&L, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), goat anti-rabbit (IgG H&L, Invitrogen) or goat anti-mouse (IgG H&L, ThermoFisher Scientific). After washing, sections were mounted with Prolong Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Invitrogen). TUNEL staining was performed using In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit following the manufacturer's instructions to identify apoptotic cells.

Immunofluorescent-stained slides were tile-imaged and stitched at 10X magnification using a Zeiss Colibri microscope. Using ImageJ (http:///rsb.info.nih.gov/ij), images of entire pancreatic tissue sections were batch-processed and analyzed to characterize pancreatic islet morphology and development. A binary mask generated from DAPI staining was used to colocalize the nuclear stains (Ki67, TUNEL) to the nucleus to exclude non-specific (e.g. cytosolic) staining. The structures captured by this analysis were further filtered by size and circularity such that small and/or aberrant non-specifically stained areas were avoided. Clustering of pancreatic endocrine cells was measured as a sub-analysis of α - and β -cell area in Image J. Stained cells less than 6-pixels apart were considered part of the same cluster entity. Each stained entity, containing one or more α - or β -cells, was categorized based on their total stained area as a non-cluster (165-799 pixels², i.e. singlets, doublets and triplets), small cluster (800-2500 pixels²), or large cluster (>2500 pixels²).

2.2.7. Quantitative real-time PCR. Total RNA from pancreas, ileum, and proximal colon was extracted using the GeneJET RNA Purification Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). DNase (RNase-free DNase set; Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was applied on the column to eliminate genomic DNA contamination. Extracted RNA purity and concentration was determined with a Nano Drop 2000c. cDNA was synthesized using Maxima First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). Gene expression was measured by RT-qPCR using PerfeCTa SYBR Green SuperMix Rox (Quanta Bioscience Inc., Gaithersburg, MD) on a StepOnePlus Real-time PCR System equipped with StepOne software v2.3 (Applied Biosystems, ON, Canada). The primers were designed in Beacon Designer 7.9 using the sequences obtained from the ENSEMBL pig database (Supplementary Table 1). The qPCR protocol was: 3 min at 95°C, 40 cycles of 10s at 95°C, 30s at annealing temperature. All samples were measured in duplicate and the values were normalized relative to glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase (Gapdh) using the comparative CT ($2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$) method. The amplification specificity was verified by melt curve analysis and evaluation of efficiency (90-110%). A no-reverse transcriptase control was used as negative control for DNA contamination.

2.2.8 Western blot. Frozen samples were thawed on ice and homogenized in RIPA buffer. Total protein was measured using Lowry protein assay. Samples (200 μg protein) were subjected to SDS-PAGE, then blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were blocked in 3% BSA/1% Tween/PBS (60 min), then incubation with primary antibodies for tight junction proteins (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) diluted in TBS/1% Tween/0.5% BSA (4°C, overnight). Membranes were subsequently incubated with appropriate peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (2h, room temperature). ECL Plus (ThermoFisher Scientific) was applied to the membranes and digital images captured. Labeling of specific proteins was compared with GAPDH (used as loading control) using ImageJ.

2.2.9. Serum LPS and hormone assays. Serum LPS was measured by PYROGENT-5000 Kinetic Turbidimetric LAL Assay (Lonza, Burlington, ON, Canada). Plasma insulin was measured by ELISA (Alpco Diagnostics, Salem, NH, USA). Total active GLP-1 was measured using V-PLEX Total kit (Meso Scale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA).

2.2.10. SCFA measurement. Samples of distal colon contents were prepared and measured as described (J.Li et al.2017) Gas chromatograph peaks were analyzed using Galaxie Software (Varian Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA) and concentrations of SCFA were calculated. The sum of detected SCFA concentrations represent the total SCFA concentration and the results were normalized per gram of sample (J. Li et al., 2017)

2.2.11. Ileal DNA extraction and 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing. Genomic DNA was extracted from frozen ileal digesta samples as previously (J. Li et al., 2017) and quantified using Quant-iT[™] PicoGreen® dsDNA Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). DNA (5 ng/µl) was amplified using universal primers targeting the V3 to V4 region of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene using KAPA HiFidelity Hot Start Polymerase (Kapa Biosystems Inc., Wilmington, MA, USA) and subsequent library preparation was performed according to Illumina's 16S Metagenomic library preparation guide. The final pooled library was diluted to 8 pM in Illumina HT1 buffer and spiked with 10% PhiX control before loading. A MiSeq 600 cycle V3 kit was used for sequencing.

Sequence data were analyzed using a QIIME2 pipeline (Qiime2 v2019.4) (Bolyen et al., 2019). Sequences were checked for quality and trimmed if the average quality was <20, resulting in the forward and reverse reads being truncated at 260 and 220 nt, respectively. The Dada2-plugin was used to denoise the sequence data and generate feature data tables (Callahan et al., 2016). The amplicon sequence variants were aligned with mafft (Katoh et al., 2002) to construct a phylogenetic tree with fasttree2 (Price et al., 2010). Taxonomic classification of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences were made using the Greengenes (13_8 release) reference sequence database (McDonald et al., 2012), with amplicons for the domain of interested extracted using the primer sequences targeting the V3 and V4 regions of the 16S rRNA gene and the q2-feature-classifier extract read method (Bokulich et al., 2018).

Data was rarefied to 11000 reads per sample and the R package, Phyloseq, was used to visualize changes to microbial community diversity using Chao1, Shannon, and Simpson indices and microbial community structure using the Bray Curtis dissimilarity and principal-coordinate analysis (PCoA) with the ADONIS statistic used to test differences between treatment groups (McMurdie & Holmes, 2013). Differential abundance of predominating taxa presents in >50% of samples at > 0.1% abundance at the genus level were compared between ANTI and CON treated pigs using a Wald parametric test in DESeq2 Bioconductor package in R using a false-discovery rate (FDR) threshold of 0.15 (Love et al., 2014)

2.2.12. Statistical analysis. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to establish normal distributions. Comparisons between groups were analyzed by Student's t-test or two-way ANOVA (or equivalent for non-normally distributed data) followed by Bonferroni post-hoc test for pairwise comparisons. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism v6.02 (La Jolla, CA, USA).

Data were expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and results were considered statistically significant at p<0.05. P values between 0.1 and 0.05 were considered to be trends.

Name	Accession	Forward 5'-3'	Reverse 5'-3'
*	Number		
Pdx1	NM_001141984. 1	TCCCGTGGATGAAGTCTACC	TTGTCCTCCTCCTTTTTCCA
Ins	NM_001109772. 1	CAAGCAGGTCCTCACCCC	CACACCAGGTACAGCGCC
Pcsk1	NM_214038	TGGAAGCAAATCCAAATCTC	CCGACTGTTCACCATCAAGC
Pcsk2	NM_001004044. 1	ACAAGTGGCCTTTCATGACC	CTCTTCCTCCAGCTCCTCCT
Dpp4	NM_214257.1	CAGGCCCTTGTAGTCAAAAA	GGTAACCACTTCCTCTGCCA
Glp1r	NM_001256594. 1	TACTTCTGGCTGCTGGTGGAG	ACCCCAGCCTATGCTCAGGTA
Tcf7l1	XM_005657489. 3	CACATGGTCCCTCCGCATCA	CACTCTGCGAGGATTCCTGC
Gapdh	NM_001206359. 1	GTTTGTGATGGGCGTGAAC	ATGGACCGTGGTCATGAGT
Gcg	NM_214324.1	CAAGAGGAACAAGAATAACA T	AAGAACTTACATCACTGGTA
Tnf	NM_214022.1	CCAATGGCAGAGTGGGTATG	TGAAGAGGACCTGGGAGTAG
Igf2	NM_213883.2	AGGGCATCCAAACCACAAAC	GGGTTCAATTTTTGGTATGTAACTT G
116	NM_214399.1	ATCAGGAGACCTGCTTGATG	TGGTGGCTTTGTCTGGATTC
Npg1	NM_001123149. 1	TGGATCAGATCAAGGACC	ACACAGACGCAGAACCTAC

Table 2.1. Primer sequences used in the qPCR for swine mRNA

*Gene names: *Pdx1*, pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1; *Ins*, insulin; *Pcsk1*, proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 1; *Pcsk2*, proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 2; dpp4, dipeptidyl peptidase 4; *Glp1r*, glucagon like peptide 1 receptor; *Tcf7l2*, transcription factor 7 like 2; *Gapdh*, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; *Gcg*, glucagon; *Tnf*, tumor necrosis factor (alpha); *Igf2*, insulin like growth factor 2; *Il6*, interleukin 6; *Npg1*, protegrin 1

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Metabolic phenotype of piglets. Previously, amoxicillin administered to piglets from PND0-13 resulted in increased β -cell mass at PND21 and mild glucose intolerance at PND49 (Li et al., 2017). We repeated the neonatal antibiotic treatment experiment to examine phenotypic changes present at PND7 and 14. Follow-up at PND49 was also carried out for the present study. Body weight (Figure 2.3.1. A) and blood glucose concentration (not fasted) (Figure 2.3.1. B) were not different between treatment groups. Plasma insulin varied with age (p<0.02) and a trend to age x treatment interaction (p=0.056) that was most evident at PND49, when ANTI exhibited a 2-fold increase in plasma insulin relative to PND49 CON (Figure 2.3.1. C). Islet insulin content increased with age (p<0.05) and a treatment effect was detected in PND49 islets (Figure 2.3.1. D) with ANTI having lower content compared with CON (p<0.05). A trend (p=0.071) for elevated insulin release index in ANTI pigs was noted at PND7 and 14 but was not sustained at PND49 (Figure 2.3.1. E).



Figure 2.3.1. Body weight, circulating glucose and insulin concentrations, and islet insulin characteristics. (A) Body weight, (B) random (non-fasted) blood glucose concentration, and (C) random plasma insulin concentration of pigs exposed to antibiotics or placebo at PND 7, 14 and 49. (D) Pancreatic islet insulin content and (E) insulin release index of PND7, 14 and 49 islets from ANTI and CON piglets. ANTI – white bars; CON – black bars. Results are expressed as means \pm SEM with n=4-7 per treatment group; *p <0.05 vs age-matched controls.

2.3.2 Immunohistochemical studies of pancreatic islets at PND 7 and 49. Pancreas tissues stained for Ki67, a nuclear marker for cell proliferation nuclei were quantified within cells staining for glucagon or insulin (Figure 2.3.2. A) at PND7. Similar experiments were performed with TUNEL assay (Figure 2.3.2. B). No significant treatment effect on the proportion of co-localized Ki67-positive nuclei (Figure 2.3.2.C,D) or TUNEL-positive nuclei (Figure 2.3.2. E,F) were observed in either α - or β -cells. To explore selected pathways involved in β -cell development and functional maturation, we measured key markers of β -cell maturity (Salinno et al., 2019; Takamoto et al., 2014) We detected a transient reduction in gene expression of *PDX1, IGF-2*, and *TCF7Ll2* (Figure 2.3.2. G-J) in ANTI islets at PND14. The expression of *Ins* mRNA was not different between treatment groups at any age (Figure 2.3.2. I).



Pdx1 relative to Gapdh **B**

2.0

1.5 1.0 0.5

0.0

Figure 2.3.2. Proliferation and apoptosis in α - and β -cells in PND7 piglets and expression of selected genes important in β -cell development and maturation in PND7, 14 and 21 piglets. Pancreatic tissues slices were co-stained with Ki67 (proliferation marker) or TUNEL (apoptosis assay) and glucagon or insulin antibodies. For CON (left panel) and ANTI, representative images of (A) Ki67 (green) and glucagon (purple, top) or insulin (red, bottom) and (B) TUNEL (green) and glucagon (purple, top) or insulin (red, bottom) are depicted. White arrowheads indicate the nuclei of individual cells that co-stain as seen in the merged images. The yellow bar represents 50 µm. Bar graphs representing the average % Ki67-positive and TUNEL-positive for (C,E) α -cells and (D,F) β -cells. Gene expression of (G) *Pdx1*, (H) *Igf2*, (I) *Ins*, and (J) *Tcf7l2* in isolated islets from CON (black bars) and ANTI (white bars) at PND7, 14 and 49 pigs. Results are expressed as means \pm SEM with n=6-7 per treatment group; *p <0.05 vs age-matched controls.

2.3.3. Pancreatic islets morphology of PND7 and PND49. To characterize the abundance of endocrine cells in the pancreas of ANTI versus CON piglets, we measured α -cell and β -cell areas at PND7. The % pancreatic area occupied by α -cells and β -cells (Figure 2.3.3. A, C, D) was similar in ANTI and CON. During development, endocrine cell morphology changes from individual cells or small clusters to larger clusters (Figure 2.3.3. B) that become identifiable as highly organized islet structures around PND21 (Nagaya et al., 2019). Cluster density was not significantly different for small or large clusters of β -cells (Figure 2.3.3. E, F) between the CON and ANTI piglets at PND7. Similar analyses were conducted for α -cells and no significant differences were detected. At PND49, ANTI pigs had a 70% reduction in α -cell area (p=0.02), and a 40% reduction in β -cell area (p=0.005) compared with CON (Figure 2.3.3. G-I).



Figure 2.3.3. Effects of neonatal amoxicillin treatment on islet morphology in PND7 and 49 piglets. (A) Representative immunofluorescent images of glucagon-positive α-cell (left) and insulin-positive β-cell staining (right) at PND7. (B) Representative images to demonstrate (left) non-clustered (165-799 pixels², white arrows point to singlets, yellow arrows point to doublets, green arrows point to triplets), (middle) small clusters (800-2500pixels², white perimeter outlines the computer-generated region of interest identifying the cluster) and (right) large clusters (right) of β-cells (>2500pixels², white perimeter outlines the computer-generated region of interest identifying the cluster). The small or large cluster distribution density was quantified by dividing the number of clusters by the total area analyzed for each sample. Morphometric analysis of (C) α-cell area, (D) β-cell area, (E) small clusters of β-cells, (F) large clusters of β-cells at PND7. (G) Representative immunofluorescent images of glucagon-positive α-cell and insulin-positive β-cell staining in CON (left) and ANTI (right) at PND49. Morphometric analysis of (H) α-cell area and (I) β-cell area at PND49. CON - black bars and ANTI - white bars. Results are expressed as means ± SEM with n=7 per treatment group; *p <0.05, **p<0.01 vs age-matched controls.

2.3.4. Glucagon-like peptide-1-related genes in PND7 islets. GLP-1 may influence β cell insulin secretion and mitogenesis via TCF7L2-related signaling pathways (Mitchell et al., 2015). We compared GLP-1 precursor gene *Gcg*, and *Glp-1R* and genes of enzymes involved in GLP-1 synthesis in isolated islets and found significant interactions between age and treatment. GLP-1R (p<0.05) and *Gcg* (p<0.01) expression were both increased approximately 3-fold in ANTI pigs at PND7 (Figure 2.3.4. A, B). *Psck1* and *Psck2* were also elevated (p<0.01) at PND7 (Figure 2.3.4. C, D). For *Dpp4* mRNA was increased in PND7 ANTI pigs but declined thereafter, whereas its expression was relatively constant in CON piglets (Figure 2.3.4. E). Age had a significant main effect on the circulating GLP-1 concentration (p<0.05). At PND7, but not later ages, there was a 2-fold elevation (p=0.11) of GLP-1 in the plasma of ANTI piglets (Figure 2.3.4. F). Gcg is also expressed in the enteroendocrine L-cells from ileum and colon (Lebrun et al., 2017; Nguyen et al., 2014). Amoxicillin did not affect *Gcg*, *Psck1*, *Psck2*, and *Dpp4* mRNA expression at PND7 (Figure 2.3.4. G), or PND14 and D49 (not shown) in the ileum of CON versus ANTI pigs.



Figure 2.3.4. Plasma GLP-1 and gene expression of pancreatic GLP-1 receptor and enzymes involved in GLP-1 synthesis in islet cells and mRNA expression of (A) Glp1r, (B) Glc, (C) Psck1, (D) Psck2, and (E) Dpp4, in pancreatic islet-like clusters of pigs at PND 7, 14 and 49. (F) Circulating active GLP-1 and (G) measurement of mRNA levels of the same GLP-1-related genes in whole ileum at PND7. Results are expressed as means \pm SEM with n=7 per treatment group; *p <0.05 vs age-matched controls.

2.3.5. Peptides associated with inflammation in PND7 ANTI piglets. To address whether amoxicillin administration during early life promoted inflammatory responses, *Tn*f and *ll6* gene expression were measured in pancreatic islets and ileum of PND7 pigs. We observed a significant interaction between age and treatment on *Tnf* expression (p<0.05) in pancreatic islets (Figure 2.3.5. A). In the ileum of ANTI pigs, *Tnf* was decreased at PND14 (p<0.05) but increased at PND49 relative to CON (p<0.01) (Figure 2.3.5 B). Il6 expression in pancreatic islets and ileum were similar in ANTI and CON pig tissues at all ages (Figure 2.3.5 C,D).

Protegrin (*Npg1*) is a porcine cathelicidin that is detected neonatally but not in adulthood and has antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activity (Hua Wu et al., 1999). *Npg1* mRNA in pancreatic islets was 30-fold higher in ANTI pigs than CON at PND7 (p<0.05) but this difference was not maintained at PND14 and PND49 (Figure 2.3.5. E,F).



Figure 2.3.5. Measurement of *Tnf*, *Il6* and *Npg1* gene expression in pancreatic islets and ileum of PND7 pigs. Gene expression of *Tnf* in (A) pancreatic islets and (B) ileum. Il6 mRNA in (C) isolated islets or (D) ileum. *Npg1* gene expression in pancreatic islets at (E) PND7, (F) PND14 and PND49. n=3-7 per treatment group. Results are expressed as means \pm SEM. * p<0.05 vs controls.

2.3.6. Short-chain fatty acids receptors and concentration in PND7 ANTI piglets. The activation of G-protein coupled receptor-41 (GPR41) and GPR43 by SCFA may stimulate cathelicidin production under some conditions (J. Sun et al., 2015). The concentrations of total SCFA (Figure 2.3.6. A), acetate (Figure 2.3.6. B), propionate (Figure 2.3.6 C) and butyrate (Figure 2.3.6. D) were not different between the ANTI and CON piglets at PND7. No differences were detected in the gene expression of *Gpcr41* and *Gpcr43* in ileum (Figure 2.3.6 E) or pancreatic islets (Figure 2.3.6. F) between CON and ANTI piglets



Figure 2.3.6. Analysis of SCFA concentration and receptor expression in PND7 piglets. (A) Total SCFA, (B) acetate (C) propionate, (D) and butyrate concentrations in cecal samples. mRNA expression of SCFA transporters in (E) ileum and (F) pancreatic islets. n=5-7. Results are expressed by means \pm SEM for CON (black bars) and ANTI (white bars). No significant differences were detected.

2.3.7. Neonatal antibiotics transiently alter tight junction protein abundance. We

explored whether antibiotic treatment could lead to changes in the mucosal barrier in the ileum during postnatal development because of the increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes. There was a significant treatment x age interaction for claudin-1 (p=0.02), ZO-1 (p<0.05) and occludin (p<0.05). Notably, the abundance of tight junction proteins was lower in ANTI than CON at PND7, but the trend reversed at PND14 and by PND49 there was no difference between groups (Figure 2.3.7.).



Figure 2.3.7. Tight junction proteins in ileum at PND 7, 14 and 49. (A) Claudin-1, (B) Occludin and (C) ZO-1. (D) shows a representative blot for CON (C) and ANTI (A) at each age. n=6 per group. Results are expressed by means \pm SEM for CON (black bars) and ANTI (white bars). *p<0.05.

2.3.8. Ileal microbial composition is transiently altered in ANTI piglets at PND7. Amoxicillin treatment elicited a pattern of increased Enterobacteriaceae and modest changes in the overall community at PND21 (Li et al., 2017; Nagaya et al., 2019) Ileal microbial diversity and composition was measured at PND7. Species richness was increased in ANTI pigs (Chao1 p=0.005, Figure 2.3.8.A), but other measures of alpha-diversity were not different. PCoA indicated that the ileal microbial community structure was also significantly affected by amoxicillin treatment at PND7 (Adonis p=0.026, Figure 2.3.8 B) that was mostly due to enriched taxa in ANTI piglets in families Ruminococcaceae, Lachnospiraceae, and S24-7 along with genera *Escherichia, Coprococcus, Ruminococcus, Dhalobacterium, Oscillospira*, and candidate genus *Ruminococcus* (Figure 2.3.8 C). Circulating LPS (Figure 2.3.8. D) was measured because of the previously observed increase in Enterobacteriaceae, (Fouhse et al., 2019)and was 7-fold higher in ANTI (p=0.11).



Figure 2.3.8. Gut microbial characterization in PND7 piglets. (A) Chao1, Shannon and Simpson diversity indices, (B) Principal component analysis showing distinct clustering of ANTI compared with CON (Adonis, p=0.026) and (C) Taxonomy significantly enriched in ANTI vs. CON pigs. All n=6-7 per group. (D) LPS concentration in blood at PND7 comparing ANTI and CON groups (n=6 per group, p=0.11) expressed by means \pm SEM. ** p<0.01.

2.4. Discussion

Early life is a critical window for gut microbiota maturation and perturbations introduced by antibiotics can have long-term effects on the host's metabolism (Bäckhed, 2011; Bokulich et al., 2016; Cox & Blaser, 2015; Forgie et al., 2020). Children are susceptible to infections, therefore, studies of the early succession of intestinal bacteria and the host's development during pediatric antibiotic treatment are necessary to understand how to ameliorate potential negative outcomes (Bokulich et al., 2016; Zeissig & Blumberg, 2014). In the present study, our findings suggest that neonatal, antibiotic-induced perturbations impact key factors involved in the development and function of pancreatic β-cells, likely mediated via microbe-host interactions. The overall phenotypic differences include early changes in microbial communities that associate with upregulation of GLP-1 signaling potential and hyper-responsiveness to glucose in β -cells along with an increase in inflammatory markers at PND7. By PND14, although islets appear to be developing normally, there is down-regulation of key regulators of development and maturation, such as Pdx1(which persists at PND21 (Li et al., 2017)). By PND49, the antibiotic-induced phenotype includes impaired glucose tolerance despite hyperinsulinemia (Li et al., 2017) accompanied by low islet insulin content and reduced mass of both α - and β -cells.

In the prediabetic state, β -cell compensatory mechanisms include enhanced insulin biosynthesis, secretory capacity and β -cell hyperplasia (Leahy, 2008) that help to maintain normoglycemia (Tabák et al., 2012), and failure of β -cell adaptation to metabolic demands plays a central role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Previously, we observed that PND49 piglets exposed to neonatal amoxicillin had impaired glucose tolerance (Li et al., 2017). In the current study, ANTI PND49 piglets had euglycemia but non-fasting hyperinsulinemia despite 40% lower islet insulin content and reduced β -cell mass, which is consistent with stressed β -cells. Conversely, and similar to results from PND21 piglets (Li et al., 2017), isolated islets from ANTI piglets at PND7 and PND14 were hyper-responsive to glucose. Furthermore, at PND21, islets from ANTI piglets had a trend to increased β -cell area and increased insulin content, suggesting that metabolic adaptations invoked by weaning are impaired thereafter. Thus, neonatal antibiotic administration appears to program β -cells to function and proliferate abnormally, which increases the predisposition to glucose intolerance as animals age.

Evidence from the intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) model concurs that β -cell failure to adapt can be programmed early in life. Three-month-old IUGR mice fed a high-fat diet had hyperinsulinemia, and isolated islets had increased insulin content, higher response to glucose stimulation and overall increased β -cell mass but 12-month-old mice were hyperglycemic with decreased islet insulin content and reduced β -cell mass (Chakravarthy et al., 2008). The observed phenotype in our model is comparable to the early stages of β -cell dysfunction in type 2 diabetes rodent models (Chakravarthy et al., 2008; Corbin et al., 2016) and we hypothesize that in this case a gut microbial factor determined by antibiotic exposure is likely responsible.

Changes in the expression of genes that regulate β -cell development at PND21 (Li et al., 2017) led us to perform a time-series study of gene expression and islet morphology at PND7, 14 and 49. Post-natal β -cell functional maturation is characterized by β -cell mass expansion and enhanced insulin secretion (Arda et al., 2016; Helman et al., 2020; Qiu et al., 2017).

We observed that amoxicillin treatment had a temporal effect on islet transcription factors, growth factors and *GLP-1*-related genes. Islet *PDX1*, *TCF7L2* and *IGF-2* were reduced only at PND14 in ANTI pigs. PDX-1 transcriptional regulation targets multiple genes essential to the β -cell phenotype (Mosley et al., 2004). The loss of *PDX-1* is associated with diabetes development due to a loss of specific β -cell markers, β -cell function and mass (Gao et al., 2014). β -cell insulin

secretion stimulated by incretins is regulated by TCF7L2. Selective deletion of *TCF7L2* in the β cells of mice led to an altered incretin response and decreased β -cell mass, but not α -cell mass (Mitchell et al., 2015). Also, growth factors are involved in the proliferation of pancreatic β -cells and insulin biosynthesis during early development. Serum IGF-2 was reduced in Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rat, a model of spontaneous type 2 diabetes, at 18.5 days of gestation. GK fetuses had decreased *PDX-1* expression and reduced β -cell mass compared with Wistar control rats (Movassat et al., 2007).

While we previously observed reduced β -cell apoptosis at PND21 but decreased proliferation at PND49 (Li et al., 2017) no changes in β - or α -cell proliferation and apoptosis or overall abundance were identified in ANTI pigs at PND7, suggesting that amoxicillin treatment has a delayed effect as indicated by reduced α - and β -cell area at PND49. Consistent with other authors (Nagaya et al., 2019), at PND7 we identified insulin- and glucagon-positive cells arranged in small and large clusters, and scattered individual cells distributed throughout the acinar tissue. Overall, our results suggest that neonatal amoxicillin treatment impairs the expression of key factors that regulate pancreatic β -cell morphology, function and growth that are seen at later life and possibly increase the risk of developing diabetes in adulthood. Leahy (Leahy, 2008) proposed that the progressive β -dysfunction seen in pre-diabetes and type 2 diabetes initiates during fetal and neonatal periods. Our piglet model shows that amoxicillin treatment induces islets to be hypersensitive to glucose stimulation initially, but gradually changes the β -cell morphology and function, which results in β -cell stress.

The β -cell hypersensitivity to glucose in PND7 and PND14 ANTI pigs, and increased insulin-positive cells in ANTI PND21 pigs, suggested involvement of GLP-1, an incretin that exerts beneficial effects on β -cell proliferation and function, with its analogs used therapeutically

for diabetes (Andersen et al., 2019). PND7 ANTI pigs had elevated circulating active GLP-1, concurrent with higher gene expression of *GCG*, *PSCK1*, *PSCK2*, and *DPP4*, which was not seen in older ANTI pigs or in the ileum, where GLP-1 is produced in L-cells and known to be influenced by microbial metabolites (Nguyen et al., 2014; Panaro et al., 2020; Rastelli et al., 2019)

Interestingly, germ-free mice have elevated GLP-1, although the mechanism driving this phenotype is not understood (Selwyn et al., 2015). GLP-1 receptor and enzymes involved in GLP-1 synthesis are found in α -cells from fetal and neonatal humans and pigs (Arda et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2020).

GLP-1 induces neogenesis and increases the number of single β -cells and β -cell clusters associated with pancreatic ducts in 7-old-day streptozotocin-treated rats (Tourrel et al., 2001). IUGR rats treated with the GLP-1 analog exendin-4 from PND0-6 exhibit improved glucose tolerance and remain normoglycemic whereas vehicle-treated littermates become diabetic by 8 months of age, suggesting a protective role of early exposure to GLP-1 (Stoffers et al., 2003). Thus, amoxicillin exposure triggers transient changes in *GLP-1*-related genes, which might be related to enhanced glucose responsiveness seen in antibiotic-treated piglets from PND7-21 (this study and (Li et al., 2017). Conversely, attenuation of GLP-1 at PND14 might be a factor in the apparently normalized glucose responsiveness of islets at PND49.

There is increasing evidence that alterations in the gut microbiota composition and intestinal barrier contribute to low-grade inflammation and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Peterson & Artis, 2014), which may elicit β -cell apoptosis and dampened insulin secretion seen in type 2 diabetes (Paniccia & Schulick, 2016). In addition, the exposure of mouse islets to inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF- α induces down-regulation of *PDX1*, glucokinase (*GCK*) and *INS2* (Yang et al., 2010). Our data show that amoxicillin increased the abundance of

Enterobacteriaceae in the ileum concomitant with reduced abundance of tight junction proteins and increased circulating LPS at PND7. Translocation of LPS to the systemic circulation elicits metabolic dysregulation known as metabolic endotoxemia (Cani et al., 2012). The concurrent elevation of *TNF* and *NPG1* mRNA in ANTI islets suggests a local inflammatory and counterinflammatory response in the pancreas. Cathelicidins such as *Npg1* are antimicrobial peptides found in the gut that selectively inhibit the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to LPS (Han et al., 2016; Song et al., 2015). Cathelicidins are also more highly expressed in β cells of diabetes-resistant than -prone rats (Pound et al., 2015) and, in NOD mice, confer local protection to β -cells from pro-inflammatory cytokine attack, an effect regulated by gut microbes via SCFA production (Sun et al., 2015). However, our study found neither an increase in SCFA in fecal material or their receptors expressed in islets suggesting an alternative means of regulation.

In conclusion, this study found that neonatal antibiotic administration leads to increased abundance of Enterobacteriaceae. We propose this leads to an early increase in gut permeability and metabolic endotoxemia, which manifests as transient but functionally significant changes in key β -cell transcription factors, associated with transient upregulation of GLP-1 synthesis and signaling, and β -cell glucose responsiveness. This is followed by a window in which genes essential in β -cell development and growth are down-regulated. Consequently, β -cell maladaptation to nutrient-induced metabolic stress later in life is observed.

Chapter 3: Early-life antibiotic exposure and *Escherichia coli* colonization in combination induce negative long-term effects on glucose metabolism

3.1. Rationale

Type 2 diabetes and prediabetes prevalence is increasing alarmingly in children and youth populations, and is ascribed to the childhood obesity epidemic (Diabetes Federation International, 2019; Sinha, et al., 2002). In Canada, the mean age of type 2 diabetes diagnosis in youth was 13.7, and 8% of all newly diagnosed children were less than 10 years of age (Wherrett & Ho, Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee.2018). Diabetes appearance at early age increased the risk of developing diabetes-associated complications and cardiovascular disorders (Li et al., 2009; Wherrett & Ho, Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. 2018).

Impaired glucose tolerance and/or impaired fasting glucose have been used for early identification of children and adolescents at high risk for future diabetes and cardiometabolic disorders. Studies have identified that adolescents with impaired glucose tolerance exhibited elevated levels of proinsulin, C-peptide, and fasting plasma insulin compared to those with normal glucose tolerance or adults with diabetes (Arslanian et al., 2018; Sinha et al., 2002). Moreover, obese children and adolescents displayed severe insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia that was not present in adults with impaired glucose tolerance (Li et al., 2009; Sinha, et al., 2002).

The increased β -cell workload to meet the insulin demand in obese, insulin-resistant youth might accelerate and enhance β -cell damage. The Early-Bird longitudinal study reported that
children who exhibited high blood glucose at 5 years of age developed impaired fasting glucose and loss of insulin sensitivity during puberty independently of the body mass index (Hosking et al., 2013). In clinical trials, the use of metformin alone or in combination with insulin glargine failed to delay β -cell dysfunction in 50% of youth participants with impaired glucose tolerance (Arslanian et al., 2018; Nadeau et al., 2018; Zeitler et al., 2012). Together, these findings suggest that in prediabetic children and adolescents, the progressive β -cell function loss is more aggressive and faster than in adults, and there is an urgency to identify the major risk factors that contribute to impaired glucose tolerance.

Along with genetic factors and excessive consumption of energy, gut microbiota can contribute to the aetiology of obesity and diabetes. Individuals with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes had low bacterial richness that is positively associated with elevated fasting blood glucose, insulin resistance, C-peptide, and HOMA-IR, which are common clinical biomarkers for diabetes diagnosis (Allin et al., 2015; Pedersen et al., 2016). Gut microbiota of individuals with type 2 diabetes has been found to differ in composition compared to healthy controls and is believed to be a contributor to impaired glucose tolerance. Gram-negative bacteria *Enterobacterioceae*, *Bacteroides*, *Erysipelotrichaceae* and *Prevotella* families from *Bacteroidetes* and *Proteobacteria* phyla are enriched in the intestinal microbiota of subjects with type 2 diabetes (Chávez-Carbajal et al., 2020; Larsen et al., 2010; Régnier et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a component of the outer cell membrane of Gram-negative bacteria and have been shown to trigger inflammatory-related responses associated with insulin resistance during the onset of diabetes (Cani et al., 2007; Gaike et al., 2020; Larsen et al., 2010; Régnier et al., 2020; Larsen et al., 2020). High-fat diet facilitates LPS translocation from the gastrointestinal tract surface to circulatory system by

inducing tight-junction proteins disruption (Boulangé et al., 2016; Régnier et al., 2020). Also, chronic fat consumption favors the increase synthesis of chylomicrons and lipid rafts, which can incorporate LPS and facilitates its translocation to the blood stream, and reach peripherical organs to initiate inflammatory responses (Rohr et al., 2020). Altogether, these mechanisms suggest that gut microbiota perturbations induced by environmental factors contribute to low-grade inflammation and insulin resistance observed during the onset of diabetes.

Antibiotics are widely used in the clinical treatment of infection caused by Gram-negative bacteria. Infants are the frequently exposed to a high number of antibiotic courses between the first 6 to 12 months (Leong et al., 2020). Epidemiological studies have reported that children exposed to antibiotics during the first year of life have an increased risk to body mass index and overweight (Ajslev et al., 2011; Mbakwa et al., 2016; Trasande et al., 2013). Notably, subtherapeutic doses of antibiotics prenatally or at weaning period in mice caused a temporary change in gut microbiota community, and upregulation of genes related to lipid metabolism in the liver that was associated with an increased fatty acids synthesis in the liver were identified in mice exposed to antibiotic at neonatal stage and high-fat diet, suggesting that early-life microbiota has an influence in nutrient metabolism and energy storage (Cox et al., 2014).

We previously identified that early-life therapeutic amoxicillin treatment impacts the gut microbiota community, which results in changes in glucose metabolism later in life (Li et al., 2017). Neonatal piglets exposed to amoxicillin had changes in gut microbiota composition that were observed only at PND7 piglets. A significant transient increase abundance of Enterobacterioceae, largely represented by *Escherichia* were observed at PND7 piglets exposed to

antibiotics, however at later time points of life these significant changes were lost. Notably, earlylife antibiotic treatment had a negative impact on the expression of key genes related to β -cell maturation and pancreatic islets growth and glucose tolerance even after antibiotic withdrawal. This findings suggest that perturbations of gut microbiota during early-life have an effect in host's metabolic program (Li et al., 2017).

LPS levels increase due to Gram-negative growth or bacteria death. Antibiotics contribute to elevated LPS in blood, caused by *E. coli* lysis, which exacerbates the immune system activity and low-grade inflammation (Sun & Shang, 2015; Van Den Berg et al., 1992). In addition to the antibiotic effect, chronic consumption of fat diet impairs gut microbiota, which impacts hepatic lipid metabolism and adiposity (Mahana et al., 2016).

We hypothesize that consumption of a diet with a high content of fat will accelerate the obese phenotype induced by early-life antibiotic administration, and hence increase the susceptibility to develop type 2 diabetes. The aim of the present study is to determine the effect of early-life antibiotic exposure in mice conventionalized with the Gram-negative bacteria *Escherichia coli* and weaned onto high-fat diet on glucose metabolism. Changes in insulin dynamics (insulin action and insulin secretion) are critical markers that predict impaired glucose metabolism and subsequent diabetes development. Identifying the mechanisms by which gut microbiota perturbations during the neonatal period increases diabetes susceptibility will contribute to the early identification of children and adolescents in risk and to propose strategies to mitigate environmental factors effect on gut microbiota shifts.

3.2 Material and Methods

3.2.1 Ethics Statement. The animal use in this study was approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP0000671) and performed according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

3.2.2. Animals and Experimental Design

3.2.2.1. Animal experiments. Eight-week-old germ free C57BL/6 mice (male n=8 and female n=8) housed in the University of Alberta Axenic Mouse Research Unit. Mice had free access to food and water and handled in a biosafety cabinet under specific pathogen-free conditions. All of the breeding pairs were colonized with a microbial community free of coliforms that was obtained from mice purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) previously used in our laboratory. The other half was exposed to a commensal *Escherichia coli* strain generated our laboratory (Ju et al., 2017). At parturition, half of the breeding pairs received amoxicillin in the drinking water. The randomly assigned pairs resulted in the 2 breeding pairs for each of the following groups: control (C), control and antibiotic (CA), *E. coli* (E), or *E. coli* and antibiotic. The offspring of these breeding pairs were the subject of the subsequent study.

3.2.2.2. Commensal *E. coli* colonization in mice and quantification in fecal samples.

Mice were identified to be free of *E. coli* by selective culture of fecal samples on MacConkey agar. The commensal *E. coli* strain isolated from a healthy NIH Swiss mouse (Harlan Laboratories, Inc., Indianapolis, IN) on MacConkey agar was described previously (Ju et al., 2017). The *E. coli* was cultivated in 5 ml of Luria-Bertani (LB) medium (Fisher Scientific, Nepean, Ontario, Canada) at 37° C for 16 h. Mice were treated with approximately 2.0×10^7 CFU/ml of *E. coli* by oral gavage with 0.1 ml of culture medium. Enumeration of *E. coli* was conducted by serial dilutions of fecal samples plated on MacConkey agar (BD, Sparks, MD), and total CFU counts per gram fecal contents were then calculated. Oral gavage with commensal bacteria (C and CA) or commensal bacteria and *E. coli* (E and EA) were performed every 7 days for two weeks.

3.2.2.3. Antibiotic treatment. The day a litter was born (postnatal day 1), treatment of the dam with amoxicillin was initiated according to its assigned group. The mothers from the antibiotic treatment groups (CA and EA) were targeted to receive 25 mg/kg/day of amoxicillin based on estimated water consumption using a concentration of 0.1667 mg/mL in *ad libitum* drinking water for 14 days. The pups were exposed to amoxicillin through the mother's milk, as it has been shown to be well absorbed and be transferred to milk (Roubaud-Baudron et al., 2019). The dosage of antibiotic selected was based on that used in previous studies with mice and estimating that a healthy mouse drinks 150 mL/kg/day of water (Cabral et al., 2019). Freshly mixed amoxicillin was provided every other day. The control groups (C, E) received water.

3.2.2.4. Exposure of weaned mice to high-fat diet. At PND21 mice were weaned onto a high-fat diet with 45% of energy from fat, 25% from protein, and 35% from carbohydrate (Research Diets Inc, New Brunswick, NJ, USA; Cat# D12451) until euthanized at PND84.

3.2.3 In vivo assays

3.2.3.1. Body weight measurement. Body weight was monitored during PND14, 28, 35,42, 70, 77 and 84.

3.2.3.2. Glucose tolerance test. Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) was performed in 10-week-old mice after an overnight fast (16 hours). Body weight was measured, and values of fasting blood glucose were obtained using glucometer (Counter Next One, Ascencia Diabetes Care Holdings, AG, Switzerland). 75 μ L of blood was collected from tail vein using

blood capillary tubes (Fisherbarand Color-coded capillary tubes, Fischer Scientific Lab, USA), centrifuged (1200 rpm, 10 min at 4 °C) and the plasma retained for fasting plasma insulin determination. Next, 2.0 g/kg/body weight of 30% glucose solution was administrated via intraperitoneal injection, and blood glucose concentration was measured at 15, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes.

3.2.3.3. Insulin tolerance test. Insulin tolerance tests were performed in 11-week-old mice after a fast of 4 hours. Fasting blood glucose concentration was measured with a glucometer and each mouse received 0.026 IU/kg/body weight of insulin administered via intraperitoneal injection. Blood glucose concentration was measured at 15, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes.

3.2.3.4. Animal termination and tissue collection. To study pancreatic β -cell development and gut microbiota composition at early life, half of the litter from all treatment groups, balanced for sex, were euthanized at PND14, while the remainder of the litters were weaned onto a high-fat diet.

PND14 and PND84 mice were euthanized by CO₂ asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation. Blood samples were collected by cardiac puncture in tubes containing EDTA and dipeptidyl peptidase inhibitor-4 (EMD Millipore, MA). Then, plasma was obtained by centrifugation at 3,000 x g for 10 min at 4°C and stored at -80°C. Ileal, cecal and colon contents and tissue were collected, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C.

3.2.4 Analysis of mouse tissues

3.2.4.1. Plasma insulin measurement. Plasma insulin concentration was determined using ALPCO Mouse Insulin ELISA kit (Cat# 80-INSMS-E01, E10, version September 13,2017, Salem

USA), following manual instructions. The specificity of this kit has a <0.01 cross-reactivity with mouse C-peptide 1 and 2 according to the manufacturer instructions.

3.2.4.2.DNA extraction, library preparation and intestinal microbiota composition analysis. DNA was extracted from cecum content and fecal samples as previously described. DNA concentrations were measured using Quant-iTTM PicoGreen® dsDNA Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). For amplicon library generation, the bacterial 16S rRNA gene V3 and V4 regions were amplified with gene-specific primers, using KAPA HiFi Hot Start Polymerase (Kapa Biosystems Inc, Wilmington, MA, USA), according to Illumina's 16S Metagenomics library prep guide. Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were picked using an open reference picking strategy and Greengenes for reference. A paired-end sequencing run was performed on an Illumina MiSeq platform (Illumina Inc, San Diego, CA) using 2 x 300 cycles. Sequence data were analyzed using QIIME 2 pipeline.

3.2.4.3 16S rRNA gene sequencing analysis. Raw sequence reads processing and analysis were performed using Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology 2 (QIIME2 v. 2020.2.0) software (Bolyen et al., 2019). Forward and reverse sequences were trimmed at 280 and 220 bp, respectively. Filtering, dereplication, chimera detection and merging of paired-end reads were performed using DADA2 software (Callahan et al., 2016). Multiple sequence alignment and phylogenetic tree generation were performed using MAFFT multiple sequence alignment (Katoh et al., 2013) and FastTree 2 (Price et al., 2010) softwares. Taxonomy classification was performed using scikit-learn naive Bayes machine-learning classifier (Pedregosa et al., 2012; Bokulich et al., 2018) and GreenGenes 99% OTUs (v13.8) as the reference sequences database. Alpha and beta diversity analysis were performed using the diversity core-metrics function in QIIME2. Linear

discriminant analysis effect size (LefSe) (Segata et al., 2011) was performed to determine which ASVs most likely explain differences between groups and analysis of composition of microbiomes (ANCOM) (Mandal et al., 2015) was performed to detect differentially abundant ASVs between samples.

3.2.5. Statistical analysis. Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (S.E.M). Group means were compared by Kruskal-Wallis test with a post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison, using GraphPad Prism v6.02 software (La Jolla, CA, USA). Results were considered significantly different at p<0.05. P values between 0.10 and 0.05 were considered as a trend.

3.3 Results

3.3.1. E. coli and antibiotic treatment

Introducing amoxicillin during neonatal age increase the susceptibility to glucose intolerance (Li et al., 2017). We asked whether earlier exposure to antibiotic in combination with *E. coli* colonization exacerbate high-fat diet negative effects. In this study C57BL/6J mice colonized with commensal bacteria or commensal bacteria and *E. coli* were used as breeders. When pregnancy was detected, the dams were exposed to antibiotic or water right after the pups were born. The pups through their dam's milk received the antibiotic for 14 days, in which the last day (PND14), half of the litter was euthanized to further experiments and the other half was weaned (PND21) onto a high-fat diet for later studies in glucose homeostasis (Section 3.3.1).



3.3.1 Study design. C57BL/6 breeding pairs (male n=8 and female n=8) were colonized by gavage with commensal bacteria free of coliforms, and half were exposed to our commensal *E. coli* strain. At parturition, half of the breeding pairs were randomly assigned in the antibiotic treatment group or water group. Having in total 4 groups control (C), control and antibiotic (CA), *E. coli* (E), or *E. coli* and antibiotic. The pups were treated during the first 14 days of life. At 14-day, half of the litter was euthanized, and the other half were weaned at day 21 onto a high fat diet. At PND 77-84 glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity assays were performed.

3.3.2. Phenotypic characterization of mice with early-life E. coli colonization and antibiotic

exposure at neonatal and young adult stage.

We investigated whether the early-life *E. coli* colonization and single antibiotic course had an impact on metabolic phenotype of neonatal mice. (Figure 3.3.2. A). The body weight of C, CA, and EA mice at PND14 was not different, however, pups from E group displayed a body weight (7.9 g± 0.12) approximately 25% higher than pups from the C (6.1 g ± 0.20, P= 0.004) or CA (5.8 g± 0.22, p=0.01) group (Figure 3.3.2. B). During the first three weeks after weaning, E and EA mice displayed a significantly higher body weight relative to C and CA mice (Figure 3.3.2. C). However, total body weight gain was not different between groups by PND84 (Figure 3.3.2. D).





Figure 3.3.2. Body weight of mice colonized with *E. coli* and antibiotic at PND14 and PND84. (A) PND14 mice body weight. (C) Body weight over time after weaning from PND28 to PND84. (B) Total body weight gain by PND84 after introduction of high-fat diet at PND21. C (control; n=8-10), CA (control + antibiotic; n=8-9), E (*E. coli*; n=6-7) and EA (*E. coli* + antibiotic; n=4) mice. Bar graphs and plots represent the mean \pm S.E.M. Means were compared by Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test. Significant differences are represented as *p<0.05 and ** p<0.005.

3.3.3. Commensal E. coli in combination with antibiotic induce glucose metabolism changes.

To determine whether early-life *E. coli* colonization and antibiotic treatment increase the susceptibility to insulin resistance and impair glucose metabolism in an obesity-phenotype, we examined the dynamics of insulin secretion and sensitivity in PND84 mice. After an overnight fasting period of 16 hours, mice from EA mice ($9.45 \pm 0.51 \text{ mmol/L}$) exhibited a significant increase in blood glucose concentration compared with the mice from C ($5.68 \pm 0.23 \text{ mmol/L}$, p= 0.001), CA ($6.31 \pm 0.30 \text{ mmol/L}$, p= 0.001), and E ($6.95 \pm 0.41 \text{ mmol/L}$, p= 0.01) mice (Figure

3.3.3A). Moreover, EA mice displayed an increased fasting plasma insulin (0.52 ± 0.15 ng/mL, p=0.03) (Figure 3.3.3. B) and HOMA-IR compared to the CA mice (32.8 ± 9.1 , p=0.03) (Figure 3.3.3. C). The HOMA-IR from C mice was lower compared to EA group, but did not reach a significant level (p=0.06).

We examined the effects of neonatal E. coli and antibiotic treatment on glucose metabolism. In the IPGTT, of the C mice group, blood glucose concentration reached its peak at 15 min, and thereafter began to decline through time (Figure 3.3.3. D). The blood glucose values in the CA mice followed a similar pattern as the C mice. In contrast to the C and CA groups, E mice had modestly higher blood glucose excursion in the IPGTT assay that was close to significant (p=0.058). Notably, EA exhibited an increased blood glucose excursion that was 28% and 30% higher than C (p=0.005) and CA group (p=0.05) (Figure 3.3.3 D) and significant differences were identified in AUC values between C (p=0.05) and CA (p=0.001) compared to EA mice, while E mice group showed a trend (0.058) compared to EA mice (Figure 3.3.3. E). In the ITT assay, treatment had a significant overall effect in insulin sensitivity (p<0.0001). However, no differences were observed between groups during the post-hoc analysis regarding single time points or in the AUC. (Figure 3.3.3. F, G). Taken together, IPGTT and ITT results suggest that the reason for a worse glucose tolerance in EA during IPGTT is not due to reduced insulin action but rather due to other mechanisms. In fact, our previous work shows that β -cell function was altered in neonatal piglets exposed to amoxicillin (Li et al., 2017) which is consistent with the present findings. All these together, suggest that in neonatal period, the colonization of E. coli together with antibiotic administration induce changes in glucose homeostasis in an obese phenotype, which could be in part due to impaired beta cell function.

C= Control (n=8, 5F + 3M)
 CA=Control + antibiotic (n=9, 4F + 5M)
 E= *E. coli* (n=7, 3F+4M)
 EA= *E. coli* + antibiotic (n=4, 4M)



Figure 3.3.3. Impaired glucose homeostasis in mice with *E. coli* colonization treated with antibiotic at neonatal stage. PND84 mice (A) fasting blood glucose, (B) fasting plasma insulin, and (C) HOMA-IR values. (D, E) IPGTT and (F, G) ITT time course of blood glucose concentration and corresponding AUC analysis. Bar graphs and plots represent the mean \pm S.E.M. Means were compared by Kruskal-Wallis with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test. Significant differences are represented as *p<0.05, ** p<0.005 and *** p<0.001.

3.3.4. Effect of early-life antibiotic exposure on E. coli colonization microbiota. We

observed that *E. coli* abundance was transiently depleted in the dams exposed to antibiotic (data not shown), suggesting that this effect might be observed in the pups as well. At PND 21 and 84 the AE and E *E. coli* counts did not significantly differ (Figure 3.3.4).



Figure 3.3.4. *E. coli* abundance is transiently depleted in mice treated with antibiotic at PND21. *E. coli* counts from E and EA mice fecal samples PND21 (first day of weaning) and at PND84. E (*E. coli*; n=6) and EA (*E. coli* + antibiotic; n=4) mice. Scatter dot plot represent individual mouse. The bar represents the mean, and the whiskers \pm S.E.M. Analysis done Kruskal-Wallis, with post hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences are represented as *p<0.05.

3.3.5. Effect of E. coli and early-life antibiotic exposure on intestinal microbiota

Breeders mice that were colonized with *E. coli* displayed a different microbial community diversity that was characterized by a low abundance of Lactobacillus, Ruminococcaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Lactobacillaceae and Bacteroidaceae (results not shown) compared to the breeders conventionalized with commensal bacteria strain.

We determined whether E. coli and antibiotic exposure at early life could drive changes in gut microbiota community structure after mice were no longer being exposed to antibiotic. At PND84, gut microbiota community diversity expressed as Faith's phylogenetic values was significantly decreased in EA mice compared to E mice (p=0.035). Microbial richness and evenness measured by the Shannon Index were similar among all treatment groups (Figure 3.3.5 A). At the phyla level, C, CA, and EA PND21 mice were characterized by a high abundance of *Firmicutes* compared with E (p=0.01). *Bacteroidetes* was the second most abundant phylum in PND21, C mice contributing an average of 13.4%, while in E mice *Proteobacteria* was the second most abundant phylum contributing 37.7% of the microbial community. At PND84, Firmicutes remained as the most dominant phylum in C, CA, E and EA treatment groups. In the C, CA, and E groups, Bacteroidetes is the second most abundant phyla, representing averages of 23.7%, 44.1% and 37.6% (Figure 3.3.5. B). The community structure (β -diversity) in PND84 EA group was significantly distinct compared to C mice (p=0.014) and E mice (p=0.034), while dissimilarities in community structure were not identified between C, CA, and E mice (Figure 3.3.5. C). Microbial composition of PND84 CA and EA mice exhibited a reduced abundance of S24-7 and Peptococacceae compared to E mice group (p=0.031), but not C mice. Increased abundance of *Turicibacter* was observed in the EA mice that was significantly different compared to C mice (p=0.048) (Figure 3.3.5. D).

Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LefSe) and taxa abundances revealed antibiotic exposure had an impact on gut microbiota community structure that persisted in long-term in PND84 mice. *Clostridia* and *Erysipelotrichia* relative abundance increased significantly in EA group. While *Bacteroidales* and *S24-7* relative abundance was significantly increased in the E mice (Figure 3.3.5. E).

Proteobacteria

Bacteroidetes

Firmicutes

EA





Group 1	Group 2	P value Pairwise Permanova
Control	Control + antibiotic	0.182
	E. coli	0.156
	E. coli + antibiotic	0.014
Control + antibiotic	E. coli + antibiotic	0.630
E. coli	Control + antibiotic	0.121
	E. coli + antibiotics	0.034



0.6-

ab

ċ

0.0

PND84 Bacteroidetes S24-7

b

CA

а

È

b

EA





PND84





74





b: S24_7 c: Bacteroidales d: Clostridium e: Erysipelotrichaceae f: Erysipelotrichales



Figure 3.3.5. Characterization of gut microbiota in mice exposed to *E. coli* and antibiotic at early life. (A) PND84 mice Faith's phylogenetic diversity and Shannon values. (B) Relative abundance of gut bacteria at phyla level at PND14 and PND84 mice from all treatment groups. (C) Comparison of gut microbiota community structure between all the treatment groups at PND84. β -diversity visualized by Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA), using Bray-Curtis dissimilarities. Significant differences were detected using Pairwise Permanova. (D) Relative abundance of selected intestinal bacteria from mice at PND84. (E) LefSe analysis with cladograms showing significantly differential taxa between *E. coli* mice treated with water or antibiotic. Shading indicates significant overrepresentation of indicated taxa representing the specific treatment group (p <0.05; LDA>2). C (control; n= 4-5), CA (control + antibiotic; n=4), E (*E. coli*; n=4) and EA (*E. coli* + antibiotic; n=3) mice. Scatter dot plot represent individual mouse. The bar represents the mean, and the whiskers ± S.E.M. For (A) and (D), the analysis was done by Kruskal-Wallis, with post hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Means that do not share a letter (a, or b) are significantly different (p<0.05.) Significant differences are represented as *p<0.05

3.4. Discussion

Type 2 diabetes is a metabolic disorder diagnosed simply by the presence of hyperglycemia, yet impaired glucose homeostasis can be caused by the interaction of multiple factors (Pearson, 2019). Epidemiological and clinical studies have identified shifts in gut microbiota composition that increase the susceptibility to develop type 2 diabetes (Wu et al., 2020; Yassour, Vatanen, et al., 2016). Early-life antibiotics and dietary patterns with high-calorie content are considered as two of the major drivers of gut microbiota imbalance associated with insulin resistance (Koch, 2019; Rohr et al., 2020). However, few studies have explored the mechanism by which antibiotics at early life, in combination with post-weaning high-fat diet, induce changes in glucose metabolism that could lead to diabetes development in later life (Li et al., 2017). Hence, we aimed to investigate whether a single antibiotic course used in neonatal mice conventionalized with *E. coli* would exacerbate high-fat diet-induced glucose metabolism

impairment later in life.

Amoxicillin is a broad-spectrum antibiotic that inhibits bacteria cell wall synthesis and has limited effects on bacteria expressing β -lactamase, like members of *Enterobacterioceae* such as *E. coli*. Previous studies in infants and animal models observed a continuing abundance of *Enterobacterioceae* after broad-spectrum antibiotic exposure (Li et al., 2017; Ozkul et al., 2020). Exposure to multiple courses of antibiotic (Aversa et al., 2021; Rasmussen et al., 2018) during the first 2-4 years of life is associated with increasing prevalence of obesity (Kleber, 2010)(Sinha et al., 2002), a risk factor for developing impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting blood glucose, which are clinical markers used for diabetes diagnosis. We identified that body weight of PND14 E mice was significantly higher compared to C and CA mice, but not EA mice. These results suggest that the presence of *E. coli* has an impact on neonatal body weight gain.

Weaning is a critical period for growth and metabolic adjustment to diet change (Stolovich-Rain et al., 2015). Consumption of excess of energy establishes an environment of metabolic stress that accelerates β -cell dysfunction and appearance of insulin resistance (Sinha et al., 2002; Kleber, 2010). E mice at PND21 gain weight during the first 3 weeks after weaning. Notably, we observed that EA mice body weight increased in the 5th and 6th week of life and body weight gain continued over time similarly among treatment groups.

Imbalanced gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes has been associated with impaired fasting blood glucose and glucose tolerance (Wu et al., 2020). In the present study, PND84 EA mice displayed high fasting blood glucose, fasting plasma insulin and HOMA-IR values suggesting the presence of insulin resistance. Abnormal glucose metabolism was observed in the EA mice during *in vivo* studies. EA mice displayed elevated blood glucose concentration for a longer period that was

significantly different compared to C and CA mice. In addition to this, *in vivo* experiments, suggest that EA displayed a worse glucose tolerance that is not caused by a decrease insulin action, that are observed in the neonatal piglets exposed to antibiotics (Ju et al., 2017). Overall, EA displayed significant changes in glucose homeostasis compared to mice that received antibiotic alone or *E*. *coli* colonization, that could be explained by an impaired β -cell function. Further studies are required to examine GSIS in isolated islets from EA mice.

In the present study, changes in body weight in the EA mice suggest that E. *coli* colonization at early life might have transient effects on energy storage that is observed in body weight increase. However, a continued exposure to gut microbiota stressors (antibiotics) has a higher impact on metabolism, that results in impaired glucose homeostasis at later life, increasing the susceptibility to develop diabetes.

Antibiotic administration during the neonatal period is associated with adiposity, changes in lipid metabolism in the liver, and activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in ileum (Cox et al., 2014). Moreover, an increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines could be induced by LPS produced by antibiotic-induced bacteria lysis and increased intestinal permeability induced by high-fat diet (Sun & Shang, 2015). Since early-life antibiotic exposure induces transient shifts on gut microbiota composition and long-term affects host's metabolism (Li et al., 2017; Zhong et al., 2019b), we asked whether *E. coli* colonization contributes to metabolic outcomes induced by antibiotic administration at early-life in an obese phenotype. In our study, we colonized breeders with commensal *E. coli* that was stable in E breeders during the experiment, however, *E. coli* counts were depleted in EA breeders and EA PND21 mice after antibiotic exposure. In contrast to our results, previous work in our lab observed an *E. coli* bloom in amoxicillin treated piglets (Li et al.,

2017), suggesting that the E. coli strain we used did not have amoxicillin resistance.

We found early-life antibiotic and *E. coli* colonization had no significant effects on microbial richness and evenness. We observed that early-life antibiotic exposure had a deep effect on community structure and diversity, regardless of *E. coli* colonization. In agreement with other studies, we observed that a single course of amoxicillin is sufficient to exert changes in bacterial relative abundance (Ozkul et al., 2020; Roubaud-Baudron et al., 2019). Abundance of *Bacteroidetes S24-7* and *Peptococcaceae* was reduced in mice treated with antibiotic during the first weeks of life, in both CA and EA mice. *Bacteroidetes S24-7* family stimulates colonic mucus production, a layer that protects gut barrier integrity and prevents the translocation of pathogens and microbial products (Roubaud-Baudron et al., 2019). A decrease in *Bacteroidetes S24-7* abundance induced by amoxicillin treatment at early life is associated with increased susceptibility to infection, suggesting the importance of *Bacteroidetes S24-7* as a mucus layer producer (Roubaud-Baudron et al., 2019). The reduction in *S24-7* in AE mice does not seem to be responsible for the observed impact on metabolic outcomes, as the reduction in this genus was also observed in CA mice that showed similar metabolic phenotypes as the C mice.

The present study has numerous limitations that should be addressed in the future. First, the low number of samples per treatment group, and equal distribution of females and males' limits interpretation and generalizability. The EA group was constituted by 4 males, which are prone to developing obesity in a shorter time than females. Hence, the effects observed could be confounded by sex imbalance between treatment groups, rather than a true treatment effect. Moreover, we observed that males kept alone in a cage had lower *E. coli* counts compared to those that were co-housed. Different approaches, such exchanging bedding, could help to maintain *E. coli* abundance

stability. 16S rRNA gene sequencing is a powerful tool that provides extensive information of microbiota profiles. However, the results are relative rather than absolute, so bacteria with low abundance is not included in the analysis. In our results, 16S rRNA microbiota analysis did not detect *E. coli* in any of the treatment groups (E or EA); on the contrary, we observed a high *E. coli* counts in both E and EA mice after plating on MacConkey agar. Microbial composition and metabolite analyses were unable to be completed because of the limited amount of tissue of PND14 mice.

In conclusion, we found that combined E. *coli* and antibiotic administration has long-lasting effects on glucose metabolism in mice with an obesity phenotype. We propose that the presence of E. *coli* or absence of Firmicutes members like Lachnospiraceae, Ruminococcaceae, and Lactobacillus suggest that changes in bacterial ecology in the gut can alter the metabolic interactions between different bacterial species, or between microbial species and the host, and consequently exerts effects on energy storage that favor weight gain and exacerbate the early-life antibiotic treatment.

This combination also has long-lasting effects on fasting blood glucose and fasting insulin concentration, critical values to detect insulin resistance. We observed EA mice had an impaired glucose homeostasis, suggesting that *E. coli* and antibiotic administration might affect insulin secretion, however, more studies of β -cell function need to be done.

Chapter 4. General Discussion

4.1. Summary and Conclusions

The studies in this thesis focused on examining early-life gut microbiota perturbations and their long-term effects on glucose homeostasis. By using animal models with an imbalance in gut microbiota induced by neonatal antibiotic and/or E. coli exposure we observed an overall change in the phenotype that included a transient alteration in gut microbiota composition that was associated with changes in the gene expression of key transcription factors and incretins involved in β -cell functional maturation and immune factors during the neonatal period, which led to an impaired glucose tolerance later in life. Although, we used different animal models (section 2.2.1 and section 3.2.2.1.), we observed effects on glucose metabolism in both pigs and mouse models in response to antibiotic treatment. Our first model involved neonatal piglets exposed to amoxicillin during the first 2 weeks of life and observed changes in the phenotype at PND7, 14 and 49. The resulting gut microbiota alteration was associated with changes in the expression of GLP-1 synthesis enzymes in isolated islets, inflammatory factors, and an altered β-cell response to glucose. At PND14 isolated islets appeared to have a normal development, however displayed a downregulation in the expression of transcription factors involved in β -cell maturation. In adult pigs (PND49) we detected low islet content and a decreased mass in both α -and β -cells and hyperinsulinemia, which were consistent with previous work in our lab. In our second model, which was early-life antibiotic and E. coli treatment followed to maturity in mice under long-term high-fat diet, impaired glucose homeostasis and insulin resistance was observed. Our results support the notion that neonatal antibiotic treatment compromises the stability of microbial

ecology in the gut, which impacts the host's metabolic programming. Different authors reported microbial ecology changes associated with increased hepatic steatosis, by observing an upregulation of pathways related to lipogenesis in the liver (Cho et al., 2012; Cox et al., 2014; Mahana et al., 2016; Nobel et al., 2015). While our studies identified changes in gut microbiota composition and its long-term effect on β -cell functional maturation. Hence, the studies presented in this thesis is in line with other authors showing al altered gut microbiota composition induced by early-life antibiotics, but we provide different mechanism that is relevant for diabetes pathogenesis.

4.1.1. New information about the effects of antibiotics on the interaction between the gut microbiota and host metabolism.

Several epidemiological studies reported that neonatal dysbiosis induced by antibiotic treatment increased the susceptibility to develop overweight in young children, which is a risk factor for future diabetes (Ajslev et al., 2011; Trasande et al., 2013). Studies in mice using sub-therapeutic or therapeutic doses of antibiotics at preweaning and postweaning periods have provided the causal molecular mechanisms between alterations in the gut microbial community with an increase in adiposity. In the early-life antibiotic mouse model, studies have observed an upregulation triglycerides synthesis and lipogenesis in the liver, associated with increased hepatic gene expression of *PPAR y*, *CD36*, and fatty acid binding protein-2 (*FABP2*) (Cho et al., 2012; Cox et al., 2014). Previous work from our lab using a swine model has provided evidence that changes in specific bacteria taxa abundance alter pancreatic islet development and function, and lead to impaired glucose metabolism (Li et al., 2017). We hypothesized that gut microbiota composition

perturbations will impact glucose homeostasis through mechanisms that involve β -cell dysfunction and proinflammatory cytokines that mediate microbe-host interaction.

Other studies have reported minimal disruption of microbiota composition induced by amoxicillin, a broad spectrum β -lactam antibiotic that is commonly prescribed to infants (Cox et al., 2014). Unlike studies in mice where antibiotic administration is followed from preweaning to adulthood (Mahana et al., 2016; Ruiz et al., 2017), a 14-day course of oral amoxicillin at a therapeutic dose during the first 2 weeks of life was used in our study to achieve gut microbiota imbalance. This more closely mimics the dose and exposure of children to treat infection (Willing et al., 2011). In the present study, we used a neonatal piglet as an animal model due to its similarity in the proportion of endocrine cell types in islets, and pancreatic islet cytoarchitecture, which are relevant for diabetes research (Renner et al., 2020). Moreover, neonatal pigs were co-housed and fed on sow's milk to mimic human infant environmental exposures.

The findings of this study revealed that a single course of antibiotics in neonatal piglets had a short-term effect on gut microbial community composition but detectable impact on host's glucose tolerance later in life. β -cell dysfunction and β -cell mass loss is one of the primary determinants of impaired glucose homeostasis which underlie diabetes (Cohrs et al., 2020). The β -cell's ability to regulate insulin secretion in response to nutrient-metabolic demands is acquired during the weaning period, and inadequate β -cell compensation to increased metabolic demands contributes to the susceptibility of future diabetes (Avrahami et al., 2020; Tixi-Verdugo et al., 2018). In the current study, antibiotic-treated pigs had β -cells that were hyper-responsive to glucose in the first weeks of life. Notably, antibiotic-treated pigs displayed hyperinsulinemia that was associated with a decrease in β -cell mass in adulthood. The observed phenotype in neonatal piglets suggest that gut microbiota perturbations induced by stressors can negatively impact β -cell functional maturation and growth, which consequently increase the predisposition to diabetes.

Pancreatic islets from neonatal piglets exposed to antibiotic during the first week of life (PND7), exhibited an upregulation of enzymes involved in GLP-1 synthesis, however, islet cytoarchitecture and specialized endocrine cells were not affected. Notably, isolated islets of PND14 pigs had a downregulation in the expression of *PDX1*, *TCF7L2*, and *IGF2*, which are critical regulators of β -cell proliferation and mass expansion and have an important protective role towards metabolic stressors. Moreover, the activation of *TCF7L2* signaling pathway stimulates GLP-1 secretion, which also promotes β -cell proliferation at early stages of life. In our study, isolated islets from antibiotic treated piglets had abnormal gene expression of these critical factors that could have contributed to the aberrant changes in β -cell mass and glucose response seen in later life. Our animal model displays a phenotype that is comparable to human neonatal diabetes (Lemelman et al., 2018) and rodent models of IUGR (Ackermann & Gannon, 2007) and Goto-Kakizaki (Movassat et al., 2007) where diabetes development is associated mainly with β -cell failure that is programmed early in life, however, our model provides a novel mechanism by which altered gut microbiota composition by antibiotics is the major contributor.

Two weeks of antibiotic exposure was sufficient to alter ileal microbial community richness and structure in neonatal piglets, like the effects described in epidemiological studies in human infants after antibiotic exposure. This results was consistent with a previous study in our lab (Li et al., 2017) antibiotic-treated piglets at PND7 displayed a transient change in specific bacteria taxa abundance, which among them was Enterobacteriaceae.

Alterations in gut microbiota composition can elicit a cascade of inflammatory responses and enhance intestinal permeability. SCFA promote intestinal barrier integrity by increasing tightjunction protein gene expression, however, in early-life antibiotic model, an increased SCFA production were associated with adiposity in mice exposed to neonatal antibiotic (Cox et al., 2014). Our model does not show differences in SCFA concentration in cecal contents and SCFA receptors expression was normal in the ileum and pancreatic islets, however, we observed a downregulation of tight-junction protein expression in PND 7 pigs. The loss of tight-junction proteins facilitates the translocation of LPS, an outer cell membrane component of Gram-negative bacteria such as *Escherichia*, that triggers TNF- α gene expression via TLR-4 (Cornejo-Pareja et al., 2019). In the current study, 1-week old piglets had significantly increased LPS in blood that was accompanied with an increased expression of TNF and antimicrobial peptide NPG1 genes in isolated islets, suggesting a local inflammatory response due to LPS elevation. Antimicrobial peptides have a protective function in pancreatic islets by preventing macrophage infiltration in the pancreas and proinflammatory cytokines damage to β-cells (Sun et al., 2015). Proglucagon-derived peptides, GLP-1 and GLP-2 are secreted from L-cells in the small and large intestine in response to tissue injury (Panaro et al., 2020). Several studies reported an increase of GLP-1 in the ileum in response to LPS-induced tissue injury (Lebrun et al., 2017; Nguyen et al., 2014; Panaro et al., 2020), while in contrast we reported an increase expression of GLP-1 receptor and enzymes related to GLP-1 synthesis in isolated islets, but not ileum of early-life antibiotic-treated piglets. These differences might be attributed to LPS route of administration (intraperitoneal administration, intravenously and infused by mini-osmotic pump implemented subcutaneously), adjusted doses (injection of 0.5, 1 or 2 mg/kg or infuse 300 or 1000 ug/kg) that might reach faster to distal gut and generate acute responses to GLP-1 synthesis and secretion, while our study reflects endogenous LPS production by changes in bacteria taxa of the gut (Lebrun et al., 2017; Nguyen et al., 2014; Panaro et al., 2020).

Nguyen and authors (Nguyen et al., 2014) reported that GSIS in mice increased after LPS intraperitoneal injection or continuous infusion, however the effect was not strong in mice administered LPS with mini osmotic pumps. GLP-1 levels significantly increased after intraperitoneal injection of LPS and increased further after an oral glucose load. In our study, piglets exposed to antibiotics at early life displayed β -cells that were hyper-responsive to glucose, in parallel with an increase GLP-1 concentration in blood, that could have been induced by the transient elevation of LPS derived from Gram-negative bacteria Enterobacteriaceae. However, our study reveals the long-term effect on the host's β -cell metabolic programing, while Nguyen only explored LPS effects on GSIS.

In summary, antibiotic exposure of neonatal piglets induced changes in microbial ecology, which was characterized by an increased abundance in Enterobacteriaceae. During the first week of antibiotic treatment, transient elevation of GLP-1, immune factors and LPS in blood were detected. Later, we observed a downregulation of key factors related to β -cell maturation, that were associated with hyperinsulinemia events seen later in life.

4.1.2. New information about the effects of early-life antibiotics in combination with E. coli colonization on glucose homeostasis

Traditionally, metabolic stress induced by an excess of nutrient consumption is described as a major driver of diabetes incidence in infants (Sinha et al. 2002). Longitudinal studies identified

an accelerated and more aggressive β -cell dysfunction in children in contrast to diabetes progression in adults (Hosking et al., 2013). Hence, there is the need to identify the factors that trigger mechanisms underlying β -cell dysfunction that will enable the early detection of children at high risk to develop diabetes. Chapter 2 findings revealed that the early-life antibiotic piglet gut was enriched with Enterobacteria, which belongs to Gram-negative bacteria classification, accompanied with a transient increase in LPS production. Both LPS and Gram-negative bacteria abundance are main contributors of metabolic endotoxemia (Everard & Cani, 2013). Hence we hypothesized that early-life perturbations induced by antibiotic exposure and *E. coli* colonization will increase the incidence and severity of impaired glucose regulation induced by high-fat diet.

This study confirms and extends our knowledge of early-life gut microbiota perturbations impact on glucose metabolism later in life. Mice neonatally colonized with *E. coli* displayed the highest body weight among the treatment groups. However, when mice colonized with *E. coli* were also administered amoxicillin and then weaned onto a high-fat diet, they displayed insulin resistance as calculated by the HOMA-IR index. An altered glucose handling was seen during the IPGTT and ITT assay in the early-life antibiotic and *E. coli* mice, suggesting that other mechanisms different to insulin resistance might be induced in this phenotype. Early-life antibiotic and *E. coli* mice displayed altered glucose handling during the IPGTT assay. Even though, insulin sensitivity was affected by treatment effect in the ITT values, during post-hoc analysis the treatment effect was lost. Altogether, our data suggest, that gut microbiota is a key player in the development of impaired glucose homeostasis, one of the main clinical markers used to diagnosis diabetes in infants and adults (Arslanian et al., 2018).

The neonatal stage is a critical window for gut microbiota maturation and stability, and perturbations induced by antibiotics during this period contributes significantly to development of an obese phenotype in adulthood (Cox et al., 2014; Mahana et al., 2016). The findings of this study provide further supporting to the association of early-life antibiotic administration and the development of negative metabolic outcomes in the future. According to Cani et al (2012), animal models with a prolonged consumption of high-fat diet, is favors the development of metabolic endotoxemia and diabetes (Cani et al., 2012; Régnier et al., 2020). In the present study, early-life antibiotic exposure and *E. coli* colonization together enhanced an impaired glucose homeostasis in mature mice. Although, in this study neonatal mice were exposed to amoxicillin through the dam's milk during the first 14 days of life, we confirmed changes in metabolic phenotype after an antibiotic course during early life that are line with epidemiological studies (Aversa et al., 2021; Azad et al., 2017; Trasande et al., 2013) and rodent models (Cho et al., 2012; Mahana et al., 2016; Nobel et al., 2015).

Gut microbiota in subjects with prediabetes and diabetes is characterized by low bacteria diversity, but enrichment in specific bacteria taxa like *Escherichia* and Enterobacteriaceae (Larsen et al., 2010; Pinna et al., 2021). Nevertheless, changes in the relative abundance of Firmicutes or Bacteroidetes bacterial phyla has not been consistent in human diabetes studies (Ahmad et al., 2019; Chávez-Carbajal et al., 2020; Gaike et al., 2020), suggesting that shifts in phyla might be influenced by factors not related to the disease.

In the mouse study, amoxicillin exposure resulted in changes in microbial community structure regardless of *E. coli* presence although did not affect richness and evenness in mice with

commensal bacteria or E. coli. Firmicutes became the dominant phyla in preweaning mice and mature mice fed with high-fat diet, whereas Bacteroidetes were drastically depleted. In the mouse model, the microbial community did not rebound the same way as it did in the piglet model, which can be explained by the difference in housing (cohousing in piglet studies). It is likely that the piglet model better reflects the situation in children that are exposed to others that are not treated with antibiotic and future experiments in mice should include co-housing of treatment groups after the antibiotic exposure. Different studies have reported that amoxicillin treatment at pre- and postweaning has an intermediate effect on gut microbial community and metabolic-immune phenotype compared to tylosin (macrolide), another common prescribed antibiotic that elicits greater microbiota perturbations and exacerbates colitis induced by dextran sodium sulfate, hepatic steatosis later in life, and susceptibility to more severe outcomes of bacterial infection (Nobel et al., 2015; Ozkul et al., 2020; Roubaud-Baudron et al., 2019). The mild effect of amoxicillin in gut microbiota could be explained by its spectrum of activity, however stronger effects on microbial ecology are seen in pulsed-antibiotic treatment (Ozkul et al., 2020). In concordance with studies of antibiotic exposure during early life and changes in gut microbial community, we observed that under a background of a high-fat diet, early-life amoxicillin and E. coli, impaired glucose homeostasis is accelerated. The findings of this study sustain that gut microbiota impairment induced by environmental factors at early life could be used in combination with clinical markers, for the early detection of children at risk to develop diabetes.

4.2 Limitations and Caveats

Current findings revealed a significant role of gut microbiota stability in the optimal

maturation of β -cells during early life. Nevertheless, a few limitations apply to the work presented that restricts conclusions and introduced concepts.

Pancreatic β -cell function is highly influenced by nutrients and microbial-derived metabolites like bile acids, short-chain fatty acids, and branched aminoacids. We could not determine changes in gut microbiota-derived metabolites from neonatal piglets exposed to antibiotics, since these were not measured in blood (Chapter 2). Hence, the possibility that gut microbiota metabolites together with nutrients play a significant role in β -cell functional maturation, and early life antibiotic could have impacted the proportion of gut microbiota metabolites and contribute to impair β -cell function.

Specific experimental gaps remain, as was discussed in Chapter 3. Gut microbiota from mice can be influenced by a wide number of different factors, that include the facilities and room environment, mouse genetic background, age, and sex. Although mouse facility and animal procedures were followed as stated in the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines (Chapter 3, section 3.2.1) the number of successful breeders were 60% of the total group. Hence, the number of litters per treatment group were not equally distributed in all groups. Moreover, this study has a statistical limitation: different number of mice per treatment group, uneven number of females and males and litter effect could have limited the statistical power of this study, and limited treatment effect.

The *E. coli* strain used for this thesis was not resistant to amoxicillin in comparison to the neonatal piglet study (Chapter 2). Analysis from ileum samples of neonatal piglets exposed to amoxicillin was enriched with Enterobacteriaceae. Future studies in the mouse model should include both amoxicillin susceptible and resistant *E. coli* strains.

In Chapter 3, the *E. coli* bacteria count was not stable after antibiotic treatment, however it recovers gradually through time. Bacterial community profiles based on 16S rRNA sequencing can capture specific bacterial taxa shifts but has low sensitivity and limited resolution. Low abundance of *E. coli* in this study could not have been detected by 16S rRNA sequencing, making it hard to compare *E. coli* abundance before and after antibiotic use.

4.3 Future Perspectives

The work presented in this thesis provides a new perspective regarding the effect of earlylife perturbations on host-microbe metabolic interaction, and its contribution to metabolic disorders development in later life. However, this thesis raises several questions for further investigation.

4.3.1 Pancreatic islet epigenetic markers induced by antibiotic exposure at neonatal stage

While we described transient changes in gene expression of enzymes involved in GLP-1 synthesis, transcription factors (Pdx1 and TCF7L2) and growth factors (Igf-1), the mechanism by which these events are regulated remains unclear. Epigenetic mechanisms like DNA methylation, histone post-translation modification and noncoding RNAs are largely involved in metabolic and immune programing (Nielsen et al., 2014). Environmental factors such as diet, maternal factors and even pathogens can trigger gene expression controlled by histone modification and leave a metabolic and immune imprinting in the host (Zhang & Cao, 2019). During the first year of life the β -cell maturation process depends on gene repression mediated by epigenetic markers. The expression of "forbidden genes" causes defects during β -cell maturation that leads to poor glucose concentration regulation. In IUGR models, epigenetics modifications in *PDX1* were identified,

suggesting that the downregulation of *PDX1* expression compromise β -cell development and favoring diabetes development later in life (Khare et al., 2016).

4.3.2. LPS/TLR-4/GLP-1 signaling pathway in neonatal pancreatic islets

The metabolic effects of GLP-1 have been extensively studied and are considered significant for lowering glucose concentration in diabetes. However, GLP-1 has an additional antiinflammatory effect by decreasing gene expression of proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-6 from macrophages, in models that induced pancreatic islet inflammation induced by streptozotocin or high-fat diet (Lee & Jun, 2016). The activation of TLR-4 by LPS has been described in L-cells, however, an alternative mechanism of GLP-1 secretion in pancreas under the stimulation of TLR-4 has not been described.

References

- Ackermann, A. M., & Gannon, M. (2007). Molecular regulation of pancreatic β-cell mass development, maintenance, and expansion. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 38(1–2), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1677/JME-06-0053
- Adams, J. D., & Vella, A. (2018). What Can Diabetes-Associated Genetic Variation in TCF7L2
 Teach Us about the Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes? *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders*, 16(8), 383–389. https://doi.org/10.1089/met.2018.0024
- Aguayo-Mazzucato, C., Koh, A., El Khattabi, I., Li, W. C., Toschi, E., Jermendy, A., Juhl, K., Mao, K., Weir, G. C., Sharma, A., & Bonner-Weir, S. (2011). Mafa expression enhances glucose-responsive insulin secretion in neonatal rat beta cells. *Diabetologia*, 54(3), 583– 593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-010-2026-z
- Aguayo-Mazzucato, Cristina, Sanchez-Soto, C., Godinez-Puig, V., Gutiérrez-Ospina, G., & Hiriart, M. (2006). Restructuring of pancreatic islets and insulin secretion in a postnatal critical window. *PLoS ONE*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000035
- Ahlgren, U., Jonsson, J., Jonsson, L., Simu, K., & Edlund, H. (1998). β-cell-specific inactivation of the mouse Ipf1/Pdx1 gene results in loss of the β-cell phenotype and maturity onset diabetes. *Genes and Development*, *12*(12), 1763–1768. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.12.12.1763
- Ahmad, A., Yang, W., Chen, G., Shafiq, M., Javed, S., Zaidi, S. S. A., Shahid, R., Liu, C., & Bokhari, H. (2019). Analysis of gut microbiota of obese individuals with type 2 diabetes and healthy individuals. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(12), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226372

- Ajslev, T. A., Andersen, C. S., Gamborg, M., Sørensen, T. I. A., & Jess, T. (2011). Childhood overweight after establishment of the gut microbiota: The role of delivery mode, prepregnancy weight and early administration of antibiotics. *International Journal of Obesity*, 35(4), 522–529. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.27
- Allin, K. H., Nielsen, T., & Pedersen, O. (2015). Mechanisms in endocrinology: Gut microbiota in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *172*(4), R167–R177. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-14-0874
- Allin, K. H., Tremaroli, V., Caesar, R., Jensen, B. A. H., Damgaard, M. T. F., Bahl, M. I., Licht, T. R., Hansen, T. H., Nielsen, T., Dantoft, T. M., Linneberg, A., Jørgensen, T., Vestergaard, H., Kristiansen, K., Franks, P. W., Hansen, T., Bäckhed, F., & Pedersen, O. (2018).
 Aberrant intestinal microbiota in individuals with prediabetes. *Diabetologia*, *61*(4), 810–820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4550-1
- American Association of Diabetes. (2020). Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. *Diabetes Care*, 43(Suppl 1), S14–S31. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc20-S002
- Andersen, A., Christensen, A. S., Knop, F. K., & Vilsbøll, T. (2019). Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists for the treatment of Type 2 diabetes. *Ugeskrift for Laeger*, 18;181(12):V10180725.
- Arda, H. E., Li, L., Tsai, J., Torre, E. A., Rosli, Y., Peiris, H., Spitale, R. C., Dai, C., Gu, X., Qu, K., Wang, P., Wang, J., Grompe, M., Scharfmann, R., Snyder, M. S., Bottino, R., Powers, A. C., Chang, H. Y., & Kim, S. K. (2016). Age-dependent pancreatic gene regulation reveals mechanisms governing human β cell function. *Cell Metabolism*, 23(5), 909–920.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.04.002

- Arslanian, S. A., Kahn, S. E., Buchanan, T. A., Edelstein, S. L., Ehrmann, D. A., Nadeau, K. J., Palmer, J. P., & Utzschneider, K. M. (2018). Metabolic contrasts between youth and adults with impaired glucose tolerance or recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes: II. Observations using the oral glucose tolerance test. *Diabetes Care*, *41*(8), 1707–1716. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-0243
- Aversa, Z., Atkinson, E. J., Schafer, M. J., Theiler, R. N., Rocca, W. A., Blaser, M. J., & LeBrasseur, N. K. (2021). Association of Infant Antibiotic Exposure With Childhood Health Outcomes. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 96(1), 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.07.019
- Avrahami, D., Wang, Y. J., Schug, J., Feleke, E., Gao, L., Liu, C., Naji, A., Glaser, B., & Kaestner, K. H. (2020). Single-cell transcriptomics of human islet ontogeny defines the molecular basis of β-cell dedifferentiation in T2D. *Molecular Metabolism*, 42(July), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2020.101057
- Azad, M. B., Moossavi, S., Owora, A., & Sepehri, S. (2017). Early-Life Antibiotic Exposure,
 Gut Microbiota Development, and Predisposition to Obesity. *Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series*, 88, 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1159/000455216
- Bäckhed, F. (2011). Programming of host metabolism by the gut microbiota. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 58(Suppl 2), 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1159/000328042
- Bahar, A. A., & Ren, D. (2013). Antimicrobial peptides. *Pharmaceuticals*, 6(12), 1543–1575. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph6121543

Bahrami, J., Longuet, C., Baggio, L. L., Li, K., & Drucker, D. J. (2010). Glucagon-like peptide-2

receptor modulates islet adaptation to metabolic stress in the ob/ob mouse.

Gastroenterology, 139(3), 857-868. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2010.05.006

- Tourrel, C., Bailbe, D., Meile, M., Kergoat, M., & Portha, B. (2001). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 and Exendin-4 Stimulate beta-cell Neogenesis in Streptozotocin-Treated Newborn Rats Resulting in Persistently Improved Glucose Homeostasis. *Diabetes 50*(7):1562-1570.https:// 10.2337/diabetes.50.7.1562
- Bakhti, M., Böttcher, A., & Lickert, H. (2019). Modelling the endocrine pancreas in health and disease. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 15(3), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-018-0132-z
- Barroso, I., Luan, J., Middelberg, R. P. S., Harding, A. H., Franks, P. W., Jakes, R. W., Clayton, D., Schafer, A. J., O'Rahilly, S., & Wareham, N. J. (2003). Candidate gene association study in type 2 diabetes indicates a role for genes involved in β-cell function as well as insulin action. *PLoS Biology*, *1*(1), 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0000020
- Blum, B., Hrvatin, S., Schuetz, C., Bonal, C., Rezania, A., & Melton, D. A. (2012). Functional beta-cell maturation is marked by an increased glucose threshold and by expression of urocortin 3. *Nature Biotechnology*, 30(3), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2141
- Bokulich, N. A., Chung, J., Battaglia, T., Henderson, N., Jay, M., Li, H., Lieber, A. D., Wu, F., Perez-Perez, G. I., Chen, Y., Schweizer, W., Zheng, X., Contreras, M., Dominguez-Bello, M. G., & Blaser, M. J. (2016). Antibiotics, birth mode, and diet shape microbiome maturation during early life. *Science Translational Medicine*, 15;8(343):343ra82. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7121

Bokulich, N. A., Kaehler, B. D., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M., Bolyen, E., Knight, R., Huttley, G.

A., & Gregory Caporaso, J. (2018). Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. *Microbiome*, *6*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z

- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G. A.,
 Alexander, H., Alm, E. J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J. E., Bittinger, K.,
 Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C. J., Brown, C. T., Callahan, B. J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A. M.,
 Chase, J., ... Caporaso, J. G. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible
 microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nature Biotechnology*, *37*(8), 852–857.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9
- Bonner-Weir, S., Aguayo-Mazzucato, C., & Weir, G. C. (2016). Dynamic development of the pancreas from birth to adulthood. *Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences*, 121(2), 155–158. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009734.2016.1154906

Boucher, J., Kleinridders, A., & Kahn, C. R. (2014). Insulin Receptor Signaling in Normal and Insulin-Resistance States. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 1;6(1):a009191. https://

10.1101/cshperspect.a00919

- Boulangé, C. L., Neves, A. L., Chilloux, J., Nicholson, J. K., & Dumas, M. E. (2016). Impact of the gut microbiota on inflammation, obesity, and metabolic disease. *Genome Medicine*, 20;8(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0303-2
- Buckley, A., & Turner, J. R. (2018). Cell biology of tight junction barrier regulation and mucosal disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2;10(1):a029314. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029314

Burrin, D., Stoll, B., & Moore, D. (2013). Digestive physiology of the pig symposium: Intestinal

bile acid sensing is linked to key endocrine and metabolic signaling pathways. *Journal of Animal Science*, *91*(5), 1991–2000. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2013-6331

- Cabral, D. J., Penumutchu, S., Reinhart, E. M., Zhang, C., Korry, B. J., Wurster, J. I., Nilson, R.,
 Guang, A., Sano, W. H., Rowan-Nash, A. D., Li, H., & Belenky, P. (2019). Microbial
 Metabolism Modulates Antibiotic Susceptibility within the Murine Gut Microbiome. *Cell Metabolism*, 30(4), 800-823.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.08.020
- Caesar, R., Reigstad, C. S., Bäckhed, H. K., Reinhardt, C., Ketonen, M., Lundén, G. Ö., Cani, P. D., & Bäckhed, F. (2012). Gut-derived lipopolysaccharide augments adipose macrophage accumulation but is not essential for impaired glucose or insulin tolerance in mice. *Gut*, 61(12), 1701–1707. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301689
- Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Campbell, J. E., & Newgard, C. B. (2021). Mechanisms controlling pancreatic islet cell function in insulin secretion. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 22(2), 142–158. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00317-7
- Cani, P.D., Osto, M., Geurts, L., & Everard, A. (2012). Involvement of gut microbiota in the development of low-grade inflammation and type 2 diabetes associated with obesity. *Gut Microbes*, 3(4):279-88. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19625
- Cani, Patrice D, Amar, J., Iglesias, M. A., Poggi, M., Knauf, C., Bastelica, D., Neyrinck, A. M.,
 Fava, F., Tuohy, K. M., Chabo, C., Ferrie, J., Gibson, G. R., Casteilla, L., Delzenne, N. M.,
 & Alessi, M. C. (2007). Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance.

Diabetes, 56(July), 1761–1772. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-1491.P.D.C.

- Cani, Patrice D, Bibiloni, R., Knauf, C., Neyrinck, A. M., & Delzenne, N. M. (2008). Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic diet–induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes*, 57(6), 1470–1481. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-1403.Additional
- Chakravarthy, M. V., Zhu, Y., Wice, M. B., Coleman, T., Pappan, K. L., Marshall, C. A., McDaniel, M. L., & Semenkovich, C. F. (2008). Decreased fetal size is associated with β-Cell hyperfunction in early life and failure with age. *Diabetes*, 57(10), 2698–2707. https://doi.org/10.2337/db08-0404
- Chávez-Carbajal, A., Pizano-Zárate, M. L., Hernández-Quiroz, F., Ortiz-Luna, G. F., Morales-Hernández, R. M., De Sales-Millán, A., Hernández-Trejo, M., García-Vite, A., Beltrán-Lagunes, L., Hoyo-Vadillo, C., & García-Mena, J. (2020). Characterization of the gut microbiota of individuals at different T2D stages reveals a complex relationship with the host. *Microorganisms*, 10; 8(1):94. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8010094
- Chen, C., Cohrs, C. M., Stertmann, J., Bozsak, R., & Speier, S. (2017). Human beta cell mass and function in diabetes: Recent advances in knowledge and technologies to understand disease pathogenesis. *Molecular Metabolism*, 8; 6(9): 943–957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2017.06.019
- Cho, I., Yamanishi, S., Cox, L., Methé, B. A., Zavadil, J., Li, K., Gao, Z., Mahana, D., Raju, K., Teitler, I., Li, H., Alekseyenko, A. V., & Blaser, M. J. (2012). Antibiotics in early life alter the murine colonic microbiome and adiposity. *Nature*, 488(7413), 621–626. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11400

Cho, I., Yamanishi, S., Cox, L., Methé, B. a, Zavadil, J., Gao, Z., Mahana, D., Raju, K., Teitler,

I., Li, H., & Alexander, V. (2013). *NIH Public Access*. 488(7413), 621–626. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11400.Antibiotics

- Cohrs, C. M., Panzer, J. K., Drotar, D. M., Enos, S. J., Kipke, N., Chen, C., Bozsak, R.,
 Schöniger, E., Ehehalt, F., Distler, M., Brennand, A., Bornstein, S. R., Weitz, J., Solimena,
 M., & Speier, S. (2020). Dysfunction of Persisting β Cells Is a Key Feature of Early Type 2
 Diabetes Pathogenesis. *Cell Reports*, 7;31(1):107469.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.03.033
- Conrad, E., Stein, R., & Hunter, C. S. (2014). Revealing transcription factors during human pancreatic β cell development. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 25(8), 407–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2014.03.013
- Coorens, M., Schneider, V. A. F., de Groot, A. M., van Dijk, A., Meijerink, M., Wells, J. M.,
 Scheenstra, M. R., Veldhuizen, E. J. A., & Haagsman, H. P. (2017). Cathelicidins Inhibit
 Escherichia coli –Induced TLR2 and TLR4 Activation in a Viability-Dependent Manner . *The Journal of Immunology*, 199(4), 1418–1428. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1602164
- Corbin, K. L., Waters, C. D., Shaffer, B. K., Verrilli, G. M., & Nunemaker, C. S. (2016). Islet hypersensitivity to glucose is associated with disrupted oscillations and increased impact of proinflammatory cytokines in islets from diabetes-prone male mice. *Endocrinology*, 157(5), 1826–1838. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2015-1879
- Cornejo-Pareja, I., Muñoz-Garach, A., Clemente-Postigo, M., & Tinahones, F. J. (2019).
 Importance of gut microbiota in obesity. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72, 26–37.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41430-018-0306-8

Cox, L. M., & Blaser, M. J. (2015). Antibiotics in early life and obesity. Nature Reviews

Endocrinology, 11(3), 182-190. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.210

- Cox, L. M., Yamanishi, S., Sohn, J., Alekseyenko, A. V., Leung, J. M., Cho, I., Kim, S. G., Li, H., Gao, Z., Mahana, D., Zárate Rodriguez, J. G., Rogers, A. B., Robine, N., Loke, P., & Blaser, M. J. (2014). Altering the intestinal microbiota during a critical developmental window has lasting metabolic consequences. *Cell*, *158*(4), 705–721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.05.052
- Cyphert, H. A., Walker, E. M., Hang, Y., Dhawan, S., Haliyur, R., Bonatakis, L., Avrahami, D., Brissova, M., Kaestner, K. H., Bhushan, A., Powers, A. C., & Stein, R. (2019). Examining how the MAFB transcription factor affects islet β-cell function postnatally. *Diabetes*, 68(2), 337–348. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0903
- da Silva Xavier, G., Mondragon, A., Mourougavelou, V., Cruciani-Guglielmacci, C., Denom, J., Herrera, P. L., Magnan, C., & Rutter, G. A. (2017). Pancreatic alpha cell-selective deletion of Tcf7l2 impairs glucagon secretion and counter-regulatory responses to hypoglycaemia in mice. *Diabetologia*, 60(6), 1043–1050. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4242-2
- Dalile, B., Van Oudenhove, L., Vervliet, B., & Verbeke, K. (2019). The role of short-chain fatty acids in microbiota–gut–brain communication. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *16*(8), 461–478. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-019-0157-3
- Davenport, E. R., Sanders, J. G., Song, S. J., Amato, K. R., Clark, A. G., & Knight, R. (2017). The human microbiome in evolution. *BMC Biology*, 27;15(1):127. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-017-0454-7
- DeFronzo, R. A., Ferrannini, E., Groop, L., Henry, R. R., Herman, W. H., Holst, J. J., Hu, F. B., Kahn, C. R., Raz, I., Shulman, G. I., Simonson, D. C., Testa, M. A., & Weiss, R. (2015).

Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*,23;1:15019. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.19

- Derrien, M., Alvarez, A. S., & de Vos, W. M. (2019). The Gut Microbiota in the First Decade of Life. *Trends in Microbiology*, 27(12), 997–1010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2019.08.001
- Diabetes Federation International. (2019). IDF Diabetes Atlas 2019. In *International Diabetes Federation*. http://www.idf.org/about-diabetes/facts-figures
- Doliba, N. M. (2018). Pancreatic Islet Adaptation and Failure in Obesity and Diabetes. In R. S.
 Ahima (Ed.), *Metabolic Syndrome: A Comprehensive Textbook* (pp. 1–21). Springer
 International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-12125-3_27-2
- Donaldson, G. P., Lee, S. M., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2015). Gut biogeography of the bacterial microbiota. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 14(1), 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3552
- du Sert, N. P., Ahluwalia, A., Alam, S., Avey, M. T., Baker, M., Browne, W. J., Clark, A.,
 Cuthill, I. C., Dirnagl, U., Emerson, M., Garner, P., Holgate, S. T., Howells, D. W., Hurst,
 V., Karp, N. A., Lazic, S. E., Lidster, K., MacCallum, C. J., Macleod, M., ... Würbel, H.
 (2020). Reporting animal research: Explanation and elaboration for the arrive guidelines
 2.0. In *PLoS Biology*. 14;18(7):e300411. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000411
- Eckel, R. H., Kahn, S. E., Ferrannini, E., Goldfine, A. B., Nathan, D. M., Schwartz, M. W., Smith, R. J., & Smith, S. R. (2011). Obesity and type 2 diabetes: What can be unified and what needs to be individualized? *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 96(6), 1654–1663. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0585

Esser, N., Utzschneider, K. M., & Kahn, S. E. (2020). Early beta cell dysfunction vs insulin

hypersecretion as the primary event in the pathogenesis of dysglycaemia. *Diabetologia*, 63(10), 2007–2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05245-x

- Everard, A., & Cani, P. D. (2013). Diabetes, obesity and gut microbiota. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Gastroenterology*, 27(1), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2013.03.007
- Feng, W., Ao, H., & Peng, C. (2018). Gut microbiota, short-chain fatty acids, and herbal medicines. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 23;9:1354.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.01354

- Forgie, A. J., Drall, K. M., Bourque, S. L., Field, C. J., Kozyrskyj, A. L., & Willing, B. P. (2020). The impact of maternal and early life malnutrition on health: A diet-microbe perspective. *BMC Medicine*, 12;18(1):135. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-020-01584-z
- Fouhse, J. M., Yang, K., More-Bayona, J., Gao, Y., Goruk, S., Plastow, G., Field, C. J., Barreda, D. R., & Willing, B. P. (2019). Neonatal Exposure to Amoxicillin Alters Long-Term
 Immune Response Despite Transient Effects on Gut-Microbiota in Piglets. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 4;10:2059. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02059
- Gaike, A. H., Paul, D., Bhute, S., Dhotre, D. P., Pande, P., Upadhyaya, S., Reddy, Y., Sampath, R., Ghosh, D., Chandraprabha, D., Acharya, J., Banerjee, G., Sinkar, V. P., Ghaskadbi, S. S., & Shouche, Y. S. (2020). The Gut Microbial Diversity of Newly Diagnosed Diabetics but Not of Prediabetics Is Significantly Different from That of Healthy Nondiabetics. *MSystems*, 31;5(2), e00578. https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00578-19
- Ganesh, R., Suresh, N., Vasanthi, T., & Ravikumar, K. G. (2017). Neonatal diabetes: A case series. *Indian Pediatrics*, 54(1), 33–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13312-017-0993-6

- Gao, T., McKenna, B., Li, C., Reichert, M., Nguyen, J., Singh, T., Yang, C., Pannikar, A.,
 Doliba, N., Zhang, T., Stoffers, D. A., Edlund, H., Matschinsky, F., Stein, R., & Stanger, B.
 Z. (2014). Pdx1 maintains β cell identity and function by repressing an α cell program. *Cell Metabolism*, 19(2), 259–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2013.12.002
- Gérard, C., & Vidal, H. (2019). Impact of gut microbiota on host glycemic control. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*,20;10:29. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00029
- Ghorbani, Y., Schwenger, K. J. P., & Allard, J. P. (2021). Manipulation of intestinal microbiome as potential treatment for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *European Journal of Nutrition*, Mar 2. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-021-02520-4
- Gilbert, J. A., Blaser, M. J., Caporaso, J. G., Jansson, J. K., Lynch, S. V., & Knight, R. (2018). Current understanding of the human microbiome. *Nature Medicine*, 24(4), 392–400. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4517
- Greeley, S. A. W., Naylor, R. N., Philipson, L. H., & Bell, G. I. (2011). Neonatal diabetes: An expanding list of genes allows for improved diagnosis and treatment. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 11(6), 519–532. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-011-0234-7
- Gregg, B. E., Moore, P. C., Demozay, D., Hall, B. A., Li, M., Husain, A., Wright, A. J., Atkinson, M. A., & Rhodes, C. J. (2012). Formation of a human β-cell population within pancreatic islets is set early in life. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 97(9), 3197–3206. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-1206
- Greiner, T., & Bäckhed, F. (2011). Effects of the gut microbiota on obesity and glucose homeostasis. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 22(4), 117–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2011.01.002

- Greiner, T. U., & Bäckhed, F. (2016). Microbial regulation of GLP-1 and L-cell biology. *Molecular Metabolism*, 5(9), 753–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2016.05.012
- Haeusler, R. A., McGraw, T. E., & Accili, D. (2018). Metabolic Signalling: Biochemical and cellular properties of insulin receptor signalling. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 19(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.89
- Han, F., Lu, Z., Liu, Y., Xia, X., Zhang, H., Wang, X., & Wang, Y. (2016). Cathelicidin-BF ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced intestinal epithelial barrier disruption in rat. *Life Sciences*, 152, 199–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2016.03.041
- Hattersley, A. T., & Patel, K. A. (2017). Precision diabetes: learning from monogenic diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 60(5), 769–777. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4226-2
- He, J., Zhang, P., Shen, L., Niu, L., Tan, Y., Chen, L., Zhao, Y., Bai, L., Hao, X., Li, X., Zhang, S., & Zhu, L. (2020). Short-chain fatty acids and their association with signalling pathways in inflammation, glucose and lipid metabolism. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(17):6356. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176356
- Helman, A., Cangelosi, A. L., Davis, J. C., Pham, Q., Rothman, A., Faust, A. L., Straubhaar, J. R., Sabatini, D. M., & Melton, D. A. (2020). A Nutrient-Sensing Transition at Birth Triggers Glucose-Responsive Insulin Secretion. *Cell Metabolism*, *31*(5), 1004–1016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.04.004
- Henquin, J. C., & Nenquin, M. (2016). Dynamics and Regulation of Insulin Secretion in Pancreatic Islets from Normal Young Children. *PLoS ONE*, 2;11(11):e0165961. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165961

Hosking, J., Metcalf, B. S., Jeffery, A. N., Streeter, A. J., Voss, L. D., & Wilkin, T. J. (2013).

Evidence of early beta-cell deficiency among children who show impaired fasting glucose: 10-yr cohort study (EarlyBird 56). *Pediatric Diabetes*, *14*(7), 481–489. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12049

Houlden, R. L. Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee (2018).Introduction. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, Apr;42 Suppl 1:S1-S5

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.001

- Hu, M., Cherkaoui, I., Misra, S., & Rutter, G. A. (2020). Functional Genomics in Pancreatic β
 Cells: Recent Advances in Gene Deletion and Genome Editing Technologies for Diabetes
 Research. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 8; 11: 576632.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.576632
- Hunt, J. E., Hartmann, B., Schoonjans, K., Holst, J. J., & Kissow, H. (2021). Dietary Fiber Is Essential to Maintain Intestinal Size, L-Cell Secretion, and Intestinal Integrity in Mice. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 26;12:640602. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2021.640602
- Hwang, I., Park, Y. J., Kim, Y. R., Kim, Y. N., Ka, S., Lee, H. Y., Seong, J. K., Seok, Y. J., & Kim, J. B. (2015). Alteration of gut microbiota by vancomycin and bacitracin improves insulin resistance via glucagon-like peptide 1 in diet-induced obesity. *FASEB Journal*, 29(6), 2397–2411. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.14-265983
- Ilie, I. R. (2020). The endocrine pancreas and diabetes mellitus. *Introduction to Endocrinology*. 177-248. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27382-8
- Inaishi, J., Saisho, Y., Sato, S., Kou, K., Murakami, R., Watanabe, Y., Kitago, M., Kitagawa, Y., Yamada, T., & Itoh, H. (2016). Effects of obesity and diabetes on α-and β-cell mass in surgically resected human pancreas. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*,

101(7), 2863–2873. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-1374

- Jaafar, R., Tran, S., Shah, A. N., Sun, G., Valdearcos, M., Marchetti, P., Masini, M., Swisa, A., Giacometti, S., Bernal-Mizrachi, E., Matveyenko, A., Hebrok, M., Dor, Y., Rutter, G. A., Koliwad, S. K., & Bhushan, A. (2019). MTORC1-to-AMPK switching underlies βcell metabolic plasticity during maturation and diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *129*(10), 4124–4137. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI127021
- Jennings, R. E., Scharfmann, R., & Staels, W. (2020). Transcription factors that shape the mammalian pancreas. *Diabetologia*, 63(10), 1974–1980. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05161-0
- Jermendy, A., Toschi, E., Aye, T., Koh, A., Aguayo-Mazzucato, C., Sharma, A., Weir, G. C., Sgroi, D., & Bonner-Weir, S. (2011). Rat neonatal beta cells lack the specialised metabolic phenotype of mature beta cells. *Diabetologia*, 54(3), 594–604. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-010-2036-x
- Jin, Y., Wu, Y., Zeng, Z., Jin, C., Wu, S., Wang, Y., & Fu, Z. (2016). Exposure to oral antibiotics induces gut microbiota dysbiosis associated with lipid metabolism dysfunction and low-grade inflammation in mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 154(1), 140–152. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfw150
- Ju, T., Shoblak, Y., Gao, Y., Yang, K., Fouhse, J., Finlay, B. B., So, Y. W., Stothard, P., &
 Willing, B. P. (2017). Initial gut microbial composition as a key factor driving host response to antibiotic treatment, as exemplified by the presence or absence of commensal Escherichia coli. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *83*(17):e01107-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01107-17

- Karlsson, F. H., Tremaroli, V., Nookaew, I., Bergström, G., Behre, C. J., Fagerberg, B., Nielsen, J., & Bäckhed, F. (2013). Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control. *Nature*, 498(7452), 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12198
- Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K. I., & Miyata, T. (2002). MAFFT: A novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30(14), 3059–3066. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkf436
- Khare, S., Katre, P., & Galande, S. (2016). Epigenetic Regulation of Islet Development and Regeneration. Pancreatic Islet Biology. Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, Spriner, Cham. 83–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45307-1_4
- Kilimnik, G., Kim, A., Steiner, D. F., Friedman, T. C., & Hara, M. (2011). Intraislet production of GLP-1 by activation of prohormone converstase 1/3 in pancreatic α-cells in mouse models of β-cell regneration. *Islets*. 2(3), 149–155.https://10.46161/isl.2.3.11396
- Kim, S., Whitener, R. L., Peiris, H., Gu, X., Chang, C. A., Lam, J. Y., Camunas-Soler, J., Park,
 I., Bevacqua, R. J., Tellez, K., Quake, S. R., Lakey, J. R. T., Bottino, R., Ross, P. J., & Kim,
 S. K. (2020). Molecular and genetic regulation of pig pancreatic islet cell development. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 147(6). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.186213
- Kleber, M. (2010). Risk factors for impaired glucose tolerance in obese children and adolescents. *World Journal of Diabetes*, 1(4), 129. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v1.i4.129
- Kleinberger, J. W., Copeland, K. C., Gandica, R. G., Haymond, M. W., Levitsky, L. L., Linder,
 B., Shuldiner, A. R., Tollefsen, S., White, N. H., & Pollin, T. I. (2018). Monogenic diabetes
 in overweight and obese youth diagnosed with type 2 diabetes: The TODAY clinical trial. *Genetics in Medicine*, 20(6), 583–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2017.150

- Koch, L. (2019). Early-life antibiotic use and gut microbiota. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 20(11), 630. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-019-0174-7
- Koh, A., De Vadder, F., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., & Bäckhed, F. (2016). From dietary fiber to host physiology: Short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell*, 165(6), 1332–1345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- Laforest-Lapointe, I., & Arrieta, M. C. (2017). Patterns of early-life gut microbial colonization during human immune development: An ecological perspective. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10;8:788. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00788
- Larsen, N., Vogensen, F. K., Van Den Berg, F. W. J., Nielsen, D. S., Andreasen, A. S., Pedersen,
 B. K., Al-Soud, W. A., Sørensen, S. J., Hansen, L. H., & Jakobsen, M. (2010). Gut
 microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from non-diabetic adults. *PLoS ONE*, 5;5(2):e9085. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009085
- Lascar, N., Brown, J., Pattison, H., Barnett, A. H., Bailey, C. J., & Bellary, S. (2018). Type 2 diabetes in adolescents and young adults. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 6(1), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30186-9
- Leahy, J. L. (2008). Mary, mary, quite contrary, how do your β-cells fail? *Diabetes*, 57(10), 2563–2564. https://doi.org/10.2337/db08-0869
- Lebrun, L. J., Lenaerts, K., Kiers, D., Pais de Barros, J. P., Le Guern, N., Plesnik, J., Thomas, C., Bourgeois, T., Dejong, C. H. C., Kox, M., Hundscheid, I. H. R., Khan, N. A., Mandard, S., Deckert, V., Pickkers, P., Drucker, D. J., Lagrost, L., & Grober, J. (2017). Enteroendocrine L Cells Sense LPS after Gut Barrier Injury to Enhance GLP-1 Secretion. *Cell Reports*, 21(5), 1160–1168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.10.008

- Lee, Y. S., & Jun, H. S. (2016). Anti-Inflammatory Effects of GLP-1-Based Therapies beyond Glucose Control. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2016:3094642. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3094642
- Lemelman, M. B., Letourneau, L., & Greeley, S. A. W. (2018). Neonatal Diabetes Mellitus: An Update on Diagnosis and Management. *Clinics in Perinatology*, 45(1), 41–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clp.2017.10.006
- Leong, K. S. W., McLay, J., Derraik, J. G. B., Gibb, S., Shackleton, N., Taylor, R. W., Glover, M., Audas, R., Taylor, B., Milne, B. J., & Cutfield, W. S. (2020). Associations of Prenatal and Childhood Antibiotic Exposure With Obesity at Age 4 Years. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(1): e1919681. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.19681
- Ley, R. E., Bäckhed, F., Turnbaugh, P., Lozupone, C. A., Knight, R. D., & Gordon, J. I. (2005).
 Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(31): 11070–11075.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504978102
- Li, C., Ford, E. S., Zhao, G., & Mokdad, A. H. (2009). Prevalence of pre-diabetes and its association with clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors and hyperinsulinemia among U.S. adolescents: National health and nutrition examination survey 2005-2006. *Diabetes Care*, *32*(2): 342–347. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-1128
- Li, J., Yang, K., Ju, T., Ho, T., McKay, C. A., Gao, Y., Forget, S. K., Gartner, S. R., Field, C. J., Chan, C. B., & Willing, B. P. (2017). Early life antibiotic exposure affects pancreatic islet development and metabolic regulation. *Scientific Reports*, 2; 7:41778. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41778

- Liu, X., Tang, S., Zhong, H., Tong, X., Jie, Z., Ding, Q., Wang, D., Guo, R., Xiao, L., Xu, X.,
 Yang, H., Wang, J., Zong, Y., Liu, W., Liu, X., Zhang, Y., Brix, S., Kristiansen, K., Hou,
 Y., ... Zhang, T. (2021). A genome-wide association study for gut metagenome in Chinese adults illuminates complex diseases. *Cell Discovery*,9; 7(1):9.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41421-020-00239-w
- Love, M. I., Huber, W., & Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biology*, 15(12): 550. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- Lyssenko, V., Lupi, R., Marchetti, P., Del Guerra, S., Orho-Melander, M., Almgren, P., Sjögren, M., Ling, C., Eriksson, K. F., Lethagen, Å. L., Mancarella, R., Berglund, G., Tuomi, T., Nilsson, P., Del Prato, S., & Groop, L. (2007). Mechanisms by which common variants in the TCF7L2 gene increase risk of type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *117*(8), 2155–2163. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI30706
- Mahana, D., Trent, C. M., Kurtz, Z. D., Bokulich, N. A., Battaglia, T., Chung, J., Müller, C. L.,
 Li, H., Bonneau, R. A., & Blaser, M. J. (2016). Antibiotic perturbation of the murine gut
 microbiome enhances the adiposity, insulin resistance, and liver disease associated with
 high-fat diet. *Genome Medicine*, 8(1):48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0297-9
- Mandaliya, D. K., Patel, S., & Seshadri, S. (2021). The Combinatorial Effect of Acetate and
 Propionate on High-Fat Diet Induced Diabetic Inflammation or Metaflammation and T Cell
 Polarization. *Inflammation*, 44(1), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10753-020-01309-7
- Marselli, L., Piron, A., Suleiman, M., Colli, M. L., Yi, X., Khamis, A., Carrat, G. R., Rutter, G. A., Bugliani, M., Giusti, L., Ronci, M., Ibberson, M., Turatsinze, J. V., Boggi, U., De

Simone, P., De Tata, V., Lopes, M., Nasteska, D., De Luca, C., … Marchetti, P. (2020). Persistent or Transient Human β Cell Dysfunction Induced by Metabolic Stress: Specific Signatures and Shared Gene Expression with Type 2 Diabetes. *Cell Reports*, *33*(9):108466 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108466

- Martens, G. A., Motté, E., Kramer, G., Stangé, G., Gaarn, L. W., Hellemans, K., Nielsen, J. H., Aerts, J. M., Ling, Z., & Pipeleers, D. (2013). Functional characteristics of neonatal rat β cells with distinct markers. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, *52*(1), 11–28. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-13-0106
- Maruta, K., Takajo, T., Akiba, Y., Said, H., Irie, E., Kato, I., Kuwahara, A., & Kaunitz, J. D. (2020). GLP-2 Acutely Prevents Endotoxin-Related Increased Intestinal Paracellular Permeability in Rats. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 65(9), 2605–2618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-020-06097-6
- Matamoros, S., Gras-Leguen, C., Le Vacon, F., Potel, G., & De La Cochetiere, M. F. (2013).
 Development of intestinal microbiota in infants and its impact on health. *Trends in Microbiology*, 21(4), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2012.12.001
- Matheus, V. A., Monteiro, L. C. S., Oliveira, R. B., Maschio, D. A., & Collares-Buzato, C. B. (2017). Butyrate reduces high-fat diet-induced metabolic alterations, hepatic steatosis and pancreatic beta cell and intestinal barrier dysfunctions in prediabetic mice. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 242(12), 1214–1226. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370217708188
- Mbakwa, C. A., Scheres, L., Penders, J., Mommers, M., Thijs, C., & Arts, I. C. W. (2016). Early Life Antibiotic Exposure and Weight Development in Children. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 176, 105-113.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.06.015

- McDonald, D., Price, M. N., Goodrich, J., Nawrocki, E. P., Desantis, T. Z., Probst, A., Andersen, G. L., Knight, R., & Hugenholtz, P. (2012). An improved Greengenes taxonomy with explicit ranks for ecological and evolutionary analyses of bacteria and archaea. *ISME Journal*, 6(3), 610–618. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.139
- McKinnon, C. M., & Docherty, K. (2001). Pancreatic duodenal homeobox-1, PDX-1, a major regulator of beta cell identity and function. *Diabetologia*, 44(10), 1203–1214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250100628
- McMurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). Phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLoS ONE*, 22; 8(4): e61217. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217
- Merino, J., Leong, A., Liu, C. T., Porneala, B., Walford, G. A., von Grotthuss, M., Wang, T. J., Flannick, J., Dupuis, J., Levy, D., Gerszten, R. E., Florez, J. C., & Meigs, J. B. (2018).
 Metabolomics insights into early type 2 diabetes pathogenesis and detection in individuals with normal fasting glucose. *Diabetologia*, *61*(6), 1315–1324.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4599-x
- Merino, J., Udler, M. S., Leong, A., & Meigs, J. B. (2017). A Decade of Genetic and Metabolomic Contributions to Type 2 Diabetes Risk Prediction. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 4;17(12):135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-017-0958-0
- Migliorini, A., & Lickert, H. (2015). Beyond association: A functional role for Tcf7l2 in β-cell development. *Molecular Metabolism*, 4(5), 365–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2015.03.002

Milani, C., Duranti, S., Bottacini, F., Casey, E., Turroni, F., Mahony, J., Belzer, C., Delgado

Palacio, S., Arboleya Montes, S., Mancabelli, L., Lugli, G. A., Rodriguez, J. M., Bode, L.,
de Vos, W., Gueimonde, M., Margolles, A., van Sinderen, D., & Ventura, M. (2017). The
First Microbial Colonizers of the Human Gut: Composition, Activities, and Health
Implications of the Infant Gut Microbiota. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, *81*(4): e00036-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00036-17

- Mitchell, R. K., Mondragon, A., Chen, L., Mcginty, J. A., French, P. M., Ferrer, J., Thorens, B., Hodson, D. J., Rutter, G. A., & Da Silva Xavier, G. (2015). Selective disruption of Tcf7l2 in the pancreatic β cell impairs secretory function and lowers β cell mass. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 24(5), 1390–1399. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu553
- Modi, H., Jacovetti, C., Tarussio, D., Metref, S., Madsen, O. D., Zhang, F. P., Rantakari, P.,
 Poutanen, M., Nef, S., Gorman, T., Regazzi, R., & Thorens, B. (2015). Autocrine action of
 IGF2 regulates adult β-cell mass and function. *Diabetes*, 64(12), 4148–4157.
 https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-1735
- Moin, A. S. M., & Butler, A. E. (2019). Alterations in Beta Cell Identity in Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. *Current Diabetes Reports*, *19*(9). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-019-1194-6
- Mosley, A. L., Corbett, J. A., & Özcan, S. (2004). Glucose regulation of insulin gene expression requires the recruitment of p300 by the β-cell-specific transcription factor Pdx-1. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 18(9), 2279–2290. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2003-0463
- Mosser, R. E., Maulis, M. F., Moullé, V. S., Dunn, J. C., Carboneau, B. A., Arasi, K., Pappan,
 K., Poitout, V., & Gannon, M. (2015). High-fat diet-induced β-cell proliferation occurs
 prior to insulin resistance in C57Bl/6J male mice. *American Journal of Physiology* -*Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 308(7), E573–E582.

https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00460.2014

- Movassat, J., Calderari, S., Fernández, E., Martín, M. A., Escrivá, F., Plachot, C., Gangnerau, M. N., Serradas, P., Álvarez, C., & Portha, B. (2007). Type 2 diabetes A matter of failing β-cell neogenesis? Clues from the GK rat model. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 9(SUPPL. 2), 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2007.00786.x
- Mukherjee, S., Vaishnava, S., & Hooper, L. V. (2008). Multi-layered regulation of intestinal antimicrobial defense. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65(19), 3019–3027. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-8182-3
- Müller, T. D., Finan, B., Bloom, S. R., D'Alessio, D., Drucker, D. J., Flatt, P. R., Fritsche, A., Gribble, F., Grill, H. J., Habener, J. F., Holst, J. J., Langhans, W., Meier, J. J., Nauck, M. A., Perez-Tilve, D., Pocai, A., Reimann, F., Sandoval, D. A., Schwartz, T. W., ... Tschöp, M. H. (2019). Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1). *Molecular Metabolism*, *30*(September), 72–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2019.09.010
- Nadeau, K. J., Hannon, T. S., Edelstein, S. L., Arslanian, S. A., Caprio, S., Leschek, E. W.,
 Zeitler, P. S., Buchanan, T. A., Ehrmann, D. A., Mather, K. J., & Kahn, S. E. (2018).
 Impact of insulin and metformin versus metformin alone on β-cell function in youth with impaired glucose tolerance or recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *41*(8), 1717–1725. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-0787
- Nagaya, M., Hayashi, A., Nakano, K., Honda, M., Hasegawa, K., Okamoto, K., Itazaki, S.,
 Matsunari, H., Watanabe, M., Umeyama, K., & Nagashima, H. (2019). Distributions of
 endocrine cell clusters during porcine pancreatic development. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(5):
 e0216254. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216254

Nair, G., & Hebrok, M. (2015). Islet formation in mice and men: Lessons for the generation of functional insulin-producing β-cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*, 32, 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2015.03.004

Nanayakkara, N., Curtis, A. J., Heritier, S., Gadowski, A. M., Pavkov, M. E., Kenealy, T.,
Owens, D. R., Thomas, R. L., Song, S., Wong, J., Chan, J. C. N., Luk, A. O. Y., Penno, G.,
Ji, L., Mohan, V., Amutha, A., Romero-Aroca, P., Gasevic, D., Magliano, D. J., ...
Zoungas, S. (2021). Impact of age at type 2 diabetes mellitus diagnosis on mortality and
vascular complications: systematic review and meta-analyses. *Diabetologia*, 64(2), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05319-w

- Nascimento, J. C., Matheus, V. A., Oliveira, R. B., Tada, S. F. S., & Collares-Buzato, C. B. (2020). High-Fat Diet Induces Disruption of the Tight Junction-Mediated Paracellular Barrier in the Proximal Small Intestine Before the Onset of Type 2 Diabetes and Endotoxemia. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*. Oct 26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-020-06664-x
- Nayak, S., Sarangi, A. N., Sahoo, S. K., Mangla, P., Tripathy, M., Rao, S., Gupta, S., Paliwal, V.
 K., Sudhanshu, S., Ravi, C., Joshi, K., Bhatia, V., & Bhatia, E. (2021). Neonatal Diabetes
 Mellitus: Novel Mutations. *Indian Journal of Pediatrics*. (Apr) 29
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-020-03567-7
- Nguyen, A. T., Mandard, S., Dray, C., Deckert, V., Valet, P., Besnard, P., Drucker, D. J., Lagrost, L., & Grober, J. (2014). Lipopolysaccharides-mediated increase in glucosestimulated insulin secretion: Involvement of the GLP-1 pathway. *Diabetes*, 63(2), 471–482. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0903

- Nielsen, J. H., Haase, T. N., Jaksch, C., Nalla, A., Søstrup, B., Nalla, A. A., Larsen, L.,
 Rasmussen, M., Dalgaard, L. T., Gaarn, L. W., Thams, P., Kofod, H., & Billestrup, N.
 (2014). Impact of fetal and neonatal environment on beta cell function and development of diabetes. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 93(11), 1109–1122.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.12504
- Nobel, Y. R., Cox, L. M., Kirigin, F. F., Bokulich, N. A., Yamanishi, S., Teitler, I., Chung, J.,
 Sohn, J., Barber, C. M., Goldfarb, D. S., Raju, K., Abubucker, S., Zhou, Y., Ruiz, V. E., Li,
 H., Mitreva, M., Alekseyenko, A. V., Weinstock, G. M., Sodergren, E., & Blaser, M. J.
 (2015). Metabolic and metagenomic outcomes from early-life pulsed antibiotic treatment. *Nature Communications*, 30;6:7486. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8486
- Nordmann, T. M., Dror, E., Schulze, F., Traub, S., Berishvili, E., Barbieux, C., Böni-Schnetzler,
 M., & Donath, M. Y. (2017). The Role of Inflammation in β-cell Dedifferentiation.
 Scientific Reports, 7(1): 6285. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06731-w
- Oldenburg, C. E., Sié, A., Coulibaly, B., Ouermi, L., Dah, C., Tapsoba, C., Bärnighausen, T.,
 Ray, K. J., Zhong, L., Cummings, S., Lebas, E., Lietman, T. M., Keenan, J. D., & Doan, T.
 (2018). Effect of commonly used pediatric antibiotics on gut microbial diversity in
 preschool children in Burkina Faso: A randomized clinical trial. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, 2;5(11):ofy289. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofy289
- Ortega-camarillo, C. (2019). Dysfunction and death of pancreatic beta cells in type 2 diabetes. *The Diabetes Textbook*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11815-0
- Ottosson-Laakso, E., Krus, U., Storm, P., Prasad, R. B., Oskolkov, N., Ahlqvist, E., Fadista, J., Hansson, O., Groop, L., & Vikman, P. (2017). Glucose-induced changes in gene expression

in human pancreatic islets: Causes or consequences of chronic hyperglycemia. *Diabetes*, 66(12), 3013–3028. https://doi.org/10.2337/db17-0311

- Ozkul, C., Ruiz, V. E., Battaglia, T., Xu, J., Roubaud-Baudron, C., Cadwell, K., Perez-Perez, G.
 I., & Blaser, M. J. (2020). A single early-in-life antibiotic course increases susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis. *Genome Medicine*, *12*(1):65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-020-00764-z
- Panaro, B. L., Yusta, B., Matthews, D., Koehler, J. A., Song, Y., Sandoval, D. A., & Drucker, D. J. (2020). Intestine-selective reduction of Gcg expression reveals the importance of the distal gut for GLP-1 secretion. *Molecular Metabolism*, 37 (Jul):100990 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2020.100990
- Paniccia, A., & Schulick, R. D. (2016). Chapter 4 Pancreatic Physiology and Functional Assessment. In *Blumgart's Surgery of the Liver, Biliary Tract and Pancreas: Sixth Edition* (Sixth Edition, Vols. 1–2). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-34062-5.00004-2
- Patel, A., Yusta, B., Matthews, D., Charron, M. J., Seeley, R. J., & Drucker, D. J. (2018). GLP-2 receptor signaling controls circulating bile acid levels but not glucose homeostasis in Gcgr-/- mice and is dispensable for the metabolic benefits ensuing after vertical sleeve gastrectomy. *Molecular Metabolism*, 16(June), 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2018.06.006
- Pearson, E. R. (2019). Type 2 diabetes: a multifaceted disease. *Diabetologia*, 62(7), 1107–1112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4909-y

Peddinti, G., Cobb, J., Yengo, L., Froguel, P., Kravić, J., Balkau, B., Tuomi, T., Aittokallio, T.,

& Groop, L. (2017). Early metabolic markers identify potential targets for the prevention of type 2 diabetes.*Diabetologia*, 60(9),1740–1750. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4325-0

- Pedersen, H. K., Gudmundsdottir, V., Nielsen, H. B., Hyotylainen, T., Nielsen, T., Jensen, B. A. H., Forslund, K., Hildebrand, F., Prifti, E., Falony, G., Le Chatelier, E., Levenez, F., Doré, J., Mattila, I., Plichta, D. R., Pöhö, P., Hellgren, L. I., Arumugam, M., Sunagawa, S., ...
 Pedersen, O. (2016). Human gut microbes impact host serum metabolome and insulin sensitivity. *Nature*, *535*(7612), 376–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18646
- Petersen, M. C., & Shulman, G. I. (2018). Mechanisms of insulin action and insulin resistance. *Physiological Reviews*, 98(4), 2133–2223. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00063.2017
- Peterson, L. W., & Artis, D. (2014). Intestinal epithelial cells: Regulators of barrier function and immune homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 14(3), 141–153. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3608
- Pilgaard, K., Jensen, C. B., Schou, J. H., Lyssenko, V., Wegner, L., Brøns, C., Vilsbøll, T.,
 Hansen, T., Madsbad, S., Holst, J. J., Vølund, A., Poulsen, P., Groop, L., Pedersen, O., &
 Vaag, A. A. (2009). The T allele of rs7903146 TCF7L2 is associated with impaired
 insulinotropic action of incretin hormones, reduced 24 h profiles of plasma insulin and
 glucagon, and increased hepatic glucose production in young healthy men. *Diabetologia*,
 52(7), 1298–1307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1307-x
- Pinna, N. K., Anjana, R. M., Saxena, S., Dutta, A., Gnanaprakash, V., Rameshkumar, G.,
 Aswath, S., Raghavan, S., Rani, C. S. S., Radha, V., Balasubramanyam, M., Pant, A.,
 Nielsen, T., Jørgensen, T., Færch, K., Kashani, A., Silva, M. C. A., Vestergaard, H.,
 Hansen, T. H., ... Mande, S. S. (2021). Trans-ethnic gut microbial signatures of prediabetic

subjects from India and Denmark. *Genome Medicine*, *13*(1):36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-021-00851-9

- Polonsky, IKei F. and K. S. (2010). Pdx1 and other factors that regulate pancreatic β-cell surviva lKei Fujimoto and Kenneth S. Polonsky Diabetes Obes Metab. 2009 November.pdf. 11(Suppl 4), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01121.x.Pdx1
- Portha, B., Tourrel-Cuzin, C., & Movassat, J. (2011). Activation of the glp-1 receptor signalling pathway: A relevant strategy to repair a deficient beta-cell mass. *Experimental Diabetes Research*, 2011(2):376509. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/376509
- Pound, L. D., Patrick, C., Eberhard, C. E., Mottawea, W., Wang, G. S., Abujamel, T., Vandenbeek, R., Stintzi, A., & Scott, F. W. (2015). Cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide: A novel regulator of islet function, islet regeneration, and selected gut bacteria. *Diabetes*, 64(12), 4135–4147. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-0788
- Prentki, M., Peyot, M. L., Masiello, P., & Murthy Madiraju, S. R. (2020). Nutrient-induced metabolic stress, adaptation, detoxification, and toxicity in the pancreatic β-cell. *Diabetes*, 69(3), 279–290. https://doi.org/10.2337/dbi19-0014
- Price, M. N., Dehal, P. S., & Arkin, A. P. (2010). FastTree 2 Approximately maximumlikelihood trees for large alignments. *PLoS ONE*, 5(3):e9490 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009490
- Priyadarshini, M., Wicksteed, B., Schiltz, G. E., Gilchrist, A., & Layden, B. T. (2016). SCFA Receptors in Pancreatic β Cells: Novel Diabetes Targets? *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 27(9), 653–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2016.03.011

Puri, S., Folias, A. E., & Hebrok, M. (2015). Plasticity and dedifferentiation within the pancreas:

Development, homeostasis, and disease. *Cell Stem Cell*, 16(1), 18–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.001

- Qiu, W. L., Zhang, Y. W., Feng, Y., Li, L. C., Yang, L., & Xu, C. R. (2017). Deciphering Pancreatic Islet β Cell and α Cell Maturation Pathways and Characteristic Features at the Single-Cell Level. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(5), 1194-1205.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.003
- Rajpal, D. K., Klein, J. L., Mayhew, D., Boucheron, J., Spivak, A. T., Kumar, V., Ingraham, K.,
 Paulik, M., Chen, L., Van Horn, S., Thomas, E., Sathe, G., Livi, G. P., Holmes, D. J., &
 Brown, J. R. (2015). Selective spectrum antibiotic modulation of the gut microbiome in
 obesity and diabetes rodent models. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(12): e0145499.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145499
- Rasmussen, S. H., Shrestha, S., Bjerregaard, L. G., Ängquist, L. H., Baker, J. L., Jess, T., &
 Allin, K. H. (2018). Antibiotic exposure in early life and childhood overweight and obesity:
 A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 20(6), 1508–1514. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13230
- Rastelli, M., Cani, P. D., & Knauf, C. (2019). The Gut Microbiome Influences Host Endocrine Functions. *Endocrine Reviews*, 40(5), 1271–1284. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2018-00280
- Régnier, M., Van Hul, M., Knauf, C., & Cani, P. D. (2020). Gut microbiome, endocrine control of gut barrier function and metabolic diseases. *Journal of Endocrinology*. https://doi.org/10.1530/joe-20-0473
- Renner, S., Blutke, A., Clauss, S., Deeg, C. A., Kemter, E., Merkus, D., Wanke, R., & Wolf, E.(2020). Porcine models for studying complications and organ crosstalk in diabetes mellitus.

Cell and Tissue Research, 380(2), 341-378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-019-03158-9

- Rickels, M. R., Norris, A. W., & Hull, R. L. (2020). A tale of two pancreases: exocrine pathology and endocrine dysfunction. *Diabetologia*, 63(10), 2030–2039. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05210-8
- Robertson, R. C., Manges, A. R., Finlay, B. B., & Prendergast, A. J. (2019). The Human Microbiome and Child Growth – First 1000 Days and Beyond. *Trends in Microbiology*, 27(2), 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2018.09.008
- Rodrigues, R. R., Greer, R. L., Dong, X., DSouza, K. N., Gurung, M., Wu, J. Y., Morgun, A., & Shulzhenko, N. (2017). Antibiotic-induced alterations in gut microbiota are associated with changes in glucose metabolism in healthy mice. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(NOV): 2306. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02306
- Rohr, M. W., Narasimhulu, C. A., Rudeski-Rohr, T. A., & Parthasarathy, S. (2020). Negative Effects of a High-Fat Diet on Intestinal Permeability: A Review. *Advances in Nutrition*, *11*(1), 77–91. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmz061
- Roubaud-Baudron, C., Ruiz, V. E., Swan, A. M., Vallance, B. A., Ozkul, C., Pei, Z., Li, J., Battaglia, T. W., Perez-Perez, G. I., & Blaser, M. J. (2019). Long-term effects of early-life antibiotic exposure on resistance to subsequent bacterial infection. *MBio*, 10(6): e02820-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02820-19
- Ruchelli, E. D., & Bhatti, T. R. (2019). Comprehensive atlas of the development histology of the major organs. *Color Atlas of Human Fetal and Neonatal Histology* https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11425-1
- Ruiz, V. E., Battaglia, T., Kurtz, Z. D., Bijnens, L., Ou, A., Engstrand, I., Zheng, X., Iizumi, T.,

Mullins, B. J., Müller, C. L., Cadwell, K., Bonneau, R., Perez-Perez, G. I., & Blaser, M. J. (2017). A single early-in-life macrolide course has lasting effects on murine microbial network topology and immunity. *Nature Communications*, *8*(1):518. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00531-6

- Rutter, G. A., Georgiadou, E., Martinez-Sanchez, A., & Pullen, T. J. (2020). Metabolic and functional specialisations of the pancreatic beta cell: gene disallowance, mitochondrial metabolism and intercellular connectivity. *Diabetologia*, 63(10), 1990–1998. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05205-5
- Salinno, C., Cota, P., Bastidas-Ponce, A., Tarquis-Medina, M., Lickert, H., & Bakhti, M. (2019). β-Cell Maturation and Identity in Health and Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(21):5417. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20215417
- Salunkhe, V. A., Veluthakal, R., Kahn, S. E., & Thurmond, D. C. (2018). Novel approaches to restore beta cell function in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 61(9), 1895– 1901. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4658-3
- Sato, J., Kanazawa, A., Ikeda, F., Yoshihara, T., Goto, H., Abe, H., Komiya, K., Kawaguchi, M., Shimizu, T., Ogihara, T., Tamura, Y., Sakurai, Y., Yamamoto, R., Mita, T., Fujitani, Y., Fukuda, H., Nomoto, K., Takahashi, T., Asahara, T., ... Watada, H. (2014). Gut dysbiosis and detection of "Live gut bacteria" in blood of Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *37*(8), 2343–2350. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-2817
- Schäfer, S. A., Tschritter, O., Machicao, F., Thamer, C., Stefan, N., Gallwitz, B., Holst, J. J.,
 Dekker, J. M., T'Hart, L. M., Nijpels, G., Van Haeften, T. W., Häring, H. U., & Fritsche, A.
 (2007). Impaired glucagon-like peptide-1-induced insulin secretion in carriers of

transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene polymorphisms. *Diabetologia*, *50*(12), 2443–2450. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-007-0753-6

Scharfmann, R. (2007). Pancreatic development as a basis for the definition of new therapies for diabetes. *Endocrine Development*, 12, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1159/000109599

Schulfer, A., & Blaser, M. J. (2015). Risks of Antibiotic Exposures Early in Life on the Developing Microbiome. *PLoS Pathogens*, 11(7): e1004903. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004903

Selwyn, F. P., Csanaky, I. L., Zhang, Y., & Klaassen, C. D. (2015). Importance of Large Intestine in Regulating Bile Acids and GLP-1 in Germ-free Mice. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition: The Biological Fate of Chemicals*, 5(October), 1544–1556. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.115.065276

Sender, R., Fuchs, S., & Milo, R. (2016). Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. *PLoS Biology*, 14(8), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533

- Shu, L., Matveyenko, A. V., Kerr-Conte, J., Cho, J. H., McIntosh, C. H. S., & Maedler, K. (2009). Decreased TCF7L2 protein levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus correlate with downregulation of GIP- and GLP-1 receptors and impaired beta-cell function. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18(13), 2388–2399. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp178
- Sinha, R., Fisch, G., Teague, B., Tamborlane, W. V., Banyas, B., Allen, K., Savoye, M., Rieger, V., Taksali, S., Barbetta, G., Sherwin, R. S., & Caprio, S. (2002). Prevelance of impaired glucose tolerance among children and adolescents with marked obesity. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *346*(11), 802–810.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa012578

- Sircana, A., Framarin, L., Leone, N., Berrutti, M., Castellino, F., Parente, R., De Michieli, F., Paschetta, E., & Musso, G. (2018). Altered Gut Microbiota in Type 2 Diabetes: Just a Coincidence? *Current Diabetes Reports*, 18(10):98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-018-1057-6
- Skelin Klemen, M., Dolenšek, J., Slak Rupnik, M., & Stožer, A. (2017). The triggering pathway to insulin secretion: Functional similarities and differences between the human and the mouse β cells and their translational relevance. *Islets*, 9(6), 109–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/19382014.2017.1342022
- Smith, K. E., Purvis, W. G., Davis, M. A., Min, C. G., Cooksey, A. M., Weber, C. S., Jandova, J., Price, N. D., Molano, D. S., Stanton, J. B., Kelly, A. C., Steyn, L. V., Lynch, R. M., Limesand, S. W., Alexander, M., Lakey, J. R. T., Seeberger, K., Korbutt, G. S., Mueller, K. R., ... Papas, K. K. (2018). In vitro characterization of neonatal, juvenile, and adult porcine islet oxygen demand, β-cell function, and transcriptomes. *Xenotransplantation*, 25(6): e12432. https://doi.org/10.1111/xen.12432
- Song, D., Zong, X., Zhang, H., Wang, T., Yi, H., Luan, C., & Wang, Y. (2015). Antimicrobial peptide Cathelicidin-BF prevents intestinal barrier dysfunction in a mouse model of endotoxemia. *International Immunopharmacology*, 25(1), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2015.01.017
- Stefan, Y., Grasso, S., Perrelet, A., & Orci, L. (1983). A quantitative immunofluorescent study of the endocrine cell populations in the developing human pancreas. *Diabetes*, 32(4), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.32.4.293

Steiner, D. J., Kim, A., Miller, K., & Hara, M. (2011).Pancreatic iselt plasticity: Interspecies comparison of islet architecture and composition. *Architecture and Composition*. 2(3), 135–145. https:// doi: 10.4161/isl.2.3.11815.

- Stephen, S., & Ramracheya, R. (2018). Chapter 4: Modulation of the pancreatic hormone, glucagon by the gut peptide, GLP-1: controversies, challenges, and future directions.
 Emerging Trends in Chemical Sciences. *Emerging Trends in Chemical Sciences*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60408-4
- Steven, S., Hollingsworth, K. G., Al-Mrabeh, A., Avery, L., Aribisala, B., Caslake, M., & Taylor, R. (2016). Very low-calorie diet and 6 months of weight stability in type 2 diabetes:
 Pathophysiological changes in responders and nonresponders. *Diabetes Care*, *39*(5), 808–815. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-1942
- Stoffers, D. A., Desai, B. M., DeLeon, D. D., & Simmons, R. A. (2003). Neonatal exendin-4 prevents the development of diabetes in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. *Diabetes*, 52(3), 734–740. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.3.734
- Stolovich-Rain, M., Enk, J., Vikesa, J., Nielsen, F. C., Saada, A., Glaser, B., & Dor, Y. (2015).
 Weaning Triggers a Maturation Step of Pancreatic β Cells. *Developmental Cell*, 32(5), 535–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2015.01.002
- Sun, J., Furio, L., Mecheri, R., van der Does, A. M., Lundeberg, E., Saveanu, L., Chen, Y., van Endert, P., Agerberth, B., & Diana, J. (2015). Pancreatic β-Cells Limit Autoimmune Diabetes via an Immunoregulatory Antimicrobial Peptide Expressed under the Influence of the Gut Microbiota. *Immunity*, 43(2), 304–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.07.013

- Sun, Y., & Shang, D. (2015). Inhibitory Effects of Antimicrobial Peptides on Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2015;167572 https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/167572
- Swisa, A., Glaser, B., & Dor, Y. (2017). Metabolic stress and compromised identity of pancreatic beta cells. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 8:21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2017.00021
- Szabo, M., Máté, B., Csép, K., & Benedek, T. (2018). Genetic Approaches to the Study of Gene Variants and Their Impact on the Pathophysiology of Type 2 Diabetes. *Biochemical Genetics*, 56(1–2), 22–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10528-017-9827-4
- Tabák, A. G., Herder, C., Rathmann, W., Brunner, E. J., & Kivimäki, M. (2012). Prediabetes: A high-risk state for diabetes development. *The Lancet*, 379(9833), 2279–2290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60283-9
- Takamoto, I., Kubota, N., Nakaya, K., Kumagai, K., Hashimoto, S., Kubota, T., Inoue, M.,
 Kajiwara, E., Katsuyama, H., Obata, A., Sakurai, Y., Iwamoto, M., Kitamura, T., Ueki, K.,
 & Kadowaki, T. (2014). TCF7L2 in mouse pancreatic beta cells plays a crucial role in
 glucose homeostasis by regulating beta cell mass. *Diabetologia*, 57(3), 542–553.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-013-3131-6
- Taylor, R., Al-Mrabeh, A., & Sattar, N. (2019). Understanding the mechanisms of reversal of type 2 diabetes. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 7(9), 726–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30076-2
- Taylor, R., & Barnes, A. C. (2018). Translating aetiological insight into sustainable management of type 2 diabetes.*Diabetologia*, *61*(2),273–283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4504-z

Tixi-Verdugo, W., Contreras-Ramos, J., Sicilia-Argumedo, G., German, M. S., & Fernandez-

Mejia, C. (2018). Effects of Biotin Supplementation during the First Week Postweaning Increases Pancreatic Islet Area, Beta-Cell Proportion, Islets Number, and Beta-Cell Proliferation. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, *21*(3), 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2017.0077

- TODAY Study Group; Zeitler, P., Hirst, K., Pyle, L., Linder, B., Copeland, K., Arslanian, S., Cuttler., L., Nathan, D.M., Tollefsen, S., Wilfley, D., Kaufman, F. (2012). A clinical trial to maintain glycemic control in youth with type 2 diabetes. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 366(24), 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1109333
- Tokarz, V. L., MacDonald, P. E., & Klip, A. (2018). The cell biology of systemic insulin function. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *217*(7):2273-2289. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201802095
- Tolhurst, G., Heffron, H., Lam, Y. S., Parker, H. E., Habib, A. M., Diakogiannaki, E., Cameron, J., Grosse, J., Reimann, F., & Gribble, F. M. (2012). Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. *Diabetes*, 61(2), 364–371. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-1019
- Trasande, L., Blustein, J., Liu, M., Corwin, E., Cox, L. M., & Blaser, M. J. (2013). Infant antibiotic exposures and early-life body mass. *International Journal of Obesity*, 37(1), 16– 23. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2012.132
- Tritschler, S., Theis, F. J., Lickert, H., & Böttcher, A. (2017). Systematic single-cell analysis provides new insights into heterogeneity and plasticity of the pancreas. *Molecular Metabolism*, 6(9), 974–990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2017.06.021
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Mahowald, M. A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E. R., & Gordon, J. I.(2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest.

Nature, 444(7122), 1027-1031. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05414

- Underwood, M. A., Mukhopadhyay, S., Lakshminrusimha, S., & Bevins, C. L. (2020). Neonatal intestinal dysbiosis. *Journal of Perinatology*, 40(11), 1597–1608. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41372-020-00829-2
- Van Den Berg, C., De Neeling, A. J., Schot, C. S., Hustinx, W. N. M., Wemer, J., & De Wildt, D. J. (1992). Delayed antibiotic-induced lysis of escherichia coli in vitro is correlated with enhancement of LPS release. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 24(5), 619–627. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365549209054648
- Vangay, P., Ward, T., Gerber, J. S., & Knights, D. (2015). Antibiotics, pediatric dysbiosis, and disease. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 17(5), 553–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.006
- Venegas, D. P., De La Fuente, M. K., Landskron, G., González, M. J., Quera, R., Dijkstra, G., Harmsen, H. J. M., Faber, K. N., & Hermoso, M. A. (2019). Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs)mediated gut epithelial and immune regulation and its relevance for inflammatory bowel diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *11*;10:277. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00277
- Vrieze, A., Out, C., Fuentes, S., Jonker, L., Reuling, I., Kootte, R. S., Van Nood, E., Holleman, F., Knaapen, M., Romijn, J. A., Soeters, M. R., Blaak, E. E., Dallinga-Thie, G. M., Reijnders, D., Ackermans, M. T., Serlie, M. J., Knop, F. K., Holst, J. J., Van Der Ley, C., ... Nieuwdorp, M. (2014). Impact of oral vancomycin on gut microbiota, bile acid metabolism, and insulin sensitivity. *Journal of Hepatology*, *60*(4), 824–831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2013.11.034

- Wan, S., Guo, M., Zhang, T., Chen, Q., Wu, M., Teng, F., Long, Y., Jiang, Z., & Xu, Y. (2020).
 Impact of Exposure to Antibiotics During Pregnancy and Infancy on Childhood Obesity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Obesity*, 28(4), 793–802.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22747
- Wang, H., Lu, Y., Yan, Y., Tian, S., Zheng, D., Leng, D., Wang, C., Jiao, J., Wang, Z., & Bai, Y. (2020). Promising Treatment for Type 2 Diabetes: Fecal Microbiota Transplantation
 Reverses Insulin Resistance and Impaired Islets. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 9(January):455. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2019.00455
- Wang, J., Qin, J., Li, Y., Cai, Z., Li, S., Zhu, J., Zhang, F., Liang, S., Zhang, W., Guan, Y., Shen,
 D., Peng, Y., Zhang, D., Jie, Z., Wu, W., Qin, Y., Xue, W., Li, J., Han, L., ... Wang, J.
 (2012). A metagenome-wide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes. *Nature*,
 490(7418), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11450
- Wang, X., Sterr, M., Ansarullah, Burtscher, I., Böttcher, A., Beckenbauer, J., Siehler, J.,
 Meitinger, T., Häring, H. U., Staiger, H., Cernilogar, F. M., Schotta, G., Irmler, M.,
 Beckers, J., Wright, C. V. E., Bakhti, M., & Lickert, H. (2019). Point mutations in the
 PDX1 transactivation domain impair human β-cell development and function. *Molecular Metabolism*, 24(March), 80–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2019.03.006
- Weinreich, S. S., Bosma, A., Henneman, L., Rigter, T., Spruijt, C. M. J., Grimbergen, A. J. E. M. A., Breuning, M. H., De Koning, E. J. P., Losekoot, M., & Cornel, M. C. (2015). A decade of molecular genetic testing for MODY: A retrospective study of utilization in The Netherlands. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 23(1), 29–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2014.59
- Weir, G. C. (2020). Glucolipotoxicity, β-cells, and diabetes: The emperor has no clothes. *Diabetes*, 69(3), 273–278. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-0138
- Weir, G. C., & Bonner-Weir, S. (2013). Islet β cell mass in diabetes and how it relates to function, birth, and death. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1281*(1), 92–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12031
- Weir, G. C., Gaglia, J., & Bonner-Weir, S. (2020). Inadequate β-cell mass is essential for the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 8(3), 249–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30022-X
- Wherrett, D. K., & Ho, J. (2018). 2018 Clinical Practice Guidelines Type 1 Diabetes in Children and Adolescents Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, 42, S234–S246. https:// 10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.036.
- White, M. G., Shaw, J. A. M., & Taylor, R. (2016). Type 2 diabetes: The pathologic basis of reversible β-cell dysfunction. *Diabetes Care*, 39(11), 2080–2088. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-0619
- Willing, B. P., Russell, S. L., & Finlay, B. B. (2011). Shifting the balance: Antibiotic effects on host-microbiota mutualism. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(4), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2536
- Witka, B. Z., Oktaviani, D. J., Marcellino, M., Barliana, M. I., & Abdulah, R. (2019). Type 2 diabetes-associated genetic polymorphisms as potential disease predictors. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy*, *12*, 2689–2706. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S230061
- Wortham, M., & Sander, M. (2016). Mechanisms of β-cell functional adaptation to changes in

workload. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 18*(May), 78–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12729

- Wortham, M., & Sander, M. (2017). Mechanisms of beta-cell functional adaptation to changes in workload. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 18(Suppl 1): 78–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12729.
- Wu, H., Tremaroli, V., Schmidt, C., Lundqvist, A., Olsson, L. M., Krämer, M., Gummesson, A.,
 Perkins, R., Bergström, G., & Bäckhed, F. (2020a). The Gut Microbiota in Prediabetes and
 Diabetes: A Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study. *Cell Metabolism*, *32*(3), 379-390.e3.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.06.011
- Wu, H., Zhang, G., Ross, C. R., & Blecha, F. (1999b). Cathelicidin gene expression in porcine tissues: Roles in ontogeny and tissue specificity. *Infection and Immunity*, 67(1), 439–442. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.67.1.439-442.1999
- Xue, A., Wu, Y., Zhu, Z., Zhang, F., Kemper, K. E., Zheng, Z., Yengo, L., Lloyd-Jones, L. R., Sidorenko, J., Wu, Y., Agbessi, M., Ahsan, H., Alves, I., Andiappan, A., Awadalla, P., Battle, A., Beutner, F., Bonder, M. J. J., Boomsma, D., ... Yang, J. (2018). Genome-wide association analyses identify 143 risk variants and putative regulatory mechanisms for type 2 diabetes. *Nature Communications*, 9(1):2941. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04951w
- Yang, J., Wang, C., & Guan, Y. (2010). Cytokines in the progression of pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2010: 515136. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/515136
- Yassour, M., Lim, M. Y., Yun, H. S., Tickle, T. L., Sung, J., Song, Y. M., Lee, K., Franzosa, E. A., Morgan, X. C., Gevers, D., Lander, E. S., Xavier, R. J., Birren, B. W., Ko, G. P., &

Huttenhower, C. (2016). Sub-clinical detection of gut microbial biomarkers of obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Genome Medicine*, 8(1):17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0271-6

- Yassour, M., Vatanen, T., Siljander, H., Hämäläinen, A. M., Härkönen, T., Ryhänen, S. J.,
 Franzosa, E. A., Vlamakis, H., Huttenhower, C., Gevers, D., Lander, E. S., Knip, M., &
 Xavier, R. J. (2016). Natural history of the infant gut microbiome and impact of antibiotic
 treatment on bacterial strain diversity and stability. *Science Translational Medicine*, 8(343).
 https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aad0917
- Zeissig, S., & Blumberg, R. S. (2014). Life at the beginning: Perturbation of the microbiota by antibiotics in early life and its role in health and disease. *Nature Immunology*, 15(4), 307– 310. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2847
- Zeitler, P., Zeitler, P., Hirst, K., Pyle, L., Linder, B., Copeland, K., Arslanian, S., Cuttler., L., Nathan, D.M., Tollefsen, S., Wilfley, D., Kaufman, F.(2012). A clinical trial to maintain glycemic control in youth with type 2 diabetes. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. 366 (24):327-336. https://10.1056/NEJMoa1109333.
- Zeng, C., Mulas, F., Sui, Y., Guan, T., Miller, N., Tan, Y., Liu, F., Jin, W., Carrano, A. C.,
 Huising, M. O., Shirihai, O. S., Yeo, G. W., & Sander, M. (2017). Pseudotemporal Ordering
 of Single Cells Reveals Metabolic Control of Postnatal β Cell Proliferation. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(5):1160-1175.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.014
- Zhang, Q., & Cao, X. (2019a). Epigenetic regulation of the innate immune response to infection. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *19*(7): 417–432. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0151-6
- Zhang, X., Shen, D., Fang, Z., Jie, Z., Qiu, X., Zhang, C., Chen, Y., & Ji, L. (2013). Human Gut Microbiota Changes Reveal the Progression of Glucose Intolerance. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8):

e71108. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071108

- Zheng, Y., Ley, S. H., & Hu, F. B. (2018). Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 14(2): 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.151
- Zhong, F., & Jiang, Y. (2019). Endogenous pancreatic β cell regeneration: A potential strategy for the recovery of β cell deficiency in diabetes. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 10(FEB), 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00101
- Zhong, H., Penders, J., Shi, Z., Ren, H., Cai, K., Fang, C., Ding, Q., Thijs, C., Blaak, E. E.,
 Stehouwer, C. D. A., Xu, X., Yang, H., Wang, J., Wang, J., Jonkers, D. M. A. E., Masclee,
 A. A. M., Brix, S., Li, J., Arts, I. C. W., & Kristiansen, K. (2019). Impact of early events
 and lifestyle on the gut microbiota and metabolic phenotypes in young school-age children. *Microbiome*, 7(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0608-z
- Zhou, F., Gilbert, E.R., & Liu, D. (2013). Regulation of inslulin sinthesis and secretion and pancreatic beta-cell dysfunciton in dia. *Curr Diabetes Rev*, 9(1), 25–53. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3624763/pdf/nihms412728.pdf
- Zhu, T., & Goodarzi, M. O. (2020). Metabolites Linking the Gut Microbiome with Risk for Type
 2 Diabetes. *Current Nutrition Reports*, 9(2), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-020-00307-3